
CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA            

January 20, 2009 
 
 
6:30 PM 
 
BUSINESS MEETING 
 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Roll Call  
 
Electronic Attendance  
 
CONSENT AGENDA: 
 
Items listed on the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine in nature and will be enacted 

by one motion. No separate discussion of these items will occur unless a Council Member 

requests the item to be removed from the Consent Agenda. If an item is removed from the 

Consent Agenda, it will be considered elsewhere on the agenda for this meeting.  Prior to 

asking for a motion to approve the Consent Agenda, the mayor will ask if anyone desires to 

remove an item from the Consent Agenda for public discussion. 

 
Minutes of the Regular meeting January 6, 2009 
 
Police Department report for the month of December, 2008; and December 2008 Financial 
reports  
 
Payroll and Bills for the first half of January, 2009 
 
PRESENTATIONS, PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS 
 
This portion of the City Council meeting is reserved for persons who desire to address the 

Council. The Illinois Open Meetings Act mandates that the City Council may NOT take action 

on comments received on matters that have not been identified on this agenda, but the Council 

may direct staff to address the topic or refer the matter for action on the agenda for another 

meeting. Persons addressing the Council are requested to limit their presentations to three 

minutes and to avoid repetitious comments. 

 

PUBLIC PRESENTATION: Mattoon Middle School Reading Group Presentation of Read 
Across Mattoon – Rules by Cynthia Lord. 

 
PUBLIC PRESENTATION: Recognition of 10 years of service with the Mattoon Arts 

Council to Tom LeVeck. 
 

NEW BUSINESS: 
 
Motion –Approve Council Decision Request 2009-930: Accepting two quotes from Dean 

Drainage for replacement of two culverts on West Lake Paradise Road. 
(McKenzie) 



  

 
Motion –Adopt Resolution 2009-2764: Accepting a grant from the Illinois Housing 

Development Authority’s Energy Efficient Residential Retrofit Program; and 
authorizing the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the document. (Cline) 

 
Motion –Adopt Resolution 2009-2765: Authorizing the city attorney to initiate proceedings 

in the circuit court seeking a court order directing the owners of real estate to 
abate a dangerous building and nuisance condition at 612 Wabash Avenue. 
(Cline) 

 
Motion –Approve Council Decision Request 2009-931: Approving a $23,000 Tourism 

Grant with $17,000 to Mattoon Pride Softball, Inc. for hosting five 2009 softball 
tournaments and $6,000 to Mattoon Parks Department for field preparation of 
the events. (Ervin) 

 
Motion –Approve Council Decision Request 2009-932: Accepting the recommendation of 

the TIF and BD Incentive Review Committee for Thomas Rogers Jr. and 
Barbara J. Rogers, owners of a building located at 1406 Broadway, by granting a 
subsidy of $5,400 from Mid-town TIF funds upon satisfactory completion of a 
roof replacement project. (Schilling) 

 
Motion –Approve Council Decision Request 2009-933: Accepting the recommendations of 

the TIF Incentive Review Committee subject to availability of Mid-town TIF 
funds for: 

 
1.         Bernard H. deBuhr Jr. dba: deBuhr’s Seed & Feed Inc., 2001 Western 
Avenue, an    annual subsidy grant of $2,818.58 disbursed over a term of 5 years 
for façade improvements; and, 

 
2.     Joseph A. Gillette dba; Commercial Refrigeration of Central Illinois, Inc., 
720 N. 33rd Street, an annual subsidy grant of $5,396.10 disbursed over a term of 
10 years for façade restoration and interior renovations. (Schilling) 
 

Motion – Adopt Ordinance 2009-5267: Approving redevelopment agreement between the 
City of Mattoon and Coles Centre Hospitality, LLC. (Cline) 

 
Motion – Adopt Ordinance 2009-5268: Approving agreement with IDOT concerning the 

Coles Centre LLC required intersection upgrades based on increase ADT 
(average daily traffic) generated by Coles Centre projects. (McKenzie) 

 
Motion – Adopt Ordinance 2009-5269: Prohibiting parking along IDOT Route 16 to Lerna 

Road and Lerna Road to Thomason Drive. (McKenzie) 
 
Motion – Adopt Ordinance 2009-5270:  Prohibiting the discharge of sanitary sewage and 

industrial waste water into the storm sewer or drainage facility constructed along 
Route 16 and Lerna Road.  (Hall) 

 
Motion – Adopt Ordinance 2009-5271: Regulating encroachment on public right of way 

along Route 16 and Lerna Road.  (McKenzie) 
 



  

Motion – Adopt Ordinance 2009-5272: Approving redevelopment agreement between the 
City of Mattoon and Coles Centre, LLC. (Cline) 

 
Motion – Adopt Special Ordinance 2009-1315: Vacating the Coles Centre Plat. (Cline) 
 
Motion – Adopt Special Ordinance 2009-1316: Approving the Final Plat of Coles Centre. 

(Cline) 
 
Motion – Adopt Ordinance 2009-5273: Amending Section 33.065 of the Code of Ordinances 

to update the rules and regulations of the Arts Council. (Ervin) 
 
Recess to closed session pursuant to the Illinois Open Meetings Act for the purpose of 
discussion of minutes of meeting lawfully closed for purposes of the semi-annual review as 
mandated by Section 2.06 (5 ILCS 120(2)(c)(21)). (Cline) 
 
Reconvene 
 
Motion – Approve Council Decision Request 2009-934: Authorizing release of minutes 

appropriate for disclosure from meetings in closed sessions of the City Council 
and destruction of disclosed executive session minute audio recordings through 
June 2007. (Cline) 

 
Adjourn 



  

UNAPPROVED MINUTES: 
 

January 6, 2009 (Regular) 
 Mayor Cline called the work study caucus session to order at 6:27 p.m. in the City Hall 
Council Chambers on January 6, 2009.  The following Council members physically attended:  
Mayor Cline, Commissioners Randy Ervin, Rick Hall, Joe McKenzie, and David Schilling. 
 
 Also physically present were City personnel:  City Administrator Alan Gilmore, Attorney 
& Treasurer J. Preston Owen, Public Works Director David Wortman, Water Treatment Plant 
Superintendent Jim Lang, Police Chief David Griffith, Fire Chief Mike Chism, Community 
Development Coordinator Kyle Gill, and City Clerk Susan O’Brien. 
 
 Administrator Gilmore reviewed the pending agenda items with discussion emphasizing 
on the bar screens, wrestling club, atrazine litigation, and hotel/motel tax collection and uses.  
 
 Mayor Cline called the regular meeting of the City Council to order at 7:02 p.m. in the 
Council Chambers at City Hall on January 6, 2009. 
 
 Mayor Cline presiding. 
 
 Mayor Cline led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
 The following members of the Council answered roll call physically present: YEA 
Commissioner Randy Ervin, YEA Commissioner Rick Hall, YEA Commissioner Joe McKenzie, 
YEA Commissioner David Schilling, YEA Mayor David Cline. 

 

 Also physically present were City personnel:  City Administrator Alan Gilmore, Attorney 
& Treasurer J. Preston Owen, Public Works Director David Wortman, Water Treatment Plant 
Superintendent Jim Lang, Police Chief David Griffith, Fire Chief Mike Chism, Community 
Development Coordinator Kyle Gill, and City Clerk Susan O’Brien. 
 
 Mayor Cline seconded by Commissioner Schilling moved to approve the consent agenda 
consisting of minutes of the regular meeting December 16, 2008 and special meeting December 
23, 2008; Police Department report for the month of November, 2008; Fire Department report 
for the month of December, 2009; and Fire Department 2008 annual summary report.  
 

  Bills and payroll for the last  half of December 2008 

        
  General Fund      
Payroll         $      255,372.01  

Bills         $      292,976.04  

      Total   $      548,348.05  

  Hotel Tax Fund      

Payroll         $         1,758.08  

Bills         $         3,280.94  
      Total   $         5,039.02  
  Festival Management     

Bills        $            506.03  
      Total  $            506.03  



  

  
Insurance & Tort 
Judgment    

Bills         $         5,327.00  
      Total   $         5,327.00  
        
  Water Fund     
Payroll         $        32,730.14  

Bills         $        76,031.32  
      Total   $      108,761.46  

  Sewer Fund     

Payroll         $        28,540.65  

Bills         $      365,325.13  

      Total   $      393,865.78  

        

        
  Cemetery Fund      
Payroll         $         3,540.93  

Bills         $            281.32  
      Total   $         3,540.93  
        
  Motor Fuel Tax Fund    

Bills         $         8,289.30  
      Total   $         8,289.30  
  Revolving Loan Fund     

Bills         $         1,100.00  
        $         1,100.00  
  Health Insurance      

Bills         $        67,459.54  
      Total   $        67,459.54  

 
 Mayor Cline declared the motion to approve the consent agenda carried by the following 
vote:  YEA Commissioner Ervin, YEA Commissioner Hall, YEA Commissioner McKenzie, 
YEA Commissioner Schilling, YEA Mayor Cline.  
 
 Mayor Cline opened the floor for presentations, petitions and communications. There was 
no public discussion.  
  
 Commissioner McKenzie seconded by Commissioner Ervin moved to adopt Council 
Decision Request 2009-925, appropriating $320,130 of motor fuel tax funds for street 
maintenance uses for the calendar year 2009; approving the bid specifications for Seal Coat, 
Rock & Asphalt for street maintenance uses; and authorizing the mayor to sign the document.  
 
 Mayor Cline opened the floor for questions or comments.  No questions or comments.  
 
 Mayor Cline declared the motion carried by the following vote:  YEA Commissioner 
Ervin, YEA Commissioner Hall,  
YEA Commissioner McKenzie, YEA Commissioner Schilling, YEA Mayor Cline.  
 
 Commissioner McKenzie seconded by Commissioner Schilling moved to adopt 
Resolution 2009-2762, appropriating $330,000 of MFT funds for the 2009 Street Maintenance 
uses.  [09-00000-00-GM]  



  

 

 
     RESOLUTION 2009-2762 

 

  
Resolution for Maintenance of 
Streets and Highways by Municipality 

Under the Illinois Highway Code 

 
     BE IT RESOLVED, by Council of the 
 (Council or President  and Board of Trustees) 
City  of Mattoon , Illinois, that there is hereby 

(City, Town or Village)  (Name)  
appropriated the sum $330,000.00 of Motor Fuel Tax funds for the purpose of maintaining 
 
streets and highways under the applicable provisions of the Illinois Highway January 1, 2009  
                                                                                                                                                                                     
to  December 31, 2009 . 
 (Date)  
 

     BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that only those streets, highways, and operations as listed 
and described on the approved Municipal Estimate of Maintenance Costs, including 
supplemental or revised estimates approved in connection with this resolution, are eligible for 
maintenance with Motor Fuel Tax funds during the period as specified above. 
 
     BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk shall, as soon a practicable after the close of 
the period as given above, submit to the Department of Transportation, on forms furnished by 
said Department , a certified statement showing expenditures from and balances remaining in the 
account(s) for this period; and 
 
     BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk shall immediately transmit two certified copies 
of this 
resolution to the district office of the Department of Effingham , Illinois. 

 

 
I,  Susan J, OBrien Clerk in and for City  
   (City, Town or 
of Mattoon , County of  Coles 
 
hereby certify the foregoing to be a true, perfect and complete copy of a resolution adopted by  
 
the Council at a meeting 

on  
January 6, 2009 

 (Council or President and Board of Trustees)  Date 
    
 
     IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and 
seal this 

6th day of  January, 2009 . 

     
 
 
(SEAL) Susan J. O’Brien   City of Mattoon  City Clerk 

   (City, Town or  
 

 Authorized MFT  
   



  

   
 Date  
 Department of Transportation  
   
   
 Regional Engineer  

 

 
 Mayor Cline opened the floor for questions or comments.   No questions or comments.  
 
 Mayor Cline declared the motion carried by the following vote:  YEA Commissioner 
Ervin, YEA Commissioner Hall, YEA Commissioner McKenzie, YEA Commissioner Schilling, 
YEA Mayor Cline.  
 
 Commissioner Ervin seconded by Commissioner Hall moved to approve Council 
Decision Request 2009-926, approving a $3,000 grant from Hotel/Motel Tax receipts to the 
Mattoon Wrestling Club for hosting the Mattoon Kids Open on January 4, 2009. 
 
 Mayor Cline opened the floor for questions or comments.  No questions or comments.  
 
 Mayor Cline declared the motion carried by the following vote:  YEA Commissioner 
Ervin, YEA Commissioner Hall, YEA Commissioner McKenzie, YEA Commissioner Schilling, 
YEA Mayor Cline.  
 
 Commissioner Schilling seconded by Commissioner Hall moved to approve Council 
Decision Request 2009-927, accepting a proposal from West & Company, L.L. C. for auditing 
services in connection with the April 30, 2009 financial statements in the amount of $47,900; 
and authorizing the Finance Commissioner and City Treasurer to sign the letter of understanding. 
 
 Mayor Cline opened the floor for questions and comments.  Mr. Herb Meeker inquired 
about increases for the services with Attorney & Treasurer Owen stating no increase in fees.   
Commissioner Schilling inquired about a one-year proposal with Attorney & Treasurer Owen 
noting a one-year proposal and the next council to consider a potential four-year proposal.  
 
 Mayor Cline declared the motion carried by the following vote:  YEA Commissioner 
Ervin, YEA Commissioner Hall, YEA Commissioner McKenzie, YEA Commissioner Schilling, 
YEA Mayor Cline.  
 
 Commissioner Hall seconded by Commissioner McKenzie moved to approve Council 
Decision Request 2009-928, approving an emergency contract with Parkson Corporation for 
rebuilding and upgrading the bar screens at the Wastewater Treatment Plant.  
 
 Mayor Cline opened the floor for questions or comments.  No questions or comments.  
 
 Mayor Cline declared the motion carried by the following vote:  YEA Commissioner 
Ervin, YEA Commissioner Hall, YEA Commissioner McKenzie, YEA Commissioner Schilling, 
YEA Mayor Cline.  
 
 Ordinance 2009-5265, amending public works procurement procedures to allow the local 
purchasing preference on competitive bidding, was not considered due to lack of motion. 
 



  

 Mayor Cline seconded by Commissioner Ervin moved to adopt Ordinance 2009-5266, 
approving an amendment to the meeting procedures of the Mattoon City Council.  
 

 
CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2009-5266 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE MEETING PROCEDURES OF THE MATTOON 

CITY COUNCIL.  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Mattoon, Coles County, Illinois, has in its Code of Ordinances  
procedures for the meeting of the Mattoon City Council, and; 
 
WHEREAS, the current City of Mattoon Code of Ordinances currently uses the word “caucus” 
in describing the first order of business to be undertaken at City Council Meetings, and; 
 
WHEREAS, The City Council believes the word “caucus” is inappropriate and desires strike 
that word from the ordinance and simply begin the City Council meetings at 6:30 p.m. on the 
first and third Tuesday of each month.   
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF 
MATTOON, COLES COUNTY, ILLINOIS as follows: 
 
Section 1.  Recitals.  The facts and statements contained in the preamble to this Ordinance are 
found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Ordinance. 
 
Section 2.  Amendments.  Section 32.02 of Chapter 32 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 
Mattoon are hereby repealed. Section 32.02 of Chapter 32 is reenacted as follows: 

(A) All regular meetings of the City Council shall be held on the first and third Tuesday of 
each month.  All regular meetings of the City Council shall convene at 6:30 p.m. 

Section 3. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its approval, passage, 
and publication. 
 
Upon motion by Mayor Cline, seconded by Commissioner Ervin, adopted this 6th day of 
January, 2009, by a roll call vote, as follows: 
 
AYES (Names):   Commissioner Ervin, Commissioner Hall,  
   Commissioner McKenzie, Commissioner Schilling,  
   Mayor Cline 
NAY  (Names):  None 
ABSENT (Names): None 
    
Approved this 6th day of January, 2009. 
 
 
      /s/ David W. Cline  
      David W. Cline, Mayor 



  

      City of Mattoon, Coles County, Illinois  
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
/s/ Susan J. O’Brien    /s/ J. Preston Owen 

Susan J. O’Brien, City Clerk    J. Preston Owen, City Attorney 
 
Recorded in the Municipality’s Records on  January 7, 2009. 
 
 Mayor Cline opened the floor for questions or comments.  No questions or comments.  
 
 Mayor Cline declared the motion carried by the following vote:  YEA Commissioner 
Ervin, YEA Commissioner Hall, YEA Commissioner McKenzie, YEA Commissioner Schilling, 
YEA Mayor Cline.  
 
 Commissioner Schilling seconded by Commissioner McKenzie moved to approve 
Council Decision Request 2009-929, approving amendments to the budget for the fiscal year 
ending April 30, 2009.  
 
 Mayor Cline opened the floor for questions or comments.  Attorney & Treasurer Owen 
stated the amendments were moving funds from one line item to another without affecting the 
bottom-line budget.  
 
 Mayor Cline declared the motion carried by the following vote:  YEA Commissioner 
Ervin, YEA Commissioner Hall, YEA Commissioner McKenzie, YEA Commissioner Schilling, 
YEA Mayor Cline.  
 
 Commissioner Hall seconded by Commissioner Schilling moved to adopt Resolution 
2009-2763, approving the plans and specificiation, and authorizing the call for bids for the 
restoration of the historic Illinois Central Depot.  
 

 
CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 

 
RESOLUTION 2009-2763 

 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS AND 

AUTHORIZING THE CALL FOR BIDS FOR THE RESTORATION OF THE 
HISTORIC ILLINOIS CENTRAL DEPOT 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Mattoon is committed to renovation and redevelopment of the 
community’s intermodal transportation sector, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mattoon Depot provides rail access to an estimated 30,000 Amtrak passengers 
annually, and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has previously engaged the services of the Architectural Consulting firm 
of Hance-Utz & Associates Inc. to develop plans and specifications for renovation of the Historic 
Illinois Central Depot, and 



  

 
WHEREAS, the City relies upon the Architect for technical assistance and expert advice in 
regard to drafting, advertising for bids, construction management, standards for bid  proposals, 
approval of pay requests, and other matters relating to the completion of the Depot Restoration 
project, and 
 
WHEREAS, Hance-Utz & Associates has advised the City to request authorization from the 
Illinois Department of Transportation to hold a Local Letting to receive sealed bid proposals and 
to waive pre-qualification standards for bidders submitting proposals for the renovation of the 
Historic Illinois Central Depot, and 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF 
MATTOON, COLES COUNTY, ILLINOIS,  
 
1. The Mattoon City Council hereby approves the Mattoon Depot Restoration plans and 
specifications provided by its architect Hance-Utz Associates subject to any further reviews and 
approvals within the jurisdiction of any State for Federal Agencies. 
 
2. Hance-Utz & Associates serving as the City’s Architect and construction manager are hereby 
authorized to prepare bid notices on behalf of the City of Mattoon for the Depot Renovation 
project. 
 
3. Hance-Utz & Associates is further authorized to coordinate a Pre-Bid Conference and shall 
prepare and distribute any additions, amendments or addendums to all bidders requesting plan 
sets as necessary to move forward with this endeavor. 
 
4. Hance-Utz & Associates shall establish a bid opening date and time to be conducted in 
accordance with Illinois Department of Transportation bidding standards and regulations.   
 
5. The Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized to execute any and all documents necessary 
to complete the bidding process. 
 
Upon motion by Commissioner Hall seconded by Commissioner Schilling, adopted this 6th day 
of January  , 2009, by a roll call vote, as follows: 
 
AYES (Names):   Commissioner Ervin, Commissioner Hall  
   Commissioner McKenzie, Commissioner Schilling  
   Mayor Cline  
NAYS (Names):  None 
ABSENT (Names): None  
    
Approved this 6th day of January, 2009.  
 
      /s/ David W. Cline 
      David W. Cline, Mayor 
      City of Mattoon, Coles County, Illinois  
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
/s/ Susan J. O’Brien    /s/ J. Preston Owen 
Susan J. O’Brien, City Clerk    J. Preston Owen, City Attorney 



  

 
Recorded in the Municipality’s Records on  January 7, 2009. 

 
 Mayor Cline opened the floor for questions or comments.  No questions or comments.  
 
 Mayor Cline declared the motion carried by the following vote:  YEA Commissioner 
Ervin, YEA Commissioner Hall, YEA Commissioner McKenzie, YEA Commissioner Schilling, 
YEA Mayor Cline.  
 
 Mayor Cline seconded by Commissioner McKenzie moved to adopt Special Ordinance 
2009-1314, authorizing the City of Mattoon to file suit against the makers of atrazine for the 
pollution caused by atrazine. 
 

 
CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 

 
SPECIAL ORDINANCE NO. 2009-1314  

 
A SPECIAL ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE CITY TO FILE SUIT AGAINST THE 

MAKERS OF ATRAZINE FOR THE POLLUTION CAUSED BY ATRAZINE  
 
WHEREAS, there is currently litigation underway in Illinois against the makers of Atrazine for 
the pollution caused by Atrazine, and; 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Mattoon has and continues to experience the occurrence of Atrazine in 
its water supply, and; 
 
WHEREAS, the City believes that it has and will continue to expend funds to limit or reduce the 
effect of Atrazine on its water sources and supplies, and; 
 
WHEREAS, the City believe it is appropriate to ask the makers of Atrazine to assume the 
responsibility for eliminating, reducing or minimizing the effects of Atrazine on the City’s water 
sources and supplies, and;  
 
WHEREAS, the City believes that it is being proactive in taking these steps to protect the water 
sources and supply for its citizens. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF 
MATTOON, COLES COUNTY, A MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, as follows:  
 
Section 1.   The facts and statements contained in the preamble to this Ordinance are found to be 
true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Special Ordinance. 
 
Section 2.  The Mayor and City Attorney & Treasurer are authorized and directed to take any 
steps necessary to file suit against the maker or makers of Atrazine or in the alternative to join 
any suit now pending in the State or Federal Courts of Illinois against any of the makers of 
Atrazine. 
 
Section 3.  The Mayor is authorized and directed to sign the “Legal Services Agreement,” 



  

attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and incorporated herein by this reference.   
 
Section 4. The Mayor and City Clerk are also authorized to do any act and sign any additional 
documents necessary to implement the intent of this Ordinance.     
 
Section 5. This ordinance shall be deemed published as of the day of its adoption and approval 
by the City Council. 
 
Upon motion by Mayor Cline, seconded by Commissioner McKenzie, adopted this 6th day of 
January 2009, by a roll call vote, as follows: 
 
AYES (Names):   Commissioner Ervin, Commissioner Hall,  
   Commissioner McKenzie, Commissioner Schilling  
   Mayor Cline 
NAYS (Names):  None 
ABSENT (Names): None 
      
Approved this 6th day of January, 2009. 
             
       /s/ David W. Cline    
       David W. Cline, Mayor 
       City of Mattoon, Coles County, Illinois  
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
/s/ Susan J. O’Brien     /s/ J. Preston Owen 
Susan J. O’Brien, City Clerk     J. Preston Owen, City Attorney 
 
Recorded in the Municipality’s Records on January 7, 2009.  
 
 Mayor Cline opened the floor for questions or comments.  Mr. Herb Meeker inquired as 
to the costs to file suit with Attorney & Treasurer Owen stating a contingent fee with no cost to 
the City.  
 
 Mayor Cline declared the motion carried by the following vote:  YEA Commissioner 
Ervin, YEA Commissioner Hall, YEA Commissioner McKenzie, YEA Commissioner Schilling, 
YEA Mayor Cline. 
 
 Commissioner Hall seconded by Commissioner Ervin moved to adjourn at 7:13 p.m. 
 
 Mayor Cline opened the floor for questions or comment.  No questions or comments.  
 
 Mayor Cline declared the motion carried by the following vote:  YEA Commissioner 
Ervin, YEA Commissioner Hall, YEA Commissioner McKenzie, YEA Commissioner Schilling, 
YEA Mayor Cline.  
 
 
        /s/ Susan J. O’Brien  
        City Clerk 



  

DEPARTMENT REPORTS: 
 
 
 
BEGINS ON NEXT PAGE 





  

FINANCE REPORTS: 
 
 
 
BEGINS ON NEXT PAGE 























































































  

BILLS & PAYROLL: 
 
 
BEGINS ON NEXT PAGE 

 
 



CITY OF MATTOON

1-9-09 PAYROLL

12-21-08/1-2-09

G/L ACCOUNT ACCOUNT NAME AMOUNT

CITY COUNCIL 110 5110-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 1,476.91

CITY CLERK 110 5120-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 3,876.98

110 5120-113 OVERTIME 28.08

110 5120-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 1,169.72

CITY ADMINISTRATOR 110 5130-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 2,611.45

110 5130-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 652.86

FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION 110 5150-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 1,015.83

110 5150-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 163.22

LEGAL SERVICES 110 5160-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 2,190.87

110 5160-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 253.32

COMPUTER INFO SYSTEMS 110 5170-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 2,146.17

110 5170-114 COMPENSATED ABSCENSES 1,663.90

PLANNING & ZONING 110 5180-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 847.33

110 5180-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 152.88

POLICE ADMINISTRATION 110 5211-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 12,355.11

CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION 110 5212-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 10,086.45

110 5212-113 OVERTIME 492.3

PATROL 110 5213-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 61,759.50

110 5213-113 OVERTIME 4,113.21

K-9 SERVICE 110 5214-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 2,132.89

POLICE RECORDS 110 5216-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 5,800.06

SCHOOL RESOURCE PROGRAM 110 5227-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 1,975.16

FIRE PROTECTION ADMIN 110 5241-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 69,469.08

110 5241-113 OVERTIME 2,859.62

110 5241-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 13,209.11

CODE ENFORCEMENT ADMIN 110 5261-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 4,159.15

110 5261-113 OVERTIME 28.09

110 5261-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 152.88

PUBLIC WORKS ADMIN 110 5310-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 4,447.51

110 5310-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 306.1

STREETS 110 5320-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 11,210.49

110 5320-113 OVERTIME 497.47

110 5320-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 6,018.73

YARD WASTE COLLECTION 110 5335-112 SALARIES OF TEMP EMPLOYEES 248

CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION 110 5370-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 1,540.11

110 5370-112 SALARIES OF TEMP. EMPLOYEES 1,045.63

110 5370-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 774.75

CUSTODIAL SERVICES 110 5381-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 1,488.85

110 5381-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 972.3

EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 110 5390-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 1,148.55

110 5390-113 OVERTIME 280.13

110 5390-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 571.68

PARK ADMINISTRATION 110 5511-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 7,136.84

110 5511-112 SALARIES OF TEMP EMPLOYEES 668

110 5511-113 OVERTIME 795.14



CITY OF MATTOON

1-9-09 PAYROLL

12-21-08/1-2-09

LAKE ADMINISTRATION 110 5512-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 1,780.43

110 5512-113 OVERTIME 253

110 5512-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 168.66

*** FUND 110 TOTALS *** 248,194.50

HOTEL TAX ADMINISTRATION 122 5653-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 1,456.27

122 5653-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 161.81

*** FUND 122 TOTALS *** 1,618.08

RESERVOIRS & WATER SOURCES 211 5351-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 78.95

WATER TREATMENT PLANT 211 5353-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 10,634.30

211 5353-113 OVERTIME 1,661.80

211 5353-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 3,693.69

WATER DISTRIBUTION 211 5354-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 4,135.98

211 5354-113 OVERTIME 1,313.61

211 5354-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 6,650.31

ACCOUNTING & COLLECTION 211 5355-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 3,566.16

211 5355-113 OVERTIME 10.05

211 5355-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 203.8

ADMINISTRATIVE & GENERAL 211 5356-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 3,403.32

211 5356-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 698.38

*** FUND 211 TOTALS *** 36,050.35

SANITARY SWR MTCE & CLEAN 212 5342-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 5,982.82

212 5342-113 OVERTIME 347.15

212 5342-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 7,567.59

WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT 212 5344-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 10,446.81

212 5344-113 OVERTIME 961.05

212 5344-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 2,693.65

ACCOUNTING & COLLECTION 212 5345-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 3,566.18

212 5345-113 OVERTIME 10.06

212 5345-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 203.81

ADMINISTRATIVE & GENERAL 212 5346-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 3,403.32

212 5346-114 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 698.43

*** FUND 212 TOTALS *** 35,880.87

MAINTENANCE & OPERATIONS 213 5361-111 SALARIES OF REG EMPLOYEES 2,941.93

213 5361-112 SALARIES OF TEMP EMPLOYEES 560

*** FUND 213 TOTALS *** 3,501.93

*** GRAND TOTALS *** 325,245.73



CITY OF MATTOON

1-9-09 PAYROLL

12-21-08/1-2-09

*** PAY CODE TOTALS ***

PAY CODE NO OF TIMES              HOURS AMOUNT

REGULAR PAY 15 1,187.00 24,032.79

HOLIDAY PAY-REGULAR 24 691.72 15,370.93

SALARY PAY 29 10,873.47 237,738.65

VACATION PAY 27 804 19,707.39

VACATION PAY 8 408 8,556.19

OVERTIME PAY 29 399.25 13,452.61

SHIFT PAY 168 168 117.6

HOLIDAY PAY-OT 3 88 2,886.96

PEHP 23 23 437.5

SICK PAY-AFSCME 2 13 291.02

SICK-FD UNION 4 69.5 1,363.82

SHIFT PAY 1 236 141.6

COMP EARNED 31.5 31.5 0

BURIAL PAY 1 4 268

SICK-NON UNION 4 24.75 682.52

STRAIGHT OT POLICE 8 8 198.15



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:     1

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 110  GENERAL FUND

DEPARTMENT: 110  CITY COUNCIL

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-000871 RANDY ERVIN            I-200901138822       110 5110-533        CELLULAR PHON: JANUARY 09 CELL PHON 096711          50.00

 

01-001104 JOE MCKENZIE           I-200901138821       110 5110-533        CELLULAR PHON: JANUARY 09 CELL PHON 096753          50.00

 

01-040490 DAVID SCHILLING        I-200901138825       110 5110-533        CELLULAR PHON: JANUARY 09 CELL PHON 096772          50.00

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 110   CITY COUNCIL             TOTAL:         150.00

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-000316 SUSAN O'BRIEN          I-200901138780       110 5120-562        TRAVEL & TRAI: TRAVEL 1/5/09        096764          69.86

 

01-021348 CENTRAL IL NEWSPAPER   I-10560403           110 5120-519        OTHER PROFESS: NOTICE FOR 2008 TAX  096685         379.50

01-021348 CENTRAL IL NEWSPAPER   I-10566666           110 5120-540        ADVERTISING  : TREASURER'S REPORT   096685       1,811.50

 

01-024075 IL DEPT OF PUBLIC HEAL I-200901098717       110 5120-801        VITAL RECORDS: DECEMBER 08 VR FEES  096628         834.00

 

01-040555 JC SCHULTZ ENTERPRISES I-0000199160         110 5120-519        OTHER PROFESS: FLAGS                096731         377.40

 

01-043522 STAPLES CREDIT PLAN    I-63442              110 5120-311        OFFICE SUPPLI: OFFICE SUPPLIES      096665          26.74

 

01-049003 XEROX CORPORATION      I-037677996          110 5120-814        PRINT/COPY MA: COPIER URR-895482    096792         327.33

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 120   CITY CLERK               TOTAL:       3,826.33

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       110 5130-561        BUSINESS MEET: CHARLESTON CO CLUB   096616          28.24

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 130   CITY ADMINISTRATOR       TOTAL:          28.24

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-000482 COLES CO SUPERVISOR OF I-200901158884       110 5160-579        OTHER PURCHAS: PROPERTY OWNERSHIP L 096693          16.50

 

01-009800 COLES CO CLERK & RECOR I-1797               110 5160-579        OTHER PURCHAS: RECORD LIENS         096691         102.00

01-009800 COLES CO CLERK & RECOR I-1842               110 5160-579        OTHER PURCHAS: RELEASE LIENS        096691          34.00

01-009800 COLES CO CLERK & RECOR I-2100               110 5160-579        OTHER PURCHAS: RECORD LIENS         096691          68.00

 

01-019450 GOVERNMENT FINANCE     I-200901078711       110 5160-571        DUES & MEMBER: MEMBERSHIP OWEN      096618         185.00

 

01-022300 HOWARD'S TRASH         I-410322             110 5160-579        OTHER PURCHAS: TRASH 700 S 15TH     096725          20.00

01-022300 HOWARD'S TRASH         I-410340             110 5160-579        OTHER PURCHAS: TRASH 1513 SHELBY    096725          30.00

 

01-037951 J. PRESTON OWEN        I-200901138824       110 5160-565        CELLULAR TELE: JANUARY 09 CELL PHON 096765         100.00

 

01-047000 WEST PAYMENT CENTER    I-817455743          110 5160-340        BOOKS & PERIO: ON LINE RESEARCH 12/ 096791         428.58

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 160   LEGAL SERVICES           TOTAL:         984.08

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:     2

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 110  GENERAL FUND

DEPARTMENT: 170  COMPUTER INFO SYSTEMS

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       110 5170-340        BOOKS & PERIO: WINDOWS SECRETS      096616          20.00

 

01-005640 CDW GOVERNMENT         I-MTR8123            110 5170-852        NETWORK SECUR: CDW GOVERNMENT       096684         534.00

 

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901138795       110 5170-854        WIDE AREA NET: 101-5520             096696          88.07

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901138796       110 5170-854        WIDE AREA NET: 101-0937             096696          88.07

 

01-043522 STAPLES CREDIT PLAN    I-8408306001         110 5170-311        OFFICE SUPPLI: HW OFFICE SUPPLIES   096776         201.48

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 170   COMPUTER INFO SYSTEMS    TOTAL:         931.62

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-030056 LAKE LAND FLORALS      I-200901138779       110 5190-579        MISC OTHER PU: SCHILLING ARRANGEMEN 096739          50.00

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 190   COUNCIL CONTINGENCY      TOTAL:          50.00

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-005600 CATER-VEND             I-203743             110 5211-579        MISC OTHER PU: COFFEE,SUGAR,CREAM   096683         120.28

 

01-015410 EZ PARCEL & BUSINESS S I-56324              110 5211-531        POSTAGE      : SHIPPING             096713          10.94

 

01-020800 HAROLD'S CLEANERS      I-154899             110 5211-573        LAUNDRY SERVI: CLEAN BLANKETS       096722          20.00

 

01-035201 MID STATES ORGANIZED C I-200901138801       110 5211-571        DUE & MEMBERS: MEMBERSHIP-GRIFFITH  096756         200.00

 

01-038700 POLICE PENSION FUND    I-200901078709       110 5211-232        POLICE PENSIO: PROPERTY TAX DISTRIB 096620     193,544.43

 

01-049003 XEROX CORPORATION      I-037677979          110 5211-814        PRINT/COPY MA: COPIER UGK-462971    096792          88.08

01-049003 XEROX CORPORATION      I-037677980          110 5211-814        PRINT/COPY MA: COPIER RYU-424737    096792         105.21

01-049003 XEROX CORPORATION      I-037677981          110 5211-814        PRINT/COPY MA: COPIER RYU-424738    096792         143.34

01-049003 XEROX CORPORATION      I-037677982          110 5211-814        PRINT/COPY MA: COPIER GBP-234813    096792         371.11

01-049003 XEROX CORPORATION      I-037678013          110 5211-814        PRINT/COPY MA: COPIER YHT-189182    096792          33.96

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 211   POLICE ADMINISTRATION    TOTAL:     194,637.35

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-000054 BATTERY ZONE           I-SI068667           110 5212-319        MISCELLANEOUS: FLASHLIGHT BATTERY   096675          72.95

 

01-000610 LEXISNEXIS RISK & INFO I-1299801-20081231   110 5212-579        MISC OTHER PU: 12/08 SEARCHES       096741          30.00

 

01-002195 JOHNSON'S AUTOMOTIVE S I-IN00105244         110 5212-579        MISC OTHER PU: TOW FROM 1031 7TH    096732         119.00

 

01-039650 RADIOSHACK             I-191277             110 5212-319        MISCELLANEOUS: BATTERIES            096768          20.99

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 212   CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION   TOTAL:         242.94

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:     3

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 110  GENERAL FUND

DEPARTMENT: 213  PATROL

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-030021 L & S SAFETY           I-2009-0025          110 5213-319        MISCELLANEOUS: LATEX GLOVES         096737          25.20

 

01-037800 RAY O'HERRON CO        I-0834044-IN         110 5213-319        MISCELLANEOUS: TASER DIGITAL POWER  096769         389.35

01-037800 RAY O'HERRON CO        I-0834047-IN         110 5213-319        MISCELLANEOUS: PEPPER MACE          096769         103.50

01-037800 RAY O'HERRON CO        I-0835063-IN         110 5213-319        MISCELLANEOUS: POWER SUPPLY         096769         281.12

01-037800 RAY O'HERRON CO        I-0835117-IN         110 5213-319        MISCELLANEOUS: SIREN,SPEAKER        096769         520.42

01-037800 RAY O'HERRON CO        I-0835249-IN         110 5213-319        MISCELLANEOUS: PEPPER MACE          096769         769.17

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 213   PATROL                   TOTAL:       2,088.76

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-004400 BURGER KING            I-200901158845       110 5217-330        FOOD         : DEC 08 PRISONER MEAL 096680           6.58

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 217   CUSTODY OF PRISONERS     TOTAL:           6.58

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       110 5221-562        TRAVEL & TRAI: GOLDEN CORRAL        096616          30.00

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       110 5221-562        TRAVEL & TRAI: ORLANDO FLIGHTS      096616         332.11

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 221   POLICE TRAINING          TOTAL:         362.11

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901098722       110 5222-532        TELEPHONE    : 235-2677             096625       1,572.55

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901158844       110 5222-532        TELEPHONE    : 101-0983             096696         345.43

 

01-046600 WARNER'S OFFICE EQUIPM I-53299              110 5222-311        OFFICE SUPPLI: OFFICE SUPPLIES      096787          32.00

01-046600 WARNER'S OFFICE EQUIPM I-54136              110 5222-311        OFFICE SUPPLI: FILE FOLDERS         096787         160.00

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 222   COMMUNICATION SERVICES   TOTAL:       2,109.98

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-000550 ALEXANDERS AUTO PARTS  I-200901138791       110 5223-319        MISCELLANEOUS: BRAKE FLUID          096670           7.47

 

01-000779 GRAPHIC IMAGINATION, I I-28192              110 5223-742        VEHICLES     : REPAIR DRIVERS SIDE  096720         110.00

01-000779 GRAPHIC IMAGINATION, I I-28294              110 5223-742        VEHICLES     : SUPPLY REFLECTIVE DE 096720         643.95

 

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       110 5223-326        FUEL         : GAS                  096616          40.00

 

01-002958 BATTERY SPECIALISTS, I I-74064              110 5223-319        MISCELLANEOUS: BATTERY              096674          54.95

 

01-009075 CUSD #2 TRANSPORTATION I-380                110 5223-326        FUEL         : FUEL 12/1-31 POLICE  096701       3,759.10

 

01-013900 D-R AUTO BODY SHOP     I-200901138789       110 5223-439        OTHER REPAIR : REPAIR 2-L-11        096703         275.00

01-013900 D-R AUTO BODY SHOP     I-200901158846       110 5223-742        VEHICLES     : INSTALL STRIPE KIT   096703         275.00

 

01-017403 FIRST MID-IL BANK & TR I-200901098720       110 5223-742        VEHICLES     : TRUCKS LOAN #2700714 096627      11,867.80

 



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:     4

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 110  GENERAL FUND

DEPARTMENT: 223  AUTOMOTIVE SERVICES

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-039600 BEN TIRE AUTO SERVICE  I-200901138790       110 5223-434        REPAIR OF VEH: SQUAD REPAIRS        096677       1,236.50

01-039600 BEN TIRE AUTO SERVICE  I-200901138790       110 5223-439        OTHER REPAIR : SQUAD REPAIRS        096677         194.14

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 223   AUTOMOTIVE SERVICES      TOTAL:      18,463.91

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098723       110 5224-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1700 WABASH          096621       6,164.59

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098724       110 5224-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1321 RICHMOND        096621         417.69

 

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12449805-1         110 5224-321        NATURAL GAS &: ENERGY CHARGES       096730         984.22

 

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5224-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1700 WABASH          096672       2,253.27

 

01-026400 INDUSTRIAL SERVICES OF I-16941              110 5224-432        REPAIR OF BUI: GENERATOR REPAIRS    096729         194.74

01-026400 INDUSTRIAL SERVICES OF I-16959              110 5224-432        REPAIR OF BUI: CHANGE OIL ON GENSET 096729         382.56

01-026400 INDUSTRIAL SERVICES OF I-16960              110 5224-432        REPAIR OF BUI: GENSET REPAIRS       096729         104.00

 

01-030000 KULL LUMBER CO         I-200901138800       110 5224-432        REPAIR OF BUI: WOOD GLUE,PAINT MARK 096736          11.27

 

01-031000 LORENZ SUPPLY CO.      I-201827             110 5224-312        CLEANING SUPP: TOWELS,LINERS,CLEANE 096743         132.98

01-031000 LORENZ SUPPLY CO.      I-202917             110 5224-312        CLEANING SUPP: ICE MELT             096743          40.38

01-031000 LORENZ SUPPLY CO.      I-203284             110 5224-312        CLEANING SUPP: CLEANER,TOWELS,LINER 096743         182.57

 

01-035600 KONE INC               I-220049969          110 5224-435        ELEVATOR SERV: ELEV MNTCE 1/09      096735         577.78

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 224   POLICE BUILDINGS         TOTAL:      11,446.05

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-011650 DECATUR ELECTRONICS    I-00178339           110 5233-319        MISCELLANEOUS: DECATUR ELECTRONICS  096705       2,457.00

01-011650 DECATUR ELECTRONICS    I-00178347           110 5233-319        MISCELLANEOUS: DECATUR ELECTRONICS  096705       1,050.00

01-011650 DECATUR ELECTRONICS    I-00178351           110 5233-319        MISCELLANEOUS: DECATUR ELECTRONICS  096705         780.00

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 233   DUI ASSESSMENT EXPENDS   TOTAL:       4,287.00

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-000410 ANDY ADAIR             I-200901138823       110 5241-533        CELLULAR PHON: JANUARY 09 CELL PHON 096667          50.00

 

01-000550 ALEXANDERS AUTO PARTS  I-200901138760       110 5241-318        VEHICLE PARTS: FUSES,FUEL FILTERS   096670          60.31

 

01-000704 MIKE CHISM             I-200901138827       110 5241-533        CELLULAR PHON: JANUARY 09 CELL PHON 096687          50.00

 

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098718       110 5241-321        NATURAL GAS &: ADD'L CURRENT        096621         118.22

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098738       110 5241-321        NATURAL GAS &: HWY 16 STA 2         096622         807.64

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158863       110 5241-321        NATURAL GAS &: 2700 MARSHALL STA 3  096659          16.71

 

01-001213 DIESEL SPEED REPAIR    I-6881               110 5241-434        REPAIR OF VEH: REPLACE STEERING     096708         466.74

 



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:     5

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 110  GENERAL FUND

DEPARTMENT: 241  FIRE PROTECTION ADMIN.

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12449805-1         110 5241-321        NATURAL GAS &: ENERGY CHARGES       096730          43.81

 

01-001852 ROCKE OVERHEAD DOORS   I-9507               110 5241-460        OTHER PROP MA: KEYLESS ENTRY        096770          27.00

 

01-002056 NICK & STACEY'S HOUSE  I-1124               110 5241-319        MISCELLANEOUS: PAINT                096761          32.27

01-002056 NICK & STACEY'S HOUSE  I-135                110 5241-319        MISCELLANEOUS: PAINT                096761          25.00

 

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       110 5241-319        MISCELLANEOUS: ACCU-LINE            096616         192.42

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       110 5241-316        TOOLS & EQUIP: SEARS                096616         201.14

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       110 5241-562        TRAVEL & TRAI: VILLA PIZZA          096616         113.69

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       110 5241-562        TRAVEL & TRAI: LODGING              096616         181.44

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       110 5241-311        OFFICE SUPPLI: MONOPRICE.COM        096616          14.12

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       110 5241-319        MISCELLANEOUS: MARISAFE             096616          31.92

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       110 5241-562        TRAVEL & TRAI: PANTHER PAW          096616          16.30

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       110 5241-319        MISCELLANEOUS: COUNTY MARKET        096616          13.56

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       110 5241-562        TRAVEL & TRAI: SMOKEY BONES         096616          31.09

 

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5241-321        NATURAL GAS &: 2700 MARSHALL        096672         213.06

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5241-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1801 PRAIRIE         096672          87.31

 

01-003095 CARQUEST OF MATTOON    I-200901148841       110 5241-318        VEHICLE PARTS: DOOR JAM             096682          14.62

 

01-009075 CUSD #2 TRANSPORTATION I-381                110 5241-326        FUEL         : FUEL 12/1-31 FIRE DE 096701       1,555.75

 

01-011875 DENNING AUTOMOTIVE     I-200901138772       110 5241-434        REPAIR OF VEH: REPAIR #28           096706         924.89

 

01-014713 EMERGENCY MEDICAL PROD I-INV1131374         110 5241-313        MEDICAL & SAF: RESCUE MASK TRAINING 096710          59.46

 

01-017000 FIRE EQUIPMENT SERVICE I-85193              110 5241-460        OTHER PROP MA: EXTINGUISHER MNTCE   096715          48.50

 

01-017200 FIRE PENSION FUND      I-200901078708       110 5241-233        FIREFIGHTERS : PROPERTY TAX DISTRIB 096617     218,221.17

 

01-017403 FIRST MID-IL BANK & TR I-200901098720       110 5241-742        VEHICLES     : TRUCKS LOAN #2700714 096627      21,476.54

 

01-018042 GALLS INCORPORATED     I-5967329000025      110 5241-315        UNIFORMS & CL: TROUSERS             096717          92.07

 

01-020800 HAROLD'S CLEANERS      I-155511             110 5241-573        LAUNDRY SERVI: CLEAN UNIFORMS       096722          20.00

01-020800 HAROLD'S CLEANERS      I-155731             110 5241-573        LAUNDRY SERVI: CLEAN UNIFORMS       096722          60.00

 

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901098727       110 5241-532        TELEPHONE    : 234-2442             096625          48.15

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901098728       110 5241-532        TELEPHONE    : 235-0931             096625          41.25

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901098729       110 5241-532        TELEPHONE    : 235-0932             096625          38.61

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901098730       110 5241-532        TELEPHONE    : 235-0933             096625          37.56

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901138784       110 5241-532        TELEPHONE    : 101-0987             096696          88.07

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901138797       110 5241-532        TELEPHONE    : 234-2448             096696          38.85

 



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:     6

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 110  GENERAL FUND

DEPARTMENT: 241  FIRE PROTECTION ADMIN.

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-025600 ILMO PRODUCTS COMPANY  I-200901148840       110 5241-313        MEDICAL & SAF: OXYGEN, CYLINDER REN 096728          83.11

 

01-030021 L & S SAFETY           I-2009-0055          110 5241-319        MISCELLANEOUS: EAR PLUGS            096737          30.00

 

01-031000 LORENZ SUPPLY CO.      I-203582             110 5241-312        CLEANING SUPP: TISSUE,TOWELS        096743         141.57

01-031000 LORENZ SUPPLY CO.      I-204436             110 5241-312        CLEANING SUPP: TOWELS,FLOOR CLEANER 096743         136.40

 

01-031157 MACS FIRE & SAFETY INC I-90558              110 5241-318        VEHICLE PARTS: SHOCK SPACER         096745         101.40

 

01-033800 MATTOON WATER DEPT     I-200812298656       110 5241-410        UTILITY SERVI: HWY 16 STA 2         000000          66.75

01-033800 MATTOON WATER DEPT     I-200812298657       110 5241-410        UTILITY SERVI: 2700 MARSHALL STA 3  000000          52.70

01-033800 MATTOON WATER DEPT     I-200901138771       110 5241-410        UTILITY SERVI: 1801 PRAIRIE         000000           9.40

 

01-036334 NFPA                   I-200901148839       110 5241-571        DUE & MEMBERS: MEMBERSHIP THRU 1/31 096760         150.00

 

01-043522 STAPLES CREDIT PLAN    I-63546              110 5241-311        OFFICE SUPPLI: OFFICE SUPPLIES      096665         166.42

01-043522 STAPLES CREDIT PLAN    I-63794              110 5241-311        OFFICE SUPPLI: ENVELOPES            096665          24.70

 

01-044200 KC SUMMERS BUICK       I-BUCS380567         110 5241-434        REPAIR OF VEH: OIL CHANGE           096734          17.86

 

01-045198 UNIVERSITY OF IL-GAR 1 I-UFINH169           110 5241-562        TRAVEL & TRAI: MANAGEMENT II 12/15/ 096780         450.00

 

01-046791 WELTON OIL SERVICE     I-85375              110 5241-460        OTHER PROP MA: BOTTLED GAS          096790          61.41

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 241   FIRE PROTECTION ADMIN.   TOTAL:     247,050.96

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-000703 TIGER DIRECT           I-P05455380101       110 5261-311        OFFICE SUPPLI: BROTHER PRINTER DRUM 096777         124.22

 

01-001381 MATT FREDERICK         I-200901138769       110 5261-564        PRIVATE VEHIC: MILEAGE 12/1-31      096716         133.81

01-001381 MATT FREDERICK         I-200901138828       110 5261-533        CELLULAR PHON: JANUARY 09 CELL PHON 096716          43.29

 

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901138798       110 5261-532        TELEPHONE    : 234-7367             096696         232.60

 

01-041120 RAYMOND SENTENEY       I-200901138768       110 5261-564        PRIVATE VEHIC: MILEAGE 12/5-31      096773          57.56

 

01-043522 STAPLES CREDIT PLAN    I-63442              110 5261-311        OFFICE SUPPLI: OFFICE SUPPLIES      096665         173.46

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 261   CODE ENFORCEMENT ADMIN   TOTAL:         764.94

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-049003 XEROX CORPORATION      I-037883216          110 5310-814        PRINT/COPY MA: COPIER TFW-015052    096792         189.19

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 310   PUBLIC WORKS ADMIN       TOTAL:         189.19

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:     7

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 110  GENERAL FUND

DEPARTMENT: 320  STREETS

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098718       110 5320-321        NATURAL GAS &: ADD'L CURRENT        096621         132.47

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098739       110 5320-321        NATURAL GAS &: 221 N 12TH           096622       2,735.56

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098740       110 5320-321        NATURAL GAS &: 212 N 12TH           096622          20.73

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098744       110 5320-321        NATURAL GAS &: 212 N 12TH           096623       1,384.17

 

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12449805-1         110 5320-321        NATURAL GAS &: ENERGY CHARGES       096730         366.50-

 

01-001686 ALLIED MUNICIPAL SUPPL I-8096               110 5320-316        TOOLS AND EQU: TOOLS                096671         184.61

01-001686 ALLIED MUNICIPAL SUPPL I-8120               110 5320-316        TOOLS AND EQU: CORNER BOLT          096671          68.62

 

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       110 5320-562        TRAVEL & TRAI: RADISSON             096616         156.80

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       110 5320-562        TRAVEL & TRAI: RADISSON             096616         170.80

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       110 5320-326        FUEL         : FUEL                 096616          20.00

 

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5320-321        NATURAL GAS &: 212 N 12TH           096672           6.50

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5320-321        NATURAL GAS &: 221 N 12TH           096672         218.34

 

01-003095 CARQUEST OF MATTOON    I-200901138787       110 5320-318        VEHICLE PARTS: REPAIRS              096682         455.73

 

01-009075 CUSD #2 TRANSPORTATION I-379                110 5320-326        FUEL         : FUEL 12/1-31 PUBLIC  096701       1,937.85

 

01-009870 COX MOTORS             I-82005              110 5320-434        REPAIR OF VEH: SAFETY TEST          096698          18.35

 

01-015410 EZ PARCEL & BUSINESS S I-55660              110 5320-531        POSTAGE      : SHIPPING             096713           6.41

01-015410 EZ PARCEL & BUSINESS S I-55663              110 5320-531        POSTAGE      : SHIPPING             096713           6.00

01-015410 EZ PARCEL & BUSINESS S I-55971              110 5320-531        POSTAGE      : SHIPPING             096713          13.81

01-015410 EZ PARCEL & BUSINESS S I-56292              110 5320-531        POSTAGE      : SHIPPING             096713          12.96

 

01-016000 FARM PLAN              I-176370             110 5320-319        MISCELLANEOUS: CAP SCREW            096626          11.25

01-016000 FARM PLAN              I-3320461            110 5320-319        MISCELLANEOUS: GARBAGE CAN          096626          17.99

01-016000 FARM PLAN              I-3323688            110 5320-319        MISCELLANEOUS: WAX                  096626           9.98

01-016000 FARM PLAN              I-3324632            110 5320-319        MISCELLANEOUS: SPRAYER              096626          16.99

01-016000 FARM PLAN              I-3326892            110 5320-316        TOOLS AND EQU: HANDLE,HAMMER        096626          13.98

01-016000 FARM PLAN              I-3330931            110 5320-319        MISCELLANEOUS: POLISHING CLOTH,PADS 096626          15.95

 

01-017403 FIRST MID-IL BANK & TR I-200901098720       110 5320-741        MACHINERY    : TRUCKS LOAN #2700714 096627      21,202.38

01-017403 FIRST MID-IL BANK & TR I-200901098720       110 5320-742        VEHICLES     : TRUCKS LOAN #2700714 096627       5,559.29

01-017403 FIRST MID-IL BANK & TR I-200901098721       110 5320-742        VEHICLES     : STREET SWEEPER LOAN  096627      31,247.24

 

01-018100 GANO WELDING           I-200901138762       110 5320-319        MISCELLANEOUS: WELDING SUPPLIES     096718          50.30

 

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901138788       110 5320-532        TELEPHONE    : 101-0873             096696          88.07

 

01-025600 ILMO PRODUCTS COMPANY  I-200901148838       110 5320-319        MISCELLANEOUS: WELDING SUPPLIES     096728          72.27

 

01-030000 KULL LUMBER CO         I-200901138783       110 5320-359        OTHER STREET : HOSE REPAIR,COUPLING 096736          38.00



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:     8

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 110  GENERAL FUND

DEPARTMENT: 320  STREETS

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-030000 KULL LUMBER CO         I-200901138783       110 5320-319        MISCELLANEOUS: HOSE REPAIR,COUPLING 096736           7.48

 

01-030083 LANMAN OIL CO INC      I-14621              110 5320-326        FUEL         : GAS                  096740          10.00

 

01-031000 LORENZ SUPPLY CO.      I-201962             110 5320-312        CLEANING SUPP: SOAP,ICE MELT        096743          37.71

01-031000 LORENZ SUPPLY CO.      I-202095             110 5320-312        CLEANING SUPP: CLEANERS             096743         114.32

01-031000 LORENZ SUPPLY CO.      I-202802             110 5320-312        CLEANING SUPP: LINERS,FLOOR CLEANER 096743          57.90

 

01-031402 M & M PUMP SUPPLY INC  I-532027             110 5320-319        MISCELLANEOUS: RUBBER HOSE,COUPLING 096744          27.55

 

01-032980 MATTOON MOTOR SHOP     I-7262               110 5320-433        REPAIR OF MAC: SHARPEN CHAIN        096748          87.00

 

01-033200 MATTOON PRINTING CENTE I-200901138767       110 5320-311        OFFICE SUPPLI: PURCHASE ORDERS      096750          53.17

 

01-034250 MCFARLAND STEEL SUPPLY I-200901138781       110 5320-359        OTHER STREET : PIPE                 096752          90.30

 

01-038375 DAN PILSON AUTO CENTER I-129543             110 5320-318        VEHICLE PARTS: WIPERS               096704          61.71

 

01-039600 BEN TIRE AUTO SERVICE  I-200901138761       110 5320-434        REPAIR OF VEH: REPAIRS              096677          43.00

 

01-044200 KC SUMMERS BUICK       I-BUCS381919         110 5320-434        REPAIR OF VEH: VAN REPAIRS          096734         112.98

 

01-046791 WELTON OIL SERVICE     I-85265              110 5320-319        MISCELLANEOUS: KEROSENE             096790          35.60

 

01-050875 ZEP MANUFACTURING CO   I-17844929           110 5320-359        OTHER STREET : ZEP MANUFACTURING CO 096793         108.94

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 320   STREETS                  TOTAL:      66,374.56

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098718       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: ADD'L CURRENT        096621         383.47

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158850       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 6TH & CHARLESTON     096657          20.13

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158853       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 17TH & B'DWAY        096657          16.81

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158854       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 16TH ST              096657          16.81

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158855       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1721 B'DWAY BRIDGE L 096657          34.52

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158856       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: STREET LIGHTING      096657      15,009.43

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158864       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 16TH ST              096659          16.81

 

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12449805-1         110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: ENERGY CHARGES       096730          37.85

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12750033-1         110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 19TH & RICHMOND      096730           7.92

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12750033-1         110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 19TH & RICHMOND      096730           8.84

 

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: CHARLESTON TRAFFIC L 096672          14.19

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 19TH & RICHMOND      096672          12.75

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 17TH & CHARLESTON    096672          10.76

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 14TH ST TRAFFIC LIGH 096672          11.09

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 101 CHARLESTON       096672          10.83



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:     9

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 110  GENERAL FUND

DEPARTMENT: 326  STREET LIGHTING

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1420 CHARLESTON      096672          22.68

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 18TH & MARSHALL TRAF 096672          16.65

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1721 CHARLESTON      096672          10.83

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 19TH & WESTERN       096672          74.01

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 6TH & CHARLESTON     096672          11.99

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1121 B'DWAY          096672          12.13

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1721 B'DWAY          096672          50.03

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1600 B'DWAY          096672         217.58

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: CHARLESTON AVE LIGHT 096672           9.87

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 700 E B'DWAY         096672          13.91

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5326-321        NATURAL GAS &: 17TH & B'DWAY        096672           0.34

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 326   STREET LIGHTING          TOTAL:      16,052.23

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-039210 VEOLIA ES SOLID WASTE  I-F50000133992       110 5338-421        DISPOSAL SERV: CITY TRASH           096666       1,470.34

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 338   REFUSE COLLECT & DISPOSALTOTAL:       1,470.34

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-030000 KULL LUMBER CO         I-200901158847       110 5370-316        TOOLS & EQUIP: BATTERIES            096736          15.98

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 370   CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION  TOTAL:          15.98

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098718       110 5381-321        NATURAL GAS &: ADD'L CURRENT        096621         341.48

 

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12449805-1         110 5381-321        NATURAL GAS &: ENERGY CHARGES       096730         394.44

 

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5381-321        NATURAL GAS &: 208 N 19TH           096672       1,156.79

 

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901138799       110 5381-435        ELEVATOR SERV: 234-7376             096696          36.98

 

01-033800 MATTOON WATER DEPT     I-200901158849       110 5381-410        UTILITY SERVI: 208 N 19TH           000000         167.98

 

01-035600 KONE INC               I-220051605          110 5381-435        ELEVATOR SERV: ELEV MNTCE 1/09      096735         227.45

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 381   CUSTODIAL SERVICES       TOTAL:       2,325.12

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098718       110 5383-321        NATURAL GAS &: ADD'L CURRENT        096621          41.90

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158852       110 5383-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1701 WABASH          096657       1,450.87

 

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12449805-1         110 5383-321        NATURAL GAS &: ENERGY CHARGES       096730          81.87

 

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5383-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1701 WABASH          096672          88.95

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 383   BURGESS OSBORNE          TOTAL:       1,663.59

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    10

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 110  GENERAL FUND

DEPARTMENT: 384  RAILROAD DEPOT

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-038300 PERRY'S LOCKSMITH      I-2-51356            110 5384-432        REPAIR OF BUI: SERVICE STORAGE ROOM 096767         265.00

01-038300 PERRY'S LOCKSMITH      I-2-51357            110 5384-432        REPAIR OF BUI: SERVICE FRONT DOOR   096767         235.35

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 384   RAILROAD DEPOT           TOTAL:         500.35

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158866       110 5388-321        NATURAL GAS &: 316 S 32ND           096659          16.81

 

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12449805-1         110 5388-321        NATURAL GAS &: ENERGY CHARGES       096730           1.09

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 388   GARMENT FACTORY          TOTAL:          17.90

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-001301 DIRT WORKS LANDSCAPING I-200901138765       110 5421-330        FOOD         : PLOW ICE @ COLES CO  096709         550.00

 

01-046000 NIEMANN FOODS INC      I-1040346            110 5421-330        FOOD         : SENIOR DINNER        096762         515.42

01-046000 NIEMANN FOODS INC      I-1040394            110 5421-330        FOOD         : SENIOR DINNER        096762       3,346.65

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 421   COUNCIL ON AGING         TOTAL:       4,412.07

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-009075 CUSD #2 TRANSPORTATION I-382                110 5511-326        FUEL         : FUEL 12-1/31 PARK    096701         439.20

 

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901158872       110 5511-532        TELEPHONE    : 234-3611             096661          68.19

 

01-035150 MIDAS AUTO SERVICE EXP I-211473             110 5511-434        REPAIR OF VEH: OIL CHANGE           096758          26.99

01-035150 MIDAS AUTO SERVICE EXP I-212195             110 5511-434        REPAIR OF VEH: OIL CHANGE           096758          31.57

 

01-037050 NIEMEYER REPAIR SERVIC I-19955              110 5511-433        REPAIR OF MAC: KIT BLADE            096763         135.18

01-037050 NIEMEYER REPAIR SERVIC I-20156              110 5511-433        REPAIR OF MAC: KIT BLADE,AIR FILTER 096763         177.86

01-037050 NIEMEYER REPAIR SERVIC I-20285              110 5511-433        REPAIR OF MAC: BLADE,SWITCH         096763          51.61

 

01-039600 BEN TIRE AUTO SERVICE  I-200901138807       110 5511-434        REPAIR OF VEH: TIRE REPAIRS         096677          16.00

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 511   PARK ADMINISTRATION      TOTAL:         946.60

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-030000 KULL LUMBER CO         I-200901138806       110 5512-319        MISCELLANEOUS: LUMBER FOR TABLES    096736         840.00

 

01-030021 L & S SAFETY           I-2009-0028          110 5512-319        MISCELLANEOUS: GLOVES               096737           5.00

 

01-035150 MIDAS AUTO SERVICE EXP I-212406             110 5512-434        REPAIR OF VEH: OIL CHANGE           096758          34.28

 

01-039600 BEN TIRE AUTO SERVICE  I-200901138807       110 5512-434        REPAIR OF VEH: TIRE REPAIRS         096677          16.00

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 512   LAKE ADMINISTRATION      TOTAL:         895.28

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    11

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 110  GENERAL FUND

DEPARTMENT: 541  PETERSON PARK

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098718       110 5541-321        NATURAL GAS &: ADD'L CURRENT        096621         350.03

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158867       110 5541-321        NATURAL GAS &: 500 B'DWAY           096659         574.92

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158868       110 5541-321        NATURAL GAS &: 500 B'DWAY           096659         791.03

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158869       110 5541-321        NATURAL GAS &: 500 B'DWAY           096660         426.48

 

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12449805-1         110 5541-321        NATURAL GAS &: ENERGY CHARGES       096730         317.27

 

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5541-321        NATURAL GAS &: 500 B'DWAY           096672         329.08

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5541-321        NATURAL GAS &: 500 B'DWAY           096672         641.44

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5541-321        NATURAL GAS &: 500 B'DWAY           096672         120.62

 

01-016000 FARM PLAN              I-3311683            110 5541-319        MISCELLANEOUS: ELECTRICAL SUPPLIES  096662         102.64

 

01-020803 HARRELSON PLUMBING & H I-11564              110 5541-440        RENTALS      : POTTY RENTAL         096723         227.50

01-020803 HARRELSON PLUMBING & H I-11666              110 5541-319        MISCELLANEOUS: WINTERIZE BUILDINGS  096723         135.72

01-020803 HARRELSON PLUMBING & H I-11666              110 5541-319        MISCELLANEOUS: WINTERIZE BUILDINGS  096723         135.72

 

01-045530 VILLA PIZZA            I-0231               110 5541-319        MISCELLANEOUS: WORKERS LUNCH DURING 096784          93.94

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 541   PETERSON PARK            TOTAL:       4,246.39

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158851       110 5542-410        UTILITY SERVI: 632 S 14TH           096657          26.58

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158882       110 5542-321        NATURAL GAS &: 700 S 13TH           096660          15.13

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158883       110 5542-321        NATURAL GAS &: 702 S 13TH           096660          15.14

 

01-001363 TURF INNOVATIONS INC   I-47                 110 5542-424        LAWN CARE    : SOD                  096778       1,120.00

 

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12449805-1         110 5542-321        NATURAL GAS &: ENERGY CHARGES       096730          92.03

 

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5542-321        NATURAL GAS &: 632 S 14TH           096672         224.78

 

01-020803 HARRELSON PLUMBING & H I-11586              110 5542-440        RENTALS      : POTTY RENTAL         096723         297.50

01-020803 HARRELSON PLUMBING & H I-11666              110 5542-319        MISCELLANEOUS: WINTERIZE BUILDINGS  096723         135.72

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 542   LAWSON PARK              TOTAL:       1,926.88

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12449805-1         110 5551-321        NATURAL GAS &: ENERGY CHARGES       096730          21.11

 

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5551-321        NATURAL GAS &: 312 N 10TH BOYS COMP 096672         126.09

 

01-020803 HARRELSON PLUMBING & H I-11666              110 5551-319        MISCELLANEOUS: WINTERIZE BUILDINGS  096723         135.72

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 551   BOYS COMPLEX             TOTAL:         282.92

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    12

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 110  GENERAL FUND

DEPARTMENT: 552  GIRLS COMPLEX

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12449805-1         110 5552-321        NATURAL GAS &: ENERGY CHARGES       096730         246.32

 

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5552-321        NATURAL GAS &: 311 N 6TH            096672          16.44

 

01-020803 HARRELSON PLUMBING & H I-11666              110 5552-319        MISCELLANEOUS: WINTERIZE BUILDINGS  096723         135.72

 

01-041800 SHERWIN WILLIAMS CO    I-9282-3             110 5552-319        MISCELLANEOUS: PAINT SUPPLIES       096774          49.32

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 552   GIRLS COMPLEX            TOTAL:         447.80

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5553-321        NATURAL GAS &: 409 SHELBY JFL       096672          47.98

 

01-020803 HARRELSON PLUMBING & H I-11574              110 5553-440        RENTALS      : POTTY RENTAL         096723         700.00

01-020803 HARRELSON PLUMBING & H I-11666              110 5553-319        MISCELLANEOUS: WINTERIZE BUILDINGS  096723         135.72

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 553   JR FOOTBALL COMPLEX      TOTAL:         883.70

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158865       110 5555-321        NATURAL GAS &: S 22ND ST            096659          63.57

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158870       110 5555-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1 S 22ND             096660          16.81

 

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12449805-1         110 5555-321        NATURAL GAS &: ENERGY CHARGES       096730          10.28

 

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5555-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1 S 22ND KINZEL      096672           2.47

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 555   KINZEL FIELD             TOTAL:          93.13

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       110 5556-321        NATURAL GAS &: 221 SHELBY T-BALL    096672          21.25

 

01-020803 HARRELSON PLUMBING & H I-11666              110 5556-319        MISCELLANEOUS: WINTERIZE BUILDINGS  096723         135.68

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 556   T-BALL COMPLEX           TOTAL:         156.93

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-030065 LAKE MATTOON PUBLIC WA I-200901158878       110 5561-410        UTILITY SERVI: CAMPGROUND EAST      096663          12.00

 

01-041755 SHELBY ELECTRIC COOPER I-200901158876       110 5561-322        ELECTRICITY  : HUFFMANS             096664         322.90

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 561   EAST CAMPGROUND          TOTAL:         334.90

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-016000 FARM PLAN              I-3310942            110 5562-319        MISCELLANEOUS: BLADES               096662          59.99

01-016000 FARM PLAN              I-3319388            110 5562-319        MISCELLANEOUS: CUT OFF WHEEL,GRINDI 096662          42.89

 



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    13

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 110  GENERAL FUND

DEPARTMENT: 562  WEST CAMPGROUND

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-020803 HARRELSON PLUMBING & H I-11567              110 5562-440        RENTALS      : POTTY RENTAL         096723         350.00

 

01-030021 L & S SAFETY           I-2009-0030          110 5562-313        MEDICAL & SAF: GLOVES               096737          20.00

 

01-030065 LAKE MATTOON PUBLIC WA I-200901158879       110 5562-410        UTILITY SERVI: CAMPGROUND WEST      096663          12.00

 

01-041755 SHELBY ELECTRIC COOPER I-200901158875       110 5562-322        ELECTRICITY  : CAMPGROUND           096664         126.00

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 562   WEST CAMPGROUND          TOTAL:         610.88

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-012025 DETECTION SECURITY CO  I-96633              110 5563-576        SECURITY SERV: MARINA SECURITY      096707          45.00

 

01-020534 VERIZON NORTH          I-200901138805       110 5563-532        TELEPHONE    : 895-2922             096783          57.34

 

01-030065 LAKE MATTOON PUBLIC WA I-200901158880       110 5563-410        UTILITY SERVI: MARINA               096663          12.00

 

01-041755 SHELBY ELECTRIC COOPER I-200901158873       110 5563-322        ELECTRICITY  : RESTROOMS            096664          96.64

01-041755 SHELBY ELECTRIC COOPER I-200901158874       110 5563-322        ELECTRICITY  : CAUSEWAY             096664          38.70

01-041755 SHELBY ELECTRIC COOPER I-200901158877       110 5563-322        ELECTRICITY  : MARINA               096664         157.07

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 563   MARINA AREA              TOTAL:         406.75

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-030065 LAKE MATTOON PUBLIC WA I-200901158881       110 5564-410        UTILITY SERVI: BEACH                096663          12.00

 

01-041800 SHERWIN WILLIAMS CO    I-9281-5             110 5564-432        REPAIR OF BUI: PICNIC TABLE BOARDS  096774          67.21

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 564   BEACH AREA               TOTAL:          79.21

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-008200 COLES CO REGIONAL PLAN I-4072               110 5651-519        OTHER PROFESS: NOV 08 CDAP ADMIN    096692         540.00

 

01-008801 COLES TOGETHER         I-200901138826       110 5651-571        DUES & MEMBER: FEBRUARY 09 PLEDGE   096694       5,000.00

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 651   ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT     TOTAL:       5,540.00

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-015675 US BANK                I-200901098714       110 5716-817        SERIES 2003 L: IRBB 2003A           096631      73,419.62

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 716   GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS TOTAL:      73,419.62

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-032205 MATT ECON DEV RECAPTUR I-200901138830       110 5752-817        DEBT SERVICES: FEBRUARY 09 RLF #137 096746       1,288.89

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 752   KAL KAN WTR/SWR EXT      TOTAL:       1,288.89

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    14

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 110  GENERAL FUND

DEPARTMENT: 760  FISCAL AGENT'S FEE

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-043205 SPEER FINANCIAL INC    I-D11-08/54          110 5760-817        FISCAL AGENT': SPEER FINANCIAL INC  096775         383.86

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 760   FISCAL AGENT'S FEE       TOTAL:         383.86

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-030100 MATTOON PUBLIC LIBRARY I-200901078710       110 5912-822        TRANSFER TO L: PROPERTY TAX DISTRIB 096619      93,183.05

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 912   INTRFND TRNSFRS - LIBRARYTOTAL:      93,183.05

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                                    VENDOR SET 110   GENERAL FUND             TOTAL:     765,578.97



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    15

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 122  HOTEL TAX FUND

DEPARTMENT: 653  HOTEL TAX ADMINISTRATION

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098741       122 5653-321        NATURAL GAS &: MARSHALL WELCOME SIG 096622          18.35

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098742       122 5653-321        NATURAL GAS &: DEWITT WELCOME SIGN  096623          18.40

 

01-001235 ANGELIA D BURGETT      I-200901138829       122 5653-533        CELLULAR PHON: JANUARY 09 CELL PHON 096681          43.29

 

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12449805-1         122 5653-321        NATURAL GAS &: ENERGY CHARGES       096730          51.71

 

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       122 5653-561        BUSINESS MEET: WALGREENS            096616          49.49

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       122 5653-561        BUSINESS MEET: BROADWAY GRILL       096616         877.65

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       122 5653-561        BUSINESS MEET: COMMON GROUNDS       096616           3.29

 

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       122 5653-321        NATURAL GAS &: 4219 DEWITT WELCOME  096672           5.62

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       122 5653-321        NATURAL GAS &: 3901 MARSHALL WELCOM 096672           5.48

 

01-010900 D TO Z SPORTS          I-16958              122 5653-572        COMMUNITY PRO: WINDSHIRTS           096702         270.00

 

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901098726       122 5653-532        TELEPHONE    : 800-500-6286         096625           5.13

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 653   HOTEL TAX ADMINISTRATION TOTAL:       1,348.41

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                                    VENDOR SET 122   HOTEL TAX FUND           TOTAL:       1,348.41



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    16

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 123  FESTIVAL MGMT FUND

DEPARTMENT: 581  FESTIVAL ADMINISTRATION

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       123 5581-561        BUSINESS MEET: VILLA PIZZA          096616          42.00

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       123 5581-561        BUSINESS MEET: VILLA PIZZA          096616          65.00

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 581   FESTIVAL ADMINISTRATION  TOTAL:         107.00

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-002170 BUSINESS CARD          I-200901078712       123 5584-561        BUSINESS MEET: EL RANCHERITO        096616          22.45

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 584   BAGELFEST                TOTAL:          22.45

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158857       123 5586-321        NATURAL GAS &: 500 B'DWAY           096658         314.93

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158858       123 5586-321        NATURAL GAS &: 500 B'DWAY           096658         169.65

 

01-002800 CHAMBER OF COMMERCE    I-200901138777       123 5586-540        ADVERTISING  : CHAMBER BUCKS        096686         600.00

 

01-021348 CENTRAL IL NEWSPAPER   I-200901138775       123 5586-540        ADVERTISING  : LIGHTWORKS           096685         504.00

01-021348 CENTRAL IL NEWSPAPER   I-200901138775       123 5586-540        ADVERTISING  : LIGHT UP MATTOON     096685       1,116.50

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 586   LIGHTWORKS               TOTAL:       2,705.08

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                                    VENDOR SET 123   FESTIVAL MGMT FUND       TOTAL:       2,834.53



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    17

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 125  INSURANCE & TORT JDGMNT

DEPARTMENT: 150  FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-000210 MESIROW INSURANCE SERV I-632448             125 5150-523        PROPERTY & CA: COMMERCIAL PACKAGE   096754      52,003.25

01-000210 MESIROW INSURANCE SERV I-632450             125 5150-523        PROPERTY & CA: LAWYERS PROFESSIONAL 096754       1,700.00

01-000210 MESIROW INSURANCE SERV I-632454             125 5150-523        PROPERTY & CA: CRIME COVERAGES      096754       3,850.00

01-000210 MESIROW INSURANCE SERV I-632455             125 5150-523        PROPERTY & CA: FIDUCIARY LIABILITY  096754       3,400.00

01-000210 MESIROW INSURANCE SERV I-632458             125 5150-250        WORKERS' COMP: WORKERS COMPENSATION 096754     121,338.50

01-000210 MESIROW INSURANCE SERV I-632460             125 5150-523        PROPERTY & CA: SERVICE FEE P&C      096754      23,750.00

 

01-012500 IL DIR OF EMPLOYMENT S I-200901138819       125 5150-240        UNEMPLOYMENT : UNEMPLOY TAX 4TH QTR 096726         337.07

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 150   FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION TOTAL:     206,378.82

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                                    VENDOR SET 125   INSURANCE & TORT JDGMNT  TOTAL:     206,378.82



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    18

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 128  MIDTOWN TIF FUND

DEPARTMENT: 800  SHARED INCREMENT

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-000731 MATTOON COMMUNITY UNIT I-200901138758       128 5800-821        SHARED INCREM: SHARED TAX INCREMENT 096747      15,468.86

 

01-000732 LAKE LAND COLLEGE      I-200901138756       128 5800-821        SHARED INCREM: SHARED TAX INCREMENT 096738       1,506.56

 

01-000733 MATTOON TOWNSHIP SUPER I-200901138755       128 5800-821        SHARED INCREM: SHARED TAX INCREMENT 096751         944.83

 

01-000734 MATTOON PARK DISTRICT  I-200901138754       128 5800-821        SHARED INCREM: SHARED TAX INCREMENT 096749         842.00

 

01-007882 COLES CO AIRPORT       I-200901138753       128 5800-821        SHARED INCREM: SHARED TAX INCREMENT 096690         259.39

 

01-009800 COLES CO CLERK & RECOR I-200901138757       128 5800-821        SHARED INCREM: SHARED TAX INCREMENT 096691       4,003.61

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 800   SHARED INCREMENT         TOTAL:      23,025.25

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                                    VENDOR SET 128   MIDTOWN TIF FUND         TOTAL:      23,025.25



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    19

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 130  CAPITAL PROJECT FUND

DEPARTMENT: 385  CULTURE & RECREATION

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-045850 AJ WALKER CONST CO     I-119224             130 5385-720        CULTURE AND R: 3 BUNDLES 2 X 2 X 18 096669          45.00

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 385   CULTURE & RECREATION     TOTAL:          45.00

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                                    VENDOR SET 130   CAPITAL PROJECT FUND     TOTAL:          45.00



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    20

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 211  WATER FUND

DEPARTMENT: N/A  NON-DEPARTMENTAL

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-045400 UPCHURCH GROUP INC     I-10339-1            211 4931-021        SALE OF CAPIT: DORANS WELLS SURVEY  096781       7,087.67

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT       NON-DEPARTMENTAL         TOTAL:       7,087.67

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098743       211 5351-321        NATURAL GAS &: RR2, POLE BARN       096623          24.37

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098745       211 5351-321        NATURAL GAS &: LAKE PARADISE RD     096623         104.04

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 351   RESERVOIRS & WTR SOURCES TOTAL:         128.41

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-000189 BALLINGER AUTO COMPANY I-200901138764       211 5353-432        REPAIR OF STR: CLEAN ONE LAGOON     096673       5,500.00

 

01-000484 ETHANOL PRODUCTS CO2   I-CO250566           211 5353-314        CHEMICALS    : CHEMICALS            096712         960.88

 

01-000839 BRENNTAG MID-SOUTH INC C-BMS740142          211 5353-314        CHEMICALS    : RETURNS              096679       1,100.00-

01-000839 BRENNTAG MID-SOUTH INC I-BMS594047          211 5353-314        CHEMICALS    : CHEMICALS            096679       2,694.25

 

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098749       211 5353-321        NATURAL GAS &: WATER PLANT          096624       3,238.14

 

01-001414 GENERAL CHEMICAL PERFO I-90198152           211 5353-314        CHEMICALS    : CHEMICALS            096719       3,088.77

 

01-001824 BEELMAN LOGISTICS LLC  I-114654             211 5353-314        CHEMICALS    : LIME                 096676         824.85

 

01-010000 CRAWFORD MURPHY & TILL I-79607              211 5353-730        IMPROVEMENTS : REHAB L PARADISE 11/ 096699         272.50

 

01-012925 MICKEY'S LINEN         I-200901138759       211 5353-460        OTHER PROPERT: CLEANING             096755         165.63

 

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901098732       211 5353-532        TELEPHONE    : 234-2454             096625         206.95

 

01-035365 MISSISSIPPI LIME COMPA I-834748             211 5353-314        CHEMICALS    : LIME                 096759       3,306.25

 

01-035600 KONE INC               I-220049673          211 5353-435        ELEVATOR SERV: ELEV MNTCE 1/09      096735         210.09

 

01-037976 PDC LABORATORIES       I-632398S            211 5353-519        OTHER PROFESS: WATER TESTING        096766          64.00

01-037976 PDC LABORATORIES       I-633511S            211 5353-519        OTHER PROFESS: WATER TESTING        096766       1,545.00

 

01-040465 SAL CHEMICAL           I-87591              211 5353-314        CHEMICALS    : CHEMICALS            096771       5,512.40

 

01-044200 KC SUMMERS BUICK       I-BUCS382001         211 5353-434        REPAIR OF VEH: 08 FORD OIL CHANGE   096734          42.81

 

01-045155 UNITED PARCEL SERVICE  I-8Y610029           211 5353-531        POSTAGE      : SHIPPING             096779          23.16

01-045155 UNITED PARCEL SERVICE  I-8Y610528           211 5353-531        POSTAGE      : SHIPPING             096630          16.40

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 353   WATER TREATMENT PLANT    TOTAL:      26,572.08

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    21

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 211  WATER FUND

DEPARTMENT: 354  WATER DISTRIBUTION

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098718       211 5354-321        NATURAL GAS &: ADD'L CURRENT        096621          40.41

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098746       211 5354-321        NATURAL GAS &: 2800 E LAKE PARADISE 096623         589.03

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098747       211 5354-321        NATURAL GAS &: RR2, WATER DEPT      096623         217.17

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098749       211 5354-321        NATURAL GAS &: LAKE MATTOON PUMP    096624         300.75

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098749       211 5354-321        NATURAL GAS &: W 121 WATER TOWER    096624          17.87

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098749       211 5354-321        NATURAL GAS &: WATER TOWER          096624          18.48

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098749       211 5354-321        NATURAL GAS &: 12TH ST STORAGE      096624          26.73

 

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12449805-1         211 5354-321        NATURAL GAS &: ENERGY CHARGES       096730         689.86

 

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       211 5354-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1331 CO RD 100E L MA 096672         106.47

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       211 5354-321        NATURAL GAS &: 3919 DEWITT W 121 WA 096672           3.77

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       211 5354-321        NATURAL GAS &: SWORDS DR STANDPIPE  096672          67.43

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       211 5354-321        NATURAL GAS &: RR2, WATER DEPT      096672          10.28

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       211 5354-321        NATURAL GAS &: 401 N DIVISION WATER 096672           4.18

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       211 5354-321        NATURAL GAS &: RR2                  096672          21.58

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       211 5354-321        NATURAL GAS &: 2800 E LAKE PARADISE 096672       2,039.46

 

01-002958 BATTERY SPECIALISTS, I I-74317              211 5354-319        MISCELLANEOUS: UPS BATTERY          096674          14.00

 

01-010118 CRITES TITLE COMPANY   I-081775             211 5354-730        IMPROVEMENTS : FFM-ST JOHN'S        096700         140.00

01-010118 CRITES TITLE COMPANY   I-081793             211 5354-730        IMPROVEMENTS : FFM-HARTBANK         096700         140.00

01-010118 CRITES TITLE COMPANY   I-081794             211 5354-730        IMPROVEMENTS : FFM-SCHNEIDER        096700         140.00

 

01-016000 FARM PLAN              I-3317791            211 5354-319        MISCELLANEOUS: APPLICATOR PADS,RAIN 096626          15.76

01-016000 FARM PLAN              I-3331591            211 5354-319        MISCELLANEOUS: PAINT,PRIMER         096626          77.22

 

01-017403 FIRST MID-IL BANK & TR I-200901098720       211 5354-742        VEHICLES     : TRUCKS LOAN #2700714 096627       9,041.16

 

01-018100 GANO WELDING           I-200901138762       211 5354-440        RENTALS      : WELDING SUPPLIES     096718          45.00

 

01-033200 MATTOON PRINTING CENTE I-200901138767       211 5354-319        MISCELLANEOUS: PURCHASE ORDERS      096750          53.17

 

01-035154 MID-ILLINOIS CONCRETE  I-85336              211 5354-363        BACKFILL & SU: FLOW FILL            096757         141.00

01-035154 MID-ILLINOIS CONCRETE  I-85435              211 5354-363        BACKFILL & SU: FLOW FILL            096757         282.00

01-035154 MID-ILLINOIS CONCRETE  I-85436              211 5354-363        BACKFILL & SU: FLOW FILL            096757         129.25

 

01-050875 ZEP MANUFACTURING CO   I-17844929           211 5354-379        OTHER WATER M: ZEP MANUFACTURING CO 096793         108.94

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 354   WATER DISTRIBUTION       TOTAL:      14,480.97

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-000550 ALEXANDERS AUTO PARTS  I-200901148836       211 5355-318        VEHICLE PARTS: BULBS                096670           9.32

 

01-009075 CUSD #2 TRANSPORTATION I-379                211 5355-326        FUEL         : FUEL 12/1-31 PUBLIC  096701       1,937.85

 



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    22

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 211  WATER FUND

DEPARTMENT: 355  ACCOUNTING & COLLECTION

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-019900 WELLS FARGO FINANCIAL  I-200638011-0109     211 5355-815        POSTAGE METER: POSTAGE MACHINE LEAS 096789         369.99

 

01-043522 STAPLES CREDIT PLAN    I-8818617001         211 5355-311        OFFICE SUPPLI: OFFICE SUPPLIES      096776          87.32

01-043522 STAPLES CREDIT PLAN    I-8949108001         211 5355-311        OFFICE SUPPLI: OFFICE SUPPLIES      096776          94.99

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 355   ACCOUNTING & COLLECTION  TOTAL:       2,499.47

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098748       211 5356-321        NATURAL GAS &: S 12TH ST            096624          39.08

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098749       211 5356-321        NATURAL GAS &: 12TH ST POWER        096624          52.07

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158859       211 5356-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1201 MARSHALL        096658         799.00

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158860       211 5356-321        NATURAL GAS &: 620 S 12TH           096658          34.44

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158861       211 5356-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1201 MARSHALL        096658          56.86

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901158862       211 5356-321        NATURAL GAS &: 621 S 12TH           096658          19.55

 

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12449805-1         211 5356-321        NATURAL GAS &: ENERGY CHARGES       096730          19.61

 

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       211 5356-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1201 MARSHALL        096672         133.98

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       211 5356-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1201 MARSHALL        096672         125.00

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       211 5356-321        NATURAL GAS &: 620 S 12TH           096672          16.99

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       211 5356-321        NATURAL GAS &: 621 S 12TH           096672           8.91

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       211 5356-321        NATURAL GAS &: 12TH ST LIGHTING     096672          35.15

 

01-008200 COLES CO REGIONAL PLAN I-4071               211 5356-511        PLANNING & DE: NOV 08 GIS BILLING   096692       1,125.00

 

01-020830 CHRIS HARTBANK         I-200901138820       211 5356-565        CELLULAR PHON: JANUARY 09 CELL PHON 096724          50.00

 

01-024560 ILMA                   I-200901098716       211 5356-562        TRAVEL & TRAI: CONFERENCE 2/18-19   096629          75.00

 

01-028977 JULIE INC              I-12-08-0958         211 5356-579        MISC. OTHER P: DECEMBER 08 MESSAGES 096733          90.20

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 356   ADMINISTRATIVE & GENERAL TOTAL:       2,680.84

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-043205 SPEER FINANCIAL INC    I-D11-08/54          211 5760-817        DEBT SERVICES: SPEER FINANCIAL INC  096775         614.18

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 760   FISCAL AGENTS FEE        TOTAL:         614.18

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                                    VENDOR SET 211   WATER FUND               TOTAL:      54,063.62



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    23

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 212  SEWER FUND

DEPARTMENT: N/A  NON-DEPARTMENTAL

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-016000 FARM PLAN              I-3324061            212 5342-319        MISCELLANEOUS: BLEACH,WASH & WAX KI 096626          19.94

 

01-030000 KULL LUMBER CO         I-200901138783       212 5342-319        MISCELLANEOUS: HOSE REPAIR,COUPLING 096736          10.75

 

01-033200 MATTOON PRINTING CENTE I-200901138767       212 5342-319        MISCELLANEOUS: PURCHASE ORDERS      096750          53.18

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT       NON-DEPARTMENTAL         TOTAL:          83.87

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-000843 COUNTY MATERIALS CORP  I-1457075-00         212 5342-362        MANHOLES CASI: COUNTY MATERIALS COR 096697       1,098.72

01-000843 COUNTY MATERIALS CORP  I-1459920-00         212 5342-362        MANHOLES CASI: COUNTY MATERIALS COR 096697         105.00

 

01-003095 CARQUEST OF MATTOON    I-200901138787       212 5342-318        VEHICLE PARTS: REPAIRS              096682          13.62

 

01-006780 CLARK DIETZ INC        I-403052             212 5342-730        IMPROVEMENTS : 35TH STREET          096688       1,026.03

 

01-007820 COE EQUIPMENT INC      I-45545              212 5342-318        VEHICLE PARTS: BOOM LIFT CYCLE      096689         562.17

 

01-016000 FARM PLAN              I-3318549            212 5342-316        TOOLS & EQUIP: BRUSH,MEASURING WHEE 096626          47.98

 

01-017403 FIRST MID-IL BANK & TR I-200901098720       212 5342-740        MACHINERY & E: TRUCKS LOAN #2700714 096627       5,780.83

 

01-034250 MCFARLAND STEEL SUPPLY I-200901138782       212 5342-369        OTHER SEWER M: LUMBER               096752         138.90

 

01-035154 MID-ILLINOIS CONCRETE  I-85335              212 5342-363        BACKFILL & SU: FLOW FILL,CURB & GUT 096757       1,148.00

01-035154 MID-ILLINOIS CONCRETE  I-85434              212 5342-363        BACKFILL & SU: 1900 OAK             096757       2,574.00

 

01-050875 ZEP MANUFACTURING CO   I-17844929           212 5342-369        OTHER SEWER M: ZEP MANUFACTURING CO 096793         108.94

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 342   SEWER COLLECTION SYSTEM  TOTAL:      12,604.19

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098715       212 5343-321        NATURAL GAS &: N 45 LIFT STA        096621          30.81

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098715       212 5343-321        NATURAL GAS &: RILEY CREEK SEWAGE   096621         334.39

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098715       212 5343-321        NATURAL GAS &: LOGAN/SHELBY SEWAGE  096621          20.69

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098715       212 5343-321        NATURAL GAS &: WILLOWSHIRE SEWAGE   096621          28.99

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098715       212 5343-321        NATURAL GAS &: 28TH LIFT STA        096621          34.72

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098715       212 5343-321        NATURAL GAS &: FAIRFIELD LIFT STA   096621          19.81

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098715       212 5343-321        NATURAL GAS &: N 19TH LIFT STA      096621          21.82

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098736       212 5343-321        NATURAL GAS &: 4220 DEWITT LIFT STA 096622          22.74

 

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12449805-1         212 5343-321        NATURAL GAS &: ENERGY CHARGES       096730         335.36-

 

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       212 5343-321        NATURAL GAS &: 11669 US HWY 45 N 45 096672          49.62

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       212 5343-321        NATURAL GAS &: 4220 DEWITT LIFT STA 096672          16.93

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       212 5343-321        NATURAL GAS &: 2521 N 6TH RILEY CRE 096672       1,131.56



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    24

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 212  SEWER FUND

DEPARTMENT: 343  SEWER LIFT STATIONS

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       212 5343-321        NATURAL GAS &: 3601 OAK WILLOWSHIRE 096672          43.18

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       212 5343-321        NATURAL GAS &: GARFIELD 28TH LIFT S 096672          63.45

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       212 5343-321        NATURAL GAS &: 206 MCFALL RD LIFT S 096672          10.63

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       212 5343-321        NATURAL GAS &: 1503 N 19TH LIFT STA 096672          17.74

 

01-020803 HARRELSON PLUMBING & H I-11650              212 5343-433        REPAIR OF MAC: REPAIR FURNACE       096723          65.00

 

01-031402 M & M PUMP SUPPLY INC  I-532774             212 5343-365        LIFT STATION : COPPER ADAPTER,BALL  096744          40.44

 

01-044400 FERRELLGAS             I-1025007546         212 5343-323        BOTTLED GAS  : PROPANE              096714         363.52

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 343   SEWER LIFT STATIONS      TOTAL:       1,980.68

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-000131 LINDEN & COMPANY       I-21526              212 5344-366        PLANT MTCE & : DISCHARGE ELBOW & BR 096742       1,334.00

 

01-000229 W.A HAMMOND DRIERITE C I-114456             212 5344-319        MISCELLANEOUS: W.A HAMMOND DRIERITE 096785         193.75

 

01-000550 ALEXANDERS AUTO PARTS  I-200901138766       212 5344-318        VEHICLE PARTS: WIPER BLADES         096670          35.45

 

01-000939 ADVANCED AUTO BODY, IN I-4372               212 5344-434        REPAIR OF VEH: ADVANCED AUTO BODY,  096668         117.50

 

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098715       212 5344-321        NATURAL GAS &: WATER TREATMENT PLAN 096621       3,682.46

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098715       212 5344-321        NATURAL GAS &: SAND FILTER BLDG     096621         367.86

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098715       212 5344-321        NATURAL GAS &: SEWER PLANT OFC/LAB  096621         800.01

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098715       212 5344-321        NATURAL GAS &: SEWER PLANT SHOP     096621         985.76

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098733       212 5344-321        NATURAL GAS &: 820 S 5TH GRIT BLDG  096621         239.09

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098734       212 5344-321        NATURAL GAS &: 820 S 5TH SLUDGE BLD 096621       1,039.18

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098735       212 5344-321        NATURAL GAS &: 820 S 5TH            096621         957.84

01-001070 AMERENCIPS             I-200901098737       212 5344-321        NATURAL GAS &: 820 S 5TH            096622       1,302.88

 

01-001620 VERIZON WIRELESS       I-1952000103         212 5344-532        TELEPHONE    : MOBILES              096633         179.29

 

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12449805-1         212 5344-321        NATURAL GAS &: ENERGY CHARGES       096730       3,310.61

 

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       212 5344-321        NATURAL GAS &: 820 S 5TH PLACE      096672      15,339.53

 

01-002958 BATTERY SPECIALISTS, I I-74125              212 5344-318        VEHICLE PARTS: #548                 096674          64.95

 

01-003095 CARQUEST OF MATTOON    I-200901138787       212 5344-318        VEHICLE PARTS: REPAIRS              096682         328.97

 

01-009000 COMMERCIAL ELECTRIC    I-23902001           212 5344-433        REPAIR OF MAC: INSTALL NEW SOFT STA 096695         112.50

 

01-012925 MICKEY'S LINEN         I-200901138803       212 5344-460        OTHER PROPERT: CLEANING             096755          91.14

 

01-020602 H & H INDUSTRIES       I-532665             212 5344-366        PLANT MTCE & : H & H INDUSTRIES     096721          47.98



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    25

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 212  SEWER FUND

DEPARTMENT: 344  WASTEWATER TREATMNT PLANT

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-020602 H & H INDUSTRIES       I-534479             212 5344-366        PLANT MTCE & : H & H INDUSTRIES     096721          48.98

 

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901098731       212 5344-532        TELEPHONE    : 234-3016             096625          94.31

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901138802       212 5344-532        TELEPHONE    : 101-0939             096696          88.07

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901148831       212 5344-532        TELEPHONE    : 234-2737             096696          37.38

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901148832       212 5344-532        TELEPHONE    : 234-6828             096696          68.34

 

01-025600 ILMO PRODUCTS COMPANY  I-200901138804       212 5344-316        TOOLS & EQUIP: ILMO PRODUCTS COMPAN 096728          97.18

 

01-031402 M & M PUMP SUPPLY INC  I-532793             212 5344-366        PLANT MTCE & : BRASS STRAINER       096744          31.32

01-031402 M & M PUMP SUPPLY INC  I-533733             212 5344-366        PLANT MTCE & : STRAINER SCREEN,GASK 096744          48.25

 

01-039210 VEOLIA ES SOLID WASTE  I-F50000133812       212 5344-460        OTHER PROPERT: SLUDGE DISPOSAL      096632         302.15

 

01-039600 BEN TIRE AUTO SERVICE  I-200901138761       212 5344-434        REPAIR OF VEH: REPAIRS              096677          25.00

 

01-045505 VANDEVANTER ENGINEERIN I-1157661            212 5344-433        REPAIR OF MAC: PRIMARY WET WELL JOB 096782       3,497.65

 

01-045820 WALMART COMMUNITY BRC  I-002344             212 5344-366        PLANT MTCE & : OFFICE SUPPLIES      096786          83.28

 

01-046615 WATTS COPY SYSTEMS     I-48980              212 5344-814        COPY MACHINE : COPIER 1/8/09-2/7/09 096788          79.26

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 344   WASTEWATER TREATMNT PLANTTOTAL:      35,031.92

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-009075 CUSD #2 TRANSPORTATION I-379                212 5345-326        FUEL         : FUEL 12/1-31 PUBLIC  096701       1,937.84

 

01-043522 STAPLES CREDIT PLAN    I-8818617001         212 5345-311        OFFICE SUPPLI: OFFICE SUPPLIES      096776          87.32

01-043522 STAPLES CREDIT PLAN    I-8949108001         212 5345-311        OFFICE SUPPLI: OFFICE SUPPLIES      096776          94.99

 

01-049003 XEROX CORPORATION      I-037677967          212 5345-814        PRINT COPY MA: COPIER URR-895305    096792         325.63

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 345   ACCOUNTING & COLLECTION  TOTAL:       2,445.78

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-010118 CRITES TITLE COMPANY   I-081792             212 5346-511        PLANNING & DE: DIEPHOLZ EASEMENT    096700         140.00

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 346   ADMINISTRATIVE & GENERAL TOTAL:         140.00

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-024150 IL EPA                 I-200901148834       212 5732-817        DEBT SERVICE : WATER REVOLVING FUND 096727      17,621.53

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 732   1997 SEWR PLANT IEPA NOTETOTAL:      17,621.53

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-024150 IL EPA                 I-200901148833       212 5733-817        DEBT SERVICE : WATER REVOLVING FUND 096727     301,728.24

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 733   IEPA INSTALLMENT LOANS   TOTAL:     301,728.24

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    26

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 212  SEWER FUND

DEPARTMENT: 760  FISCAL AGENTS FEE

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-043205 SPEER FINANCIAL INC    I-D11-08/54          212 5760-817        DEBT SERVICES: SPEER FINANCIAL INC  096775          98.71

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 760   FISCAL AGENTS FEE        TOTAL:          98.71

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                                    VENDOR SET 212   SEWER FUND               TOTAL:     371,734.92



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    27

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: APBNK

FUND      : 213  CEMETERY FUND

DEPARTMENT: 361  MAINTENANCE & OPERATIONS

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-000550 ALEXANDERS AUTO PARTS  I-200901138776       213 5361-319        MISCELLANEOUS: OIL,FIX A FLAT       096670          40.40

 

01-001630 INTEGRYS ENERGY SERVIC I-12449805-1         213 5361-321        NATURAL GAS &: ENERGY CHARGES       096730           9.11

 

01-002194 AMEREN ENERGY MARKETIN I-200901148842       213 5361-321        NATURAL GAS &: 917 N 22ND           096672          41.73

 

01-003200 BIGGS ELECTRIC CO      I-022928             213 5361-432        REPAIR OF STR: BULBS                096678          24.95

 

01-023800 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICA I-200901098725       213 5361-532        TELEPHONE    : 234-2055             096625         113.57

 

01-033800 MATTOON WATER DEPT     I-200901138763       213 5361-410        UTILITY SERVI: 917 N 22ND           000000          73.75

01-033800 MATTOON WATER DEPT     I-200901158848       213 5361-410        UTILITY SERVI: N 19TH               000000           5.67

 

01-039600 BEN TIRE AUTO SERVICE  I-200901158843       213 5361-433        REPAIR OF MAC: TIRES                096677         190.80

 

01-043522 STAPLES CREDIT PLAN    I-63442              213 5361-311        OFFICE SUPPLI: OFFICE SUPPLIES      096665           1.49

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 361   MAINTENANCE & OPERATIONS TOTAL:         501.47

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                                    VENDOR SET 213   CEMETERY FUND            TOTAL:         501.47

                                                                                                 REPORT GRAND TOTAL:   1,425,510.99



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    28

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                     **  G/L ACCOUNT TOTALS  **

                                                                          =========LINE ITEM=========  =======GROUP BUDGET=======

                                                                           ANNUAL        BUDGET  OVER    ANNUAL       BUDGET OVER

YEAR      ACCOUNT             NAME                             AMOUNT      BUDGET      AVAILABLE BUDG    BUDGET    AVAILABLE BUDG

 

2008-2009 110-5110-533        CELLULAR PHONE                    150.00       2,900       1,550.00

          110-5120-311        OFFICE SUPPLIES                    26.74       5,000       3,926.13

          110-5120-519        OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICE        756.90       8,000       3,257.20

          110-5120-540        ADVERTISING                     1,811.50       2,500         496.74

          110-5120-562        TRAVEL & TRAINING                  69.86       2,000       1,104.72

          110-5120-801        VITAL RECORDS FEE REMITTAN        834.00       7,500       2,754.00

          110-5120-814        PRINT/COPY MACH. LEASE & M        327.33       4,100       1,559.97

          110-5130-561        BUSINESS MEETING EXPENSE           28.24       1,000         519.89

          110-5160-340        BOOKS & PERIODICALS               428.58       4,200         590.54

          110-5160-565        CELLULAR TELEPHONE REIMBUR        100.00       1,200         300.00

          110-5160-571        DUES & MEMBERSHIPS                185.00       1,500         143.00

          110-5160-579        OTHER PURCHASED SERVICES          270.50      11,000       1,586.85

          110-5170-311        OFFICE SUPPLIES                   201.48         200          27.54-  Y

          110-5170-340        BOOKS & PERIODICALS                20.00         250         230.00

          110-5170-852        NETWORK SECURITY SYSTEMS          534.00       5,000       4,370.20

          110-5170-854        WIDE AREA NETWORK WIRING A        176.14       2,200         614.64

          110-5190-579        MISC OTHER PURCHASED SERVI         50.00      12,500       5,625.24

          110-5211-232        POLICE PENSION CONTRIBUTIO    193,544.43     922,135      28,051.31

          110-5211-531        POSTAGE                            10.94       2,500         585.79

          110-5211-571        DUE & MEMBERSHIPS                 200.00       1,000         195.50-  Y

          110-5211-573        LAUNDRY SERVICE                    20.00         250          76.00

          110-5211-579        MISC OTHER PURCHASED SERVI        120.28       5,000       3,241.80

          110-5211-814        PRINT/COPY MACH LEASE & MA        741.70       7,000       1,724.47

          110-5212-319        MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES             93.94       4,000       1,871.74

          110-5212-579        MISC OTHER PURCHASED SERVI        149.00         750         204.70-  Y

          110-5213-319        MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES          2,088.76       6,000       1,435.34

          110-5217-330        FOOD                                6.58         400         338.47

          110-5221-562        TRAVEL & TRAINING                 362.11      22,200       6,972.94

          110-5222-311        OFFICE SUPPLIES                   192.00       1,500         659.72

          110-5222-532        TELEPHONE                       1,917.98      26,000       7,615.31

          110-5223-319        MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES             62.42       2,000       1,117.62

          110-5223-326        FUEL                            3,799.10      70,000      13,602.88

          110-5223-434        REPAIR OF VEHICLES              1,236.50      25,000         676.90-  Y

          110-5223-439        OTHER REPAIR & MAINT SRVCS        469.14         750         751.88-  Y

          110-5223-742        VEHICLES                       12,896.75      15,759      59,302.94-  Y

          110-5224-312        CLEANING SUPPLIES                 355.93       2,800         636.27

          110-5224-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC (CI      9,819.77      60,000      17,427.84

          110-5224-432        REPAIR OF BUILDINGS               692.57      15,000      11,237.09

          110-5224-435        ELEVATOR SERVICE AGREEMEN         577.78       7,300       2,442.22

          110-5233-319        MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES          4,287.00       5,000         154.73

          110-5241-233        FIREFIGHTERS PENSION CONTR    218,221.17   1,029,474      28,163.82

          110-5241-311        OFFICE SUPPLIES                   205.24       2,500       1,454.32

          110-5241-312        CLEANING SUPPLIES                 277.97       4,300       1,224.77

          110-5241-313        MEDICAL & SAFETY SUPPLIES         142.57       6,000       1,954.10

          110-5241-315        UNIFORMS & CLOTHING                92.07      15,000       8,892.82

          110-5241-316        TOOLS & EQUIPMENT                 201.14       6,000       4,883.23-  Y

          110-5241-318        VEHICLE PARTS                     176.33       6,000       2,829.92



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    29

                                                     **  G/L ACCOUNT TOTALS  **

                                                                          =========LINE ITEM=========  =======GROUP BUDGET=======

                                                                           ANNUAL        BUDGET  OVER    ANNUAL       BUDGET OVER

YEAR      ACCOUNT             NAME                             AMOUNT      BUDGET      AVAILABLE BUDG    BUDGET    AVAILABLE BUDG

 

          110-5241-319        MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES            325.17       7,500       5,707.87

          110-5241-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC          1,286.75      15,000       7,065.98

          110-5241-326        FUEL                            1,555.75      22,000       4,378.19

          110-5241-410        UTILITY SERVICES                  128.85       1,700         535.62

          110-5241-434        REPAIR OF VEHICLES              1,409.49      21,000       5,106.05

          110-5241-460        OTHER PROP MAINT SERVICES         136.91       5,000       1,099.79

          110-5241-532        TELEPHONE                         292.49       6,200       2,017.17

          110-5241-533        CELLULAR PHONE                    100.00       2,880       1,980.00

          110-5241-562        TRAVEL & TRAINING                 792.52      20,000      10,233.04

          110-5241-571        DUE & MEMBERSHIPS                 150.00       1,500         582.75

          110-5241-573        LAUNDRY SERVICES                   80.00       5,500       5,225.10

          110-5241-742        VEHICLES                       21,476.54      86,125         196.15

          110-5261-311        OFFICE SUPPLIES                   297.68         600         241.27

          110-5261-532        TELEPHONE                         232.60       2,750         578.20

          110-5261-533        CELLULAR PHONE                     43.29         750         360.39

          110-5261-564        PRIVATE VEHICLE EXP REIMB         191.37       2,000          10.28-  Y

          110-5310-814        PRINT/COPY MACH LEASE & MA        189.19       2,500         797.29

          110-5320-311        OFFICE SUPPLIES                    53.17       1,000         668.03

          110-5320-312        CLEANING SUPPLIES                 209.93       2,500       1,563.46

          110-5320-316        TOOLS AND EQUIPMENT               267.21       3,500       1,343.30

          110-5320-318        VEHICLE PARTS                     517.44      15,000       1,875.83-  Y

          110-5320-319        MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES            265.36      15,000      12,912.03

          110-5320-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC          4,131.27      15,000       3,477.70

          110-5320-326        FUEL                            1,967.85      40,000       4,491.37

          110-5320-359        OTHER STREET MAINT SUPPLIE        237.24      40,000       7,530.17

          110-5320-433        REPAIR OF MACHINERY                87.00      20,000       7,983.18

          110-5320-434        REPAIR OF VEHICLES                174.33       8,000       4,483.91

          110-5320-531        POSTAGE                            39.18         300         105.81

          110-5320-532        TELEPHONE                          88.07       5,000         959.12

          110-5320-562        TRAVEL & TRAINING                 327.60       2,000       1,319.40

          110-5320-741        MACHINERY                      21,202.38      21,395         192.97

          110-5320-742        VEHICLES                       36,806.53      22,071      31,196.64-  Y

          110-5326-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC (CI     16,052.23     170,000      68,743.84

          110-5338-421        DISPOSAL SERVICES               1,470.34      18,000         724.92

          110-5370-316        TOOLS & EQUIPMENT                  15.98       2,000       1,850.09

          110-5381-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC          1,892.71      20,000      14,686.30-  Y

          110-5381-410        UTILITY SERVICES                  167.98       2,500       1,027.34

          110-5381-435        ELEVATOR SERVICE AGREEMEN         264.43       2,600         390.54

          110-5383-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC          1,663.59       7,000       2,221.29

          110-5384-432        REPAIR OF BUILDINGS               500.35       2,000         281.29-  Y

          110-5388-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC             17.90         300         151.65

          110-5421-330        FOOD                            4,412.07       4,500         194.28-  Y

          110-5511-326        FUEL                              439.20      12,500         995.85

          110-5511-433        REPAIR OF MACHINERY               364.65       6,000       2,733.78-  Y

          110-5511-434        REPAIR OF VEHICLES                 74.56       5,000       3,832.49

          110-5511-532        TELEPHONE                          68.19       1,000         377.56

          110-5512-319        MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES            845.00         500         663.49-  Y

          110-5512-434        REPAIR OF VEHICLES                 50.28       2,500         255.21-  Y



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    30

                                                     **  G/L ACCOUNT TOTALS  **

                                                                          =========LINE ITEM=========  =======GROUP BUDGET=======

                                                                           ANNUAL        BUDGET  OVER    ANNUAL       BUDGET OVER

YEAR      ACCOUNT             NAME                             AMOUNT      BUDGET      AVAILABLE BUDG    BUDGET    AVAILABLE BUDG

 

          110-5541-319        MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES            468.02       5,000       2,352.97-  Y

          110-5541-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC          3,550.87      16,000         806.16-  Y

          110-5541-440        RENTALS                           227.50       1,500         290.00

          110-5542-319        MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES            135.72       2,500       3,329.99-  Y

          110-5542-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC (CI        347.08       4,000       2,059.49

          110-5542-410        UTILITY SERVICES                   26.58       3,000         264.02-  Y

          110-5542-424        LAWN CARE                       1,120.00       2,000       1,347.27-  Y

          110-5542-440        RENTALS                           297.50         800         475.00-  Y

          110-5551-319        MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES            135.72       2,000       1,359.66

          110-5551-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC (CI        147.20       5,300       2,637.94

          110-5552-319        MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES            185.04       2,500         513.04

          110-5552-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC (CI        262.76       4,000         539.76

          110-5553-319        MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES            135.72       2,500       2,535.45-  Y

          110-5553-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC (CI         47.98       2,500         805.07

          110-5553-440        RENTALS                           700.00       1,500         500.00

          110-5555-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC (CI         93.13         750          57.60-  Y

          110-5556-319        MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES            135.68       2,000       1,471.19

          110-5556-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC             21.25       1,500         208.39

          110-5561-322        ELECTRICITY                       322.90       9,000       2,214.32

          110-5561-410        UTILITY SERVICES                   12.00       3,500         279.00-  Y

          110-5562-313        MEDICAL & SAFETY SUPPLIES          20.00         100          30.18-  Y

          110-5562-319        MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES            102.88       2,000       1,442.22

          110-5562-322        ELECTRICITY                       126.00      12,500       4,333.42

          110-5562-410        UTILITY SERVICES                   12.00       3,500       1,974.25

          110-5562-440        RENTALS                           350.00       1,500       1,150.00

          110-5563-322        ELECTRICITY                       292.41       4,000       1,448.55

          110-5563-410        UTILITY SERVICES                   12.00       4,000       3,134.36

          110-5563-532        TELEPHONE                          57.34         800         275.55

          110-5563-576        SECURITY SERVICES                  45.00         800         395.00

          110-5564-410        UTILITY SERVICES                   12.00         200         104.00

          110-5564-432        REPAIR OF BUILDINGS                67.21       1,000         675.53

          110-5651-519        OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICE        540.00      87,000      52,545.20

          110-5651-571        DUES & MEMBERSHIPS              5,000.00      60,000      15,000.00

          110-5716-817        SERIES 2003 LIBRARY REFUND     73,419.62      81,485       3,040.38

          110-5752-817        DEBT SERVICES                   1,288.89      15,467       3,866.99

          110-5760-817        FISCAL AGENT'S FEE                383.86       1,500       1,116.14

          110-5912-822        TRANSFER TO LIBRARY FUND       93,183.05     410,000       5,095.36

          122-5653-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC (CI         99.56         850          65.11

          122-5653-532        TELEPHONE                           5.13       2,500         957.51

          122-5653-533        CELLULAR PHONE                     43.29         750         114.29

          122-5653-561        BUSINESS MEETING EXPENSE          930.43       1,500         110.60

          122-5653-572        COMMUNITY PROMOTION & RELA        270.00       1,000      26,663.33-  Y

          123-5581-561        BUSINESS MEETING EXPENSE          107.00         500         393.00

          123-5584-561        BUSINESS MEETING EXPENSE           22.45         300         643.87-  Y

          123-5586-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC            484.58       2,750       2,042.42

          123-5586-540        ADVERTISING                     2,220.50       3,000       2,007.85-  Y

          125-5150-240        UNEMPLOYMENT COMP.                337.07      24,000      20,016.93

          125-5150-250        WORKERS' COMPENSATION         121,338.50     520,187     120,190.50



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    31

                                                     **  G/L ACCOUNT TOTALS  **

                                                                          =========LINE ITEM=========  =======GROUP BUDGET=======

                                                                           ANNUAL        BUDGET  OVER    ANNUAL       BUDGET OVER

YEAR      ACCOUNT             NAME                             AMOUNT      BUDGET      AVAILABLE BUDG    BUDGET    AVAILABLE BUDG

 

          125-5150-523        PROPERTY & CASUALTY INSURA     84,703.25     238,461     153,200.75

          128-5800-821        SHARED INCREMENT (20%)         23,025.25      34,000       4,503.34

          130-5385-720        CULTURE AND RECREATION             45.00           0         630.00-  Y

          211-4931-021        SALE OF CAPITAL*NON-EXPENS      7,087.67     450,000-     19,650.26-

          211-5351-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC            128.41      28,000      15,325.61

          211-5353-314        CHEMICALS                      15,287.40     260,000      66,327.90

          211-5353-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC          3,238.14      12,000       5,794.35

          211-5353-432        REPAIR OF STRUCTURES            5,500.00      36,000       6,014.00

          211-5353-434        REPAIR OF VEHICLES                 42.81         250         174.33

          211-5353-435        ELEVATOR SERVICE AGREEMENT        210.09       2,500         733.59

          211-5353-460        OTHER PROPERTY MAINT. SERV        165.63           0       1,687.89-  Y

          211-5353-519        OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICE      1,609.00      22,000      12,643.00

          211-5353-531        POSTAGE                            39.56         600         175.53

          211-5353-532        TELEPHONE                         206.95       2,500         584.90

          211-5353-730        IMPROVEMENTS OTHER THAN BL        272.50           0       4,381.43-  Y

          211-5354-319        MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES            160.15       1,500         703.67

          211-5354-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC          4,153.47      55,000      24,774.27

          211-5354-363        BACKFILL & SURFACE MATERIA        552.25      15,000      10,450.75

          211-5354-379        OTHER WATER MAINT. MATERIA        108.94      10,000       7,737.07-  Y

          211-5354-440        RENTALS                            45.00       2,000         618.50

          211-5354-730        IMPROVEMENTS OTHER THAN BL        420.00     187,140     174,506.13

          211-5354-742        VEHICLES                        9,041.16      66,064      50,082.29

          211-5355-311        OFFICE SUPPLIES                   182.31       6,000       2,455.37

          211-5355-318        VEHICLE PARTS                       9.32         600          12.16

          211-5355-326        FUEL                            1,937.85      30,000       5,905.12-  Y

          211-5355-815        POSTAGE METER LEASE & MAIN        369.99           0         824.98-  Y

          211-5356-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC          1,340.64      20,000       9,459.52

          211-5356-511        PLANNING & DESIGN SERVICES      1,125.00      25,000      13,555.50

          211-5356-562        TRAVEL & TRAINING                  75.00       3,000       2,421.00

          211-5356-565        CELLULAR PHONE EXPENSE REI         50.00         600         150.00

          211-5356-579        MISC. OTHER PURCHASED SERV         90.20         500          17.35-  Y

          211-5760-817        DEBT SERVICES                     614.18       1,500         885.82

          212-5342-316        TOOLS & EQUIPMENT                  47.98       2,200         925.07

          212-5342-318        VEHICLE PARTS                     575.79       6,000       4,296.72-  Y

          212-5342-319        MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES             83.87

          212-5342-362        MANHOLES CASINGS & LIDS         1,203.72       6,000         933.08

          212-5342-363        BACKFILL & SURFACE MATERIA      3,722.00      19,000       3,381.70-  Y

          212-5342-369        OTHER SEWER MTCE SUPPLIES         247.84      10,000       4,187.87

          212-5342-730        IMPROVEMENTS OTHER THAN BL      1,026.03     110,000      64,926.56

          212-5342-740        MACHINERY & EQUIPMENT           5,780.83     262,774     190,325.73

          212-5343-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC (AM      1,511.72      23,000       6,872.99

          212-5343-323        BOTTLED GAS                       363.52         600         236.48

          212-5343-365        LIFT STATION REPAIR MATERI         40.44      20,000      12,439.03

          212-5343-433        REPAIR OF MACHINERY                65.00       7,000       2,858.66

          212-5344-316        TOOLS & EQUIPMENT                  97.18      35,000      20,569.52

          212-5344-318        VEHICLE PARTS                     429.37       1,500         136.63

          212-5344-319        MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES            193.75      19,500      14,375.26

          212-5344-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC (AM     28,025.22     325,000     140,633.63



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    32

                                                     **  G/L ACCOUNT TOTALS  **

                                                                          =========LINE ITEM=========  =======GROUP BUDGET=======

                                                                           ANNUAL        BUDGET  OVER    ANNUAL       BUDGET OVER

YEAR      ACCOUNT             NAME                             AMOUNT      BUDGET      AVAILABLE BUDG    BUDGET    AVAILABLE BUDG

 

          212-5344-366        PLANT MTCE & REPAIR MATERI      1,593.81      40,000      14,084.04

          212-5344-433        REPAIR OF MACHINERY             3,610.15      85,000      55,207.13

          212-5344-434        REPAIR OF VEHICLES                142.50       5,000         750.51

          212-5344-460        OTHER PROPERTY MTCE SERVIC        393.29      25,000       5,434.97-  Y

          212-5344-532        TELEPHONE                         467.39       6,000       1,913.79

          212-5344-814        COPY MACHINE                       79.26       1,000         377.83

          212-5345-311        OFFICE SUPPLIES                   182.31       5,500       2,263.92

          212-5345-326        FUEL                            1,937.84      40,000       5,507.05

          212-5345-814        PRINT COPY MACHINE LEASE &        325.63         200       1,121.15-  Y

          212-5346-511        PLANNING & DESIGN SERVICES        140.00       1,000         279.15-  Y

          212-5732-817        DEBT SERVICE                   17,621.53      35,243           0.06-  Y

          212-5733-817        DEBT SERVICE                  301,728.24     603,456           0.48-  Y

          212-5760-817        DEBT SERVICES                      98.71       1,500       1,401.29

          213-5361-311        OFFICE SUPPLIES                     1.49       1,000         724.13

          213-5361-319        MISCELLANEOUS SUPPLIES             40.40       3,000       2,096.12

          213-5361-321        NATURAL GAS & ELECTRIC             50.84       2,000         702.46

          213-5361-410        UTILITY SERVICES                   79.42       1,000         521.27

          213-5361-432        REPAIR OF STRUCTURES               24.95         500         475.05

          213-5361-433        REPAIR OF MACHINERY               190.80       2,000         520.62-  Y

          213-5361-532        TELEPHONE                         113.57       2,500       1,244.01

                                TOTAL:                    1,425,510.99

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                     **  DEPARTMENT TOTALS  **

                      ACCT                  NAME                                                AMOUNT

 

                    110-110                 CITY COUNCIL                                        150.00

                    110-120                 CITY CLERK                                        3,826.33

                    110-130                 CITY ADMINISTRATOR                                   28.24

                    110-160                 LEGAL SERVICES                                      984.08

                    110-170                 COMPUTER INFO SYSTEMS                               931.62

                    110-190                 COUNCIL CONTINGENCY                                  50.00

                    110-211                 POLICE ADMINISTRATION                           194,637.35

                    110-212                 CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION                              242.94

                    110-213                 PATROL                                            2,088.76

                    110-217                 CUSTODY OF PRISONERS                                  6.58

                    110-221                 POLICE TRAINING                                     362.11

                    110-222                 COMMUNICATION SERVICES                            2,109.98

                    110-223                 AUTOMOTIVE SERVICES                              18,463.91

                    110-224                 POLICE BUILDINGS                                 11,446.05

                    110-233                 DUI ASSESSMENT EXPENDS                            4,287.00

                    110-241                 FIRE PROTECTION ADMIN.                          247,050.96

                    110-261                 CODE ENFORCEMENT ADMIN                              764.94

                    110-310                 PUBLIC WORKS ADMIN                                  189.19



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    33

                                                     **  DEPARTMENT TOTALS  **

                      ACCT                  NAME                                                AMOUNT

 

                    110-320                 STREETS                                          66,374.56

                    110-326                 STREET LIGHTING                                  16,052.23

                    110-338                 REFUSE COLLECT & DISPOSAL                         1,470.34

                    110-370                 CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION                              15.98

                    110-381                 CUSTODIAL SERVICES                                2,325.12

                    110-383                 BURGESS OSBORNE                                   1,663.59

                    110-384                 RAILROAD DEPOT                                      500.35

                    110-388                 GARMENT FACTORY                                      17.90

                    110-421                 COUNCIL ON AGING                                  4,412.07

                    110-511                 PARK ADMINISTRATION                                 946.60

                    110-512                 LAKE ADMINISTRATION                                 895.28

                    110-541                 PETERSON PARK                                     4,246.39

                    110-542                 LAWSON PARK                                       1,926.88

                    110-551                 BOYS COMPLEX                                        282.92

                    110-552                 GIRLS COMPLEX                                       447.80

                    110-553                 JR FOOTBALL COMPLEX                                 883.70

                    110-555                 KINZEL FIELD                                         93.13

                    110-556                 T-BALL COMPLEX                                      156.93

                    110-561                 EAST CAMPGROUND                                     334.90

                    110-562                 WEST CAMPGROUND                                     610.88

                    110-563                 MARINA AREA                                         406.75

                    110-564                 BEACH AREA                                           79.21

                    110-651                 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT                              5,540.00

                    110-716                 GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS                         73,419.62

                    110-752                 KAL KAN WTR/SWR EXT                               1,288.89

                    110-760                 FISCAL AGENT'S FEE                                  383.86

                    110-912                 INTRFND TRNSFRS - LIBRARY                        93,183.05

                    -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                    110  TOTAL              GENERAL FUND                                    765,578.97

                    122-653                 HOTEL TAX ADMINISTRATION                          1,348.41

                    -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                    122  TOTAL              HOTEL TAX FUND                                    1,348.41

                    123-581                 FESTIVAL ADMINISTRATION                             107.00

                    123-584                 BAGELFEST                                            22.45

                    123-586                 LIGHTWORKS                                        2,705.08

                    -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                    123  TOTAL              FESTIVAL MGMT FUND                                2,834.53

                    125-150                 FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION                        206,378.82

                    -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                    125  TOTAL              INSURANCE & TORT JDGMNT                         206,378.82

                    128-800                 SHARED INCREMENT                                 23,025.25

                    -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                    128  TOTAL              MIDTOWN TIF FUND                                 23,025.25

                    130-385                 CULTURE & RECREATION                                 45.00

                    -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                    130  TOTAL              CAPITAL PROJECT FUND                                 45.00

                    211                     NON-DEPARTMENTAL                                  7,087.67



 1/16/2009  8:57 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:    34

                                                     **  DEPARTMENT TOTALS  **

                      ACCT                  NAME                                                AMOUNT

 

                    211-351                 RESERVOIRS & WTR SOURCES                            128.41

                    211-353                 WATER TREATMENT PLANT                            26,572.08

                    211-354                 WATER DISTRIBUTION                               14,480.97

                    211-355                 ACCOUNTING & COLLECTION                           2,499.47

                    211-356                 ADMINISTRATIVE & GENERAL                          2,680.84

                    211-760                 FISCAL AGENTS FEE                                   614.18

                    -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                    211  TOTAL              WATER FUND                                       54,063.62

                    212                     NON-DEPARTMENTAL                                     83.87

                    212-342                 SEWER COLLECTION SYSTEM                          12,604.19

                    212-343                 SEWER LIFT STATIONS                               1,980.68

                    212-344                 WASTEWATER TREATMNT PLANT                        35,031.92

                    212-345                 ACCOUNTING & COLLECTION                           2,445.78

                    212-346                 ADMINISTRATIVE & GENERAL                            140.00

                    212-732                 1997 SEWR PLANT IEPA NOTE                        17,621.53

                    212-733                 IEPA INSTALLMENT LOANS                          301,728.24

                    212-760                 FISCAL AGENTS FEE                                    98.71

                    -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                    212  TOTAL              SEWER FUND                                      371,734.92

                    213-361                 MAINTENANCE & OPERATIONS                            501.47

                    -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                    213  TOTAL              CEMETERY FUND                                       501.47

                    -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                            ** TOTAL **                   1,425,510.99

    NO ERRORS



 1/16/2009  9:05 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:     1

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: MFTBK

FUND      : 121  MOTOR FUEL TAX FUND

DEPARTMENT: 321  STREETS

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-035154 MID-ILLINOIS CONCRETE  I-85334              121 5321-351        CONCRETE     : CURB & GUTTER        096798         693.00

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 321   STREETS                  TOTAL:         693.00

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-037100 NORTH AMERICAN SALT CO I-70297681           121 5325-354        ICE REMOVAL C: SALT                 096799       7,458.68

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 325   SNOW & ICE REMOVAL       TOTAL:       7,458.68

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-001467 COADY SUPPLY CO., INC. I-95775              121 5328-358        PIPE         : COADY SUPPLY CO., IN 096797       2,659.56

01-001467 COADY SUPPLY CO., INC. I-95790              121 5328-358        PIPE         : COADY SUPPLY CO., IN 096797         506.24

01-001467 COADY SUPPLY CO., INC. I-95826              121 5328-358        PIPE         : COADY SUPPLY CO., IN 096797       1,428.00

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 328   STORM DRAINAGE           TOTAL:       4,593.80

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                                    VENDOR SET 121   MOTOR FUEL TAX FUND      TOTAL:      12,745.48

                                                                                                 REPORT GRAND TOTAL:      12,745.48



 1/16/2009  9:05 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:     2

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                     **  G/L ACCOUNT TOTALS  **

                                                                          =========LINE ITEM=========  =======GROUP BUDGET=======

                                                                           ANNUAL        BUDGET  OVER    ANNUAL       BUDGET OVER

YEAR      ACCOUNT             NAME                             AMOUNT      BUDGET      AVAILABLE BUDG    BUDGET    AVAILABLE BUDG

 

2008-2009 121-5321-351        CONCRETE                          693.00       9,000       2,773.27-  Y

          121-5325-354        ICE REMOVAL CHEMICALS           7,458.68      13,000       1,812.22-  Y

          121-5328-358        PIPE                            4,593.80       7,500       1,821.56-  Y

                                TOTAL:                       12,745.48

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                     **  DEPARTMENT TOTALS  **

                      ACCT                  NAME                                                AMOUNT

 

                    121-321                 STREETS                                             693.00

                    121-325                 SNOW & ICE REMOVAL                                7,458.68

                    121-328                 STORM DRAINAGE                                    4,593.80

                    -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                    121  TOTAL              MOTOR FUEL TAX FUND                              12,745.48

                    -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                            ** TOTAL **                      12,745.48

    NO ERRORS



 1/16/2009  9:04 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:     1

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: EHBNK

FUND      : 221  HEALTH INSURANCE FUND

DEPARTMENT: N/A  NON-DEPARTMENTAL

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-002193 WILLIAM R. BASHAM      I-200901098719       221 4721-021        RETIREE CONTR: REIMB DEPENDENT INSU 096634          91.79

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT       NON-DEPARTMENTAL         TOTAL:          91.79

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-000222 CERIDIAN               I-331364550          221 5412-211        HEALTH PLAN A: DEC 08 COBRA         096794          35.69

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 412   HEALTH PLAN ADMIN        TOTAL:          35.69

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-000236 PERSONAL CARE          I-200901138785       221 5413-211        MEDICAL CLAIM: HEALTH CLAIMS 12/31/ 000000       9,988.56

01-000236 PERSONAL CARE          I-200901138786       221 5413-211        MEDICAL CLAIM: PERSONAL CARE        000000      66,844.39

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 413   MEDICAL CLAIMS           TOTAL:      76,832.95

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-000236 PERSONAL CARE          I-200901138785       221 5414-211        RX CLAIMS    : HEALTH CLAIMS 12/31/ 000000      18,820.86

01-000236 PERSONAL CARE          I-200901138786       221 5414-211        RX CLAIMS    : PERSONAL CARE        000000       9,580.37

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 414   RX CLAIMS                TOTAL:      28,401.23

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-001982 FORT DEARBORN LIFE INS I-200901138778       221 5417-212        LIFE INSURANC: LIFE INS 1/09        096796       2,423.26

 

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 417   LIFE INSURANCE           TOTAL:       2,423.26

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

01-000237 FLEXIBLE SPENDING CLEA I-200901148835       221 5418-212        SECTION 125 B: FSA FEE JAN 09       096795          96.00

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 418   SECTION 125 PLAN         TOTAL:          96.00

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                                    VENDOR SET 221   HEALTH INSURANCE FUND    TOTAL:     107,880.92

                                                                                                 REPORT GRAND TOTAL:     107,880.92



 1/16/2009  9:04 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:     2

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                     **  G/L ACCOUNT TOTALS  **

                                                                          =========LINE ITEM=========  =======GROUP BUDGET=======

                                                                           ANNUAL        BUDGET  OVER    ANNUAL       BUDGET OVER

YEAR      ACCOUNT             NAME                             AMOUNT      BUDGET      AVAILABLE BUDG    BUDGET    AVAILABLE BUDG

 

2008-2009 221-4721-021        RETIREE CONTRIB*NON-EXPENS         91.79     220,000-     76,261.20-

          221-5412-211        HEALTH PLAN ADMINISTRATION         35.69     162,500      70,599.95

          221-5413-211        MEDICAL CLAIMS                 76,832.95   1,150,000      28,106.82

          221-5414-211        RX CLAIMS                      28,401.23     464,500     162,945.24

          221-5417-212        LIFE INSURANCE                  2,423.26      32,500      12,802.97

          221-5418-212        SECTION 125 BENEFIT PLAN A         96.00       1,000         232.00

                                TOTAL:                      107,880.92

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                     **  DEPARTMENT TOTALS  **

                      ACCT                  NAME                                                AMOUNT

 

                    221                     NON-DEPARTMENTAL                                     91.79

                    221-412                 HEALTH PLAN ADMIN                                    35.69

                    221-413                 MEDICAL CLAIMS                                   76,832.95

                    221-414                 RX CLAIMS                                        28,401.23

                    221-417                 LIFE INSURANCE                                    2,423.26

                    221-418                 SECTION 125 PLAN                                     96.00

                    -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                    221  TOTAL              HEALTH INSURANCE FUND                           107,880.92

                    -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                            ** TOTAL **                     107,880.92

    NO ERRORS



 1/16/2009  9:03 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:     1

VENDOR SET: 01   CITY OF MATTOON                                                                                        BANK: DDBNK

FUND      : 221  HEALTH INSURANCE FUND

DEPARTMENT: 415  DENTAL CLAIMS

INVOICE DATE RANGE:  1/01/1998 THRU 99/99/9999

PAY DATE RANGE:      1/01/2009 THRU  1/15/2009

BUDGET TO USE:      CB-CURRENT BUDGET

VENDOR    NAME                   ITEM #               G/L ACCOUNT         NAME           DESCRIPTION          CHECK #        AMOUNT

====================================================================================================================================

01-000276 DELTA DENTAL           I-200901138770       221 5415-211        DENTAL CLAIMS: DELTA DENTAL         000000       1,228.81

01-000276 DELTA DENTAL           I-200901138794       221 5415-211        DENTAL CLAIMS: DELTA DENTAL         000000       3,645.76

                                                                    DEPARTMENT 415   DENTAL CLAIMS            TOTAL:       4,874.57

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                                    VENDOR SET 221   HEALTH INSURANCE FUND    TOTAL:       4,874.57

                                                                                                 REPORT GRAND TOTAL:       4,874.57



 1/16/2009  9:03 AM                               REGULAR DEPARTMENT PAYMENT REPORT                                     PAGE:     2

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                     **  G/L ACCOUNT TOTALS  **

                                                                          =========LINE ITEM=========  =======GROUP BUDGET=======

                                                                           ANNUAL        BUDGET  OVER    ANNUAL       BUDGET OVER

YEAR      ACCOUNT             NAME                             AMOUNT      BUDGET      AVAILABLE BUDG    BUDGET    AVAILABLE BUDG

 

2008-2009 221-5415-211        DENTAL CLAIMS                   4,874.57      82,500      15,247.35

                                TOTAL:                        4,874.57

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                     **  DEPARTMENT TOTALS  **

                      ACCT                  NAME                                                AMOUNT

 

                    221-415                 DENTAL CLAIMS                                     4,874.57

                    -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                    221  TOTAL              HEALTH INSURANCE FUND                             4,874.57

                    -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                            ** TOTAL **                       4,874.57

    NO ERRORS



 1-09-2009 11:22 AM                               REFUND CHECK REGISTER                                                  PAGE:    1

Packet: 13660 - Refunds From Zone zz                                                                 G/L POSTING DATE:  1/09/2009

 

                                                                                        ----------DEPOSIT----------

---ACCOUNT---- ------------NAME----------- --DATE-- ----TYPE----- -CK #- ----AMOUNT---- CODE -RECEIPT-- --AMOUNT--- ----MESSAGE-----

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

03-14900-13     MCMILLAN, ROBERT M          1/09/09 FINAL BILL     96635        14.47CR  100 34069          60.00CR

14-02200-06     STERLING, CHRISTEN V        1/09/09 FINAL BILL     96636        41.47CR  100 32308          60.00CR

14-16610-09     ALLEN, SHANNON E            1/09/09 FINAL BILL     96637        58.64CR  100 33280          60.00CR

21-01400-02     HOWARD, CHARLES& JANICE     1/09/09 FINAL BILL     96638        53.84CR  100 33852          60.00CR

26-12000-05     METZGER, MARK E             1/09/09 FINAL BILL     96639        40.26CR  100 29960          60.00CR

26-21900-09     BEESON, NATHAN T            1/09/09 FINAL BILL     96640        56.96CR  100 30731          60.00CR

34-01900-07     TACHE, GEORGIA S            1/09/09 FINAL BILL     96641        13.07CR  100 33249          60.00CR



 1-09-2009 11:24 AM                               REFUND CHECK REGISTER                                                  PAGE:    1

Packet: 13723 - Refunds:  1/08/2009                                                                  G/L POSTING DATE:  1/09/2009

 

                                                                                        ----------DEPOSIT----------

---ACCOUNT---- ------------NAME----------- --DATE-- ----TYPE----- -CK #- ----AMOUNT---- CODE -RECEIPT-- --AMOUNT--- ----MESSAGE-----

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

05-10310-11     HAYCRAFT, GLENDA J          1/09/09 DEMAND RETURN  96642        60.00CR  100 33634          60.00CR



  

NEW BUSINESS: 
City of Mattoon 

Council Decision Request 

MEETING DATE: 01/20/09  CDR NO: 2009-930   
 
SUBJECT:  Accepting two quotes from Dean Drainage to replace two culverts 

on West Lake Paradise Road  
 
SUBMITTAL DATE:  1/8/09 
 
SUBMITTED BY: David Wortman, Public Works Director 
 
APPROVED FOR  Alan Gilmore    _________________ 
COUNCIL AGENDA: City Administrator   Date 

 
EXHIBITS (If applicable): Aerial showing locations of the culvert replacements 

Two quotes from Dean Drainage 

EXPENDITURE   AMOUNT   CONTINGENCY FUNDING 
ESTIMATE: $ 13,167.40 BUDGETED: $500.00 REQUIRED: $12,667.40 

 
IF IT IS THE WISH OF THE COUNCIL TO SUPPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT, THE FOLLOWING MOTION IS SUGGESTED: 
 

“I move to accept two quotes from Dean Drainage totaling $13,167.40 
for the replacement of two culverts on West Lake Paradise Road.” 

 

SUMMARY OF THE TOPIC FOR WHICH A COUNCIL DECISION IS REQUESTED: 
  

There are two existing bridge structures on West Lake Paradise Road that do not meet IDOT 
standards and need to be replaced. We have closed the road at the north culvert which is created 
an inconvenience for the residents on the west side of the lake. 
 
The city has requested quotes for their replacement from AJ Walker and Dean Drainage. Dean 
Drainage submitted the lower price for the work. (See attached quote.) 
 
Approving this CDR will allow us to move forward with the replacement of these two structures. 
The line item the repairs will be paid out of is Reservoir and Sources of Supply-Other Property 
Maintenance Services (211-5351-460). There was only $500 budgeted in this line item. There 
will be deficit spending in the line item of $12,667.40. 



  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 







  

CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2009-2764 
 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING A GRANT FROM THE ILLINOIS HOUSING 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY’S RETROFIT PROGRAM, RET-50024. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Illinois Housing Development Authority (the “Authority”), has agreed 
to allocate funds (the “Grant”) to the City of Mattoon (the “Sub-Grantee”) to make grants to 
certain households for the installation of energy efficiency measures under the Authority’s Low 
Income Energy Efficient Residential Retrofit Program (the “Program”), and the Sub-Grantee will 
administer the funds allocated pursuant to such Grant, and the Sub-Grantee’s execution of certain 
documents, including but not limited to the Grant Agreement (the “Agreement”), is required in 
connection with the Grant. 
 
 THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Sub-Grantee shall enter into the 
Agreement with the Authority wherein the Authority agrees to make the Grant to the Sub-
Grantee, which shall be used by the Sub-Grantee to lend funds to eligible households for the 
installation of energy efficiency measures in single family owner-occupied homes, all in 
accordance with the terms and conditions as set forth in the Agreement. 
 
 FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Mayor of the Sub-Grantee, and the City Clerk of the 
Sub-Grantee, are hereby authorized and empowered to execute and deliver in the name of or on 
behalf of the Sub-Grantee the Agreement and any and all amendments, modifications and 
supplements thereto, and to execute and deliver such additional documents, instruments and 
certificates, as may be necessary or desirable for the Sub-Grantee to perform its obligations 
under the Agreement. 
 
 FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Mayor and the City Clerk be and hereby are 
authorized and directed to take such additional actions, to make further determinations, to pay 
such costs and to execute and deliver such additional instruments (including any amendments, 
agreements or supplements) as he or she deems necessary or appropriate to carry into effect the 
foregoing resolutions. 
 
 FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Sub-Grantee hereby ratifies, authorizes and confirms 
and approves all documents and instruments executed in connection with the Grant and the 
Agreement, including those acts taken prior to the date hereof. 
 
Upon motion by    , seconded by     , 
adopted this    day of    , 2009, by a roll call vote, as follows: 
 
AYES (Names):           
           
           
NAYS (Names):          
ABSENT (Names):         
      
Approved this     day of    , 2009.  
 
 
             



  

      David W. Cline, Mayor 
      City of Mattoon, Coles County, Illinois  
 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
Susan J. O’Brien, City Clerk    J. Preston Owen, City Attorney 
 
Recorded in the Municipality’s Records on       , 2009. 



























































  

CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2009 - 2765 
 

A RESOLUTION CONCERNING A DANGEROUS BUILDING 
 
WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City Council for the City of Mattoon , Coles County, Illinois, 
to remove unsafe and unsightly buildings or to require the owners to repair them; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the building located at 612 Wabash Avenue, Mattoon, Illinois has deteriorated to 
the point that it is in and unreasonably dangerous and unsafe condition. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council for the City of Mattoon, Coles 
County, Illinois, that  
 
Section 1.  The recitals set forth above are incorporated herein as part of this Resolution. 
 
Section 2. The building located at 612 Wabash Avenue is dangerous and should be condemned. 
 
Section 3. The City Attorney & Treasurer and Community Development Coordinator hereby are 
instructed to take whatever steps necessary to demolish or cause to be repaired the building at 
612 Wabash Avenue, Mattoon, including bringing an appropriate lawsuit in the Coles County 
Circuit Court against the owners compelling the repair and/or demolition thereof.     
 
Upon motion by ______________________, seconded by ________________________, 
adopted this    day of ___________________, 2009, by a roll call vote, as follows: 
 
AYES (Names):   __________________________________________ 
   __________________________________________ 
   __________________________________________ 
NAYS (Names):  __________________________________________ 
ABSENT (Names): __________________________________________ 
       
Approved this         day of   , 2009. 
 
 
             
       David W. Cline, Mayor 
       City of Mattoon, Coles County, Illinois  
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
             
Susan J. O’Brien, City Clerk     J. Preston Owen, City Attorney & Treasurer 

 

Recorded in the Municipality’s Records on       , 2009. 



  

City of Mattoon 
Council Decision Request 

MEETING DATE:  01-20-09     CDR NO: 2009-931          SUBJECT: Tourism Grants 
   

SUBMITTAL DATE:  1-15-09 
 
SUBMITTED BY: Angelia Burgett, Tourism Coordinator 
 
EXHIBITS (If applicable): Grant Applications 
            

EXPENDITURE   AMOUNT   CONTINGENCY FUNDING 
ESTIMATE:    $23,000 BUDGETED:  $80,000 REQUIRED:  N/A 

 
IF IT IS THE WISH OF THE COUNCIL TO SUPPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 
CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT, THE FOLLOWING MOTION IS SUGGESTED: 
 
I move to approve this grant recommended by the Tourism Committee from Hotel and Motel 
Taxes: 
 

• Mattoon Pride Softball, Inc. is requesting $23,000 total for hosting five 2009 softball tournaments  
for the following dates: 

o ASA Season Opener    April 4-5 
o National Jr. College Assoc. Region 24  May 7-9 
o Mattoon Pride Memorial Day Classic  May 23-4 
o Mattoon NSA World Series Qualifier  June 5-7 
o Mattoon Bagelfest Tournament   July 17-19 

 
 
SUMMARY OF THE TOPIC FOR WHICH A COUNCIL DECISION IS REQUESTED: 
 
This application was considered and approved by the Tourism Advisory Committee at a meeting 
held November 12, 2008.  
 
The total requested includes $6,000.00 in field preparation costs to be separately disbursed to the 
Mattoon Parks Department making the disbursement to the Mattoon Pride $17,000.00. 
 

















  

City of Mattoon 
Council Decision Request 

MEETING DATE:   1/20/2009 CDR NO: 2009-932        
 
SUBJECT:  12/10/08 TIF&BD Incentive Review Committee Recommendations      
 
SUBMITTAL DATE:  1/13/2009 
 
SUBMITTED BY:                Alan Gilmore, City Administrator 
 
EXHIBITS (If applicable):   Midtown TIF funding obligation spreadsheet   
             

EXPENDITURE         AMOUNT   CONTINGENCY FUNDING 
ESTIMATE: FY‘10 $5,400          BUDGETED: N/A            REQUIRED: N/A         

 
IF IT IS THE WISH OF THE COUNCIL TO SUPPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 
CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT, THE FOLLOWING MOTION IS SUGGESTED: 

 
I Mayor David W. Cline move to accept the recommendation of the TIF and BD Incentive 
Review Committee for the following project.   

 
SUMMARY OF THE TOPIC FOR WHICH A COUNCIL DECISION IS REQUESTED: 
 

1. Thomas Rogers Jr. and Barbara J. Rogers; P.O. Box 1073; Yarnell, AZ 85362; owners of a 
building located at 1406 Broadway; leased to Melanie Colbert dba: Club Oasis  

 
This application submitted by Thomas Rogers Jr. and Barbara J. Rogers for a roof replacement project on 
the building located at 1406 Broadway.  The Rogers’ are requesting an Emergency Structural Repairs 
grant in the amount of $7,200 which are funded at 75% of their total project costs.  The lease with 
Melanie Colbert has been extended and is in effect through year 2013. 
 
The Rogers’ have a quote from Double R Roofing in the amount of $7,200.00 which is for a new roof 
over the existing roof.  The TIF & BD Incentive Review Committee recommends a 75% Emergency 
Structural Repairs Grant in the amount of $5,400 to be paid after receiving the final Mid-town 
Incremental Property Tax distribution in Calendar Year 2009 and upon the satisfactory completion of the 
work as described in the proposals. 
 
    



2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Annual TIF Dispersed --> $1,000 53,708.74$ 14,297.51$    52,548.52$   74,169.02$   110,207      110,522      93,047        93,047        93,047        90,921        88,102        

Annual TIF Increment --> $26,281 85,954.66$ 150,208.26$  127,077.00$  147,483.33$ 

Address Business Name Date Applicant Description Project Total 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Fiscal Year 2005

1713-1721 Marion Ave 12-Dec-04 Rob Perry Relocate Fire Hydrant 1,000$              1,000$        

Fiscal Year 2006

Lake Land Blvd D&H Associates, L.L.C 22-Jun-05 Mark Dust Demolition Grant 36,000$             4,000$          4,000$          4,000$        4,000$        4,000$        4,000$        4,000$        4,000$        4,000$        

1510 Broadway Freesmeier Chiropractic 8-Jun-05 Dr. Friesemeyer Façade/Structural 47,000$             9,400$           9,400$          9,400$          9,400$        9,400$        

1821 Broadway C.J's Club 18-Oct-05 Helen Johnson Façade/Structural 5,351$              3,709$        1,643$           

1410 Broadway 1-Dec-05 Tony Eaton Building Renovation 50,000$             50,000$      

Fiscal Year 2007

1412 Broadway Broadway Beef Café 18-Jul Tony Eaton Façade/Structural 45,000$             5,000$          5,000$          5,000$        5,000$        5,000$        5,000$        5,000$        5,000$        5,000$        

1412 Broadway Broadway Beef Café 18-Jul-06 Tony Eaton Interest Subsidy 13,500$             1,500$          1,500$          1,500$        1,500$        1,500$        1,500$        1,500$        1,500$        1,500$        

1424 Broadway Jul-06 John Chevas Structural Repairs 3,255$              3,255$           

1414 Broadway Jeleniz Jul-06 Jeff Eaton Façade/Structural 38,620$             3,862$          3,862$          3,862$        3,862$        3,862$        3,862$        3,862$        3,862$        3,862$        

1609 Broadway Sound Source Music 6-Feb-07 Mike Kallis Architectural 5,000$              5,000$          

1608 Broadway Merle Norman Cosmetic 6-Feb-07 Renee England Façade 2,000$              2,000$          

1628 Broadway Jack and Bills Clothing 20-Feb-07 Steve Hardin Façade/Structural 38,186$             3,819$          3,819$          3,819$        3,819$        3,819$        3,819$        3,819$        3,819$        3,819$        

604 Lake Land Blvd. Spin Doctor Car Wash Apr-07 Meyer/Wortman Demolition/Utilities 46,000$             4,600$          4,600$        4,600$        4,600$        4,600$        4,600$        4,600$        4,600$        

Fiscal Year 2008

1601 Broadway Warner's Office Equipment 15-May-07 Janice Moritz Façade/Structural 5,000$              5,000$          

1321 Broadway EZ Parcel 15-May-07 Nathan Burton Engineering 5,000$              5,000$          

1400 - 1404 Broadway Sanders' Real Estate 15-May-07 Cory Sanders Façade/Structural 54,680$             5,468$          5,468$          5,468$        5,468$        5,468$        5,468$        5,468$        5,468$        5,468$        

1321 Broadway EZ Parcel 7-Aug-07 Nathan Burton Storm water Detention 7,500$              2,500$          2,500$          2,500$        

1400-04 Broadway Sanders' Real Estate 7-Aug-07 Cory Sanders Code Compliance 29,455$             2,946$          2,946$        2,946$        2,946$        2,946$        2,946$        2,946$        2,946$        

1810 Broadway Little Mexico 2-Oct-07 Keith Summers Façade/Structural 80,000$             8,000$          8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        

604 Lake Land Blvd Spin Doctor Car Wash 6-Nov-07 Meyer/Wortman Infrastructure Extensions 9,600$              3,200$          3,200$        3,200$        

1614 Broadway Shores' Jewelry and Other Business 6-Nov-07 Harold Shores Façade 70,000$             7,000$          7,000$        7,000$        7,000$        7,000$        7,000$        7,000$        7,000$        

1522-1524 Broadway Broadway Furniture Store 1-Dec-07 Bob Walker Façade/Structural 80,000$             8,000$          8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        

1400 Broadway Sanders' Real Estate 1-Mar-08 Cory Sanders Façade 31,742$             3,174$        3,174$        3,174$        3,174$        3,174$        3,174$        3,174$        

1609 Broadway Sound Source Music 1-Mar-08 Mike Kallis Façade 10,631$             2,126$        2,126$        2,126$        2,126$        2,126$        

1516 Broadway Nail Salon 1-Mar-08 Marilyn McClean Façade/Structural 42,525$             4,253$        4,253$        4,253$        4,253$        4,253$        4,253$        4,253$        

Fiscal Year 2009

1317-21 Charleston New Office Building 15-Apr-08 Scott Stoltzfus Infrastructure Ext. 79,200$             7,920$        7,920$        7,920$        7,920$        7,920$        7,920$        7,920$        

1611 Broadway D to Z Sports 5-Aug-08 Robert Reid Roof 13,110$             1,311$        1,311$        1,311$        1,311$        1,311$        1,311$        1,311$        

118 S. 17th Street Doug & Jeanne Vonderheide 5-Aug-08 Jeanne VonderheideFaçade 51,590$             5,159$        5,159$        5,159$        5,159$        5,159$        5,159$        5,159$        

1913 Western Ave. A K Investments 4-Nov-08 John Armstrong Façade-Exterior Wall $14,625 4,875            4,875          4,875          

1601 Broadway Warner's Office Equipment 4-Nov-08 Janice Moritz Roof $66,950 6,695          6,695          6,695          6,695          6,695          6,695          6,695          

1406 Broadway Club Oasis 20-Jan-09 Thomas Rogers Jr. Roof $5,400 5,400          

2001 Western Ave.     deBuhr Seed & Feed Inc. 20-Jan-09 Benard deBuhr Jr. Façade/Structural $14,092.90 2,819          2,819          2,819          2,819          2,819          

2020 Prairie Ave. Comm.Refrig. Of Central IL, Inc, 20-Jan-09 Joseph Gillettee Façade/Structural $53,961.00 5,396          5,396          5,396          5,396          5,396          5,396          

1,055,974$        1,000$        53,709$      14,298$         52,549$        74,169$        110,207$    110,522$    93,047$      93,047$      93,047$      90,921$      88,102$      



 

City of Mattoon 
Council Decision Request 

MEETING DATE 1/20/2009   CDR NO:  2009-933    SUBJECT: Mid-Town TIF Incentive                        
                                                                                        Review Committee Recommendations 
                       

 
SUBMITTAL DATE:  1/13/2009 
 
SUBMITTED BY:                Alan Gilmore, City Administrator 
 
EXHIBITS (If applicable):   Mid-Town TIF Obligation Spreadsheet   
             

EXPENDITURE  FY-2011 AMOUNT    CONTINGENCY FUNDING 
ESTIMATE: deBuhr $2,818.58    BUDGETED:  N/A      REQUIRED: deBuhr $11,274.32 thru FY 2015 

                                Gillette $5, 396.10                                                                                                     Gillette$48,564.90 thru FY 2020      

 
IF IT IS THE WISH OF THE COUNCIL TO SUPPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 
CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT, THE FOLLOWING MOTION IS SUGGESTED: 

 
I Mayor David W. Cline move to approve the recommendations of the Mid-Town Incentive 
Review Committee for the following projects subject to the availability of Mid-town TIF 
funds.   

 
SUMMARY OF THE TOPIC FOR WHICH A COUNCIL DECISION IS REQUESTED: 
 
Bernard H. deBuhr Jr. dba: deBuhr’s Seed & Feed Inc.; 2001 Western Avenue. 
This project involves a $17,365 renovation of the DeBuhr Seed & Feed Building facade. The façade 
renovations will address structural and masonry repairs including new widows.  Additionally the 
deBuhr’s will install new windows in the rear façade.  Mr. deBuhr is requesting a TIF Grant in the 
amount of $14,092.90 as follows: 
 
Façade Improvements of $12,173.40 
Rear Façade Improvements of $1,919.50 
 
The committee recommends an annual subsidy grant of $2,818.58 disbursed over a term of 5 years 
commencing in the month of September 2010 and continuing through September of 2015 subject to the 
availability of Mid-town TIF funds. 
 
Joseph A. Gillette dba; Commercial Refrigeration of Central Illinois, Inc.; 720 N. 33rd Street 
Mr. Gillette has acquired the former Coca Cola Bottling Plant building located at 2020 Prairie Avenue.  In 
this building he plans to expand his scope of services and hire up to 10 new highly skilled employees with 
wages & benefits equal to $45 up to $50 per hour.  His grant request includes a $59,957.00 façade 
restoration and interior renovation of $96,500.00.   
 
The TIF Incentive Review Committee recommends a grant for the façade renovation in the amount of 
$53,961.00 to be disbursed over a period of 10 years commencing in September of 2010 and continuing 
through 2020 subject to the availability of TIF funds. 



2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Annual TIF Dispersed --> $1,000 53,708.74$ 14,297.51$    52,548.52$   74,169.02$   110,207      110,522      93,047        93,047        93,047        90,921        88,102        

Annual TIF Increment --> $26,281 85,954.66$ 150,208.26$  127,077.00$  147,483.33$ 

Address Business Name Date Applicant Description Project Total 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Fiscal Year 2005

1713-1721 Marion Ave 12-Dec-04 Rob Perry Relocate Fire Hydrant 1,000$              1,000$        

Fiscal Year 2006

Lake Land Blvd D&H Associates, L.L.C 22-Jun-05 Mark Dust Demolition Grant 36,000$             4,000$          4,000$          4,000$        4,000$        4,000$        4,000$        4,000$        4,000$        4,000$        

1510 Broadway Freesmeier Chiropractic 8-Jun-05 Dr. Friesemeyer Façade/Structural 47,000$             9,400$           9,400$          9,400$          9,400$        9,400$        

1821 Broadway C.J's Club 18-Oct-05 Helen Johnson Façade/Structural 5,351$              3,709$        1,643$           

1410 Broadway 1-Dec-05 Tony Eaton Building Renovation 50,000$             50,000$      

Fiscal Year 2007

1412 Broadway Broadway Beef Café 18-Jul Tony Eaton Façade/Structural 45,000$             5,000$          5,000$          5,000$        5,000$        5,000$        5,000$        5,000$        5,000$        5,000$        

1412 Broadway Broadway Beef Café 18-Jul-06 Tony Eaton Interest Subsidy 13,500$             1,500$          1,500$          1,500$        1,500$        1,500$        1,500$        1,500$        1,500$        1,500$        

1424 Broadway Jul-06 John Chevas Structural Repairs 3,255$              3,255$           

1414 Broadway Jeleniz Jul-06 Jeff Eaton Façade/Structural 38,620$             3,862$          3,862$          3,862$        3,862$        3,862$        3,862$        3,862$        3,862$        3,862$        

1609 Broadway Sound Source Music 6-Feb-07 Mike Kallis Architectural 5,000$              5,000$          

1608 Broadway Merle Norman Cosmetic 6-Feb-07 Renee England Façade 2,000$              2,000$          

1628 Broadway Jack and Bills Clothing 20-Feb-07 Steve Hardin Façade/Structural 38,186$             3,819$          3,819$          3,819$        3,819$        3,819$        3,819$        3,819$        3,819$        3,819$        

604 Lake Land Blvd. Spin Doctor Car Wash Apr-07 Meyer/Wortman Demolition/Utilities 46,000$             4,600$          4,600$        4,600$        4,600$        4,600$        4,600$        4,600$        4,600$        

Fiscal Year 2008

1601 Broadway Warner's Office Equipment 15-May-07 Janice Moritz Façade/Structural 5,000$              5,000$          

1321 Broadway EZ Parcel 15-May-07 Nathan Burton Engineering 5,000$              5,000$          

1400 - 1404 Broadway Sanders' Real Estate 15-May-07 Cory Sanders Façade/Structural 54,680$             5,468$          5,468$          5,468$        5,468$        5,468$        5,468$        5,468$        5,468$        5,468$        

1321 Broadway EZ Parcel 7-Aug-07 Nathan Burton Storm water Detention 7,500$              2,500$          2,500$          2,500$        

1400-04 Broadway Sanders' Real Estate 7-Aug-07 Cory Sanders Code Compliance 29,455$             2,946$          2,946$        2,946$        2,946$        2,946$        2,946$        2,946$        2,946$        

1810 Broadway Little Mexico 2-Oct-07 Keith Summers Façade/Structural 80,000$             8,000$          8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        

604 Lake Land Blvd Spin Doctor Car Wash 6-Nov-07 Meyer/Wortman Infrastructure Extensions 9,600$              3,200$          3,200$        3,200$        

1614 Broadway Shores' Jewelry and Other Business 6-Nov-07 Harold Shores Façade 70,000$             7,000$          7,000$        7,000$        7,000$        7,000$        7,000$        7,000$        7,000$        

1522-1524 Broadway Broadway Furniture Store 1-Dec-07 Bob Walker Façade/Structural 80,000$             8,000$          8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        8,000$        

1400 Broadway Sanders' Real Estate 1-Mar-08 Cory Sanders Façade 31,742$             3,174$        3,174$        3,174$        3,174$        3,174$        3,174$        3,174$        

1609 Broadway Sound Source Music 1-Mar-08 Mike Kallis Façade 10,631$             2,126$        2,126$        2,126$        2,126$        2,126$        

1516 Broadway Nail Salon 1-Mar-08 Marilyn McClean Façade/Structural 42,525$             4,253$        4,253$        4,253$        4,253$        4,253$        4,253$        4,253$        

Fiscal Year 2009

1317-21 Charleston New Office Building 15-Apr-08 Scott Stoltzfus Infrastructure Ext. 79,200$             7,920$        7,920$        7,920$        7,920$        7,920$        7,920$        7,920$        

1611 Broadway D to Z Sports 5-Aug-08 Robert Reid Roof 13,110$             1,311$        1,311$        1,311$        1,311$        1,311$        1,311$        1,311$        

118 S. 17th Street Doug & Jeanne Vonderheide 5-Aug-08 Jeanne VonderheideFaçade 51,590$             5,159$        5,159$        5,159$        5,159$        5,159$        5,159$        5,159$        

1913 Western Ave. A K Investments 4-Nov-08 John Armstrong Façade-Exterior Wall $14,625 4,875            4,875          4,875          

1601 Broadway Warner's Office Equipment 4-Nov-08 Janice Moritz Roof $66,950 6,695          6,695          6,695          6,695          6,695          6,695          6,695          

1406 Broadway Club Oasis 20-Jan-09 Thomas Rogers Jr. Roof $5,400 5,400          

2001 Western Ave.     deBuhr Seed & Feed Inc. 20-Jan-09 Benard deBuhr Jr. Façade/Structural $14,092.90 2,819          2,819          2,819          2,819          2,819          

2020 Prairie Ave. Comm.Refrig. Of Central IL, Inc, 20-Jan-09 Joseph Gillettee Façade/Structural $53,961.00 5,396          5,396          5,396          5,396          5,396          5,396          

1,055,974$        1,000$        53,709$      14,298$         52,549$        74,169$        110,207$    110,522$    93,047$      93,047$      93,047$      90,921$      88,102$      



  

CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2009-5267 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
THE CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS AND COLES CENTRE HOSPITALITY L.L.C. 

AND AUTHORIZING CERTAIN ACTIONS BY CITY OFFICIALS. 
 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment 
Act, 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-1, et seq., as amended (the “TIF Act”), the City Council on December 5, 
2006 (1) approved a plan entitled “Tax Increment Financing Redevelopment Project and Plan – 
I-57 East Redevelopment Project Area” (the “Redevelopment Plan”), (2) designated certain real 
property located in the City as the I-57 East Redevelopment Project Area, which includes land 
currently under a purchase contract held by Coles Centre Hospitality L.L.C., and (3) adopted tax 
increment financing for the I-57 East Redevelopment Project Area; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Business District Development and Redevelopment Act, 65 
ILCS 5/11-74.3 et seq., as amended (the “Business District Act”), the City Council on December 
4, 2007 (1) approved a plan entitled “Business District Plan – Broadway East Business District” 
(the “Business District Plan”), (2) designated certain real property located in the City as a 
business district (the “Business District”), which includes land currently under a purchase 
contract held by Coles Centre Hospitality L.L.C., and (3) authorized the imposition of certain 
additional sales taxes within the Business District; and 

 
WHEREAS, in response to a solicitation of proposals by the City for redevelopment of 

certain property that includes the land currently under a purchase contract held by Coles Centre 
Hospitality L.L.C. (the “Redevelopment Area”), Coles Centre Hospitality L.L.C. (the 
“Developer”) submitted a proposal (the “Redevelopment Proposal”) for redevelopment of the 
Redevelopment Area; and 

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the TIF Act and the Business District Act the City is authorized 
to enter into a redevelopment agreement (the “Redevelopment Agreement”) with the Developer 
setting forth the respective rights and obligations of the City and the Developer with regard to the 
redevelopment of the Redevelopment Area. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. The City Council hereby ratifies and confirms its approval of the 
Redevelopment Plan, the Business District Plan and the redevelopment project described in the 
Redevelopment Proposal (the “Redevelopment Project”) and its findings in connection 
therewith.  The City Council finds and determines that it is necessary and desirable to enter into 
an agreement with the Developer to implement the Redevelopment Plan, the Business District 
Plan and the Redevelopment Project and to enable the Developer to carry out the Redevelopment 
Proposal. 
 

Section 2. The Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to execute, on behalf of the 
City, and the City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to attest, and affix the seal of the City 
to, the Redevelopment Agreement (attached hereto as Exhibit A).  The Redevelopment 
Agreement, in substantially the form attached hereto, is hereby approved by the City Council, 
with such changes therein as shall be approved by the officers of the City executing the same. 



  

 
Section 3. The officers, agents and employees of the City are hereby authorized and 

directed to execute all documents and take such necessary steps as they deem necessary and 
advisable in order to carry out and perform the purpose of this Ordinance. 
 
 Section 4. The sections of this Ordinance shall be severable.  If any section of this 
Ordinance is found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the remaining sections 
shall remain valid, unless the court finds that: (a) the valid sections are so essential to and 
inseparably connected with and dependent upon the void section that it cannot be presumed that 
the City Council has or would have enacted the valid sections without the void ones; and (b) the 
valid sections, standing alone, are incomplete and are incapable of being executed in accordance 
with the legislative intent. 
 

Section 5. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the date of 
its passage and approval as provided by law. 
 
Upon motion by     , seconded by                     , 
adopted this _________ day of January, 2009, by a roll call vote, as follows: 
 
AYES (Names): ____________________________________ 
   ____________________________________ 
    ____________________________________ 
NAYS (Names): ____________________________________ 
ABSENT (Names): ____________________________________ 
 
Approved this     day of     , 2009. 
 
 
              
       David W. Cline, Mayor 
       City of Mattoon, Coles County, Illinois 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Susan J. O’Brien, City Clerk    J. Preston Owen, City Attorney 
 
Recorded in the Municipality’s Records on ______________________________, 2009. 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
 

between the 
 

CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS, 
 
 

and 
 
 

COLES CENTRE HOSPITALITY, LLC 
 
 

Dated as of 
 

JANUARY ___, 2009 
________________________________________________ 

 
 

I-57 EAST REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 
(COLES CENTRE HOSPITALITY PROJECT) 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT A



 

(i) 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Page 
Parties ................................................................................................................................................... 1 

 
ARTICLE I 

 
DEFINITIONS 

 
Section 1.01. Definitions................................................................................................................. 1 

 
ARTICLE II 

 
ACCEPTANCE OF PROPOSAL 

 
Section 2.01. Developer Designation.............................................................................................. 4 
Section 2.02. Estimated Cost .......................................................................................................... 4 
Section 2.03. Developer to Advance Costs..................................................................................... 4 

 
ARTICLE III 

 
PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK 

 
Section 3.01. Ownership of Property .............................................................................................. 4 
Section 3.02. Performance .............................................................................................................. 4 
Section 3.03. Governmental Approvals .......................................................................................... 5 
Section 3.04. Concept Site Plan; Approved Site Plan..................................................................... 5 
Section 3.05. Insurance ................................................................................................................... 5 
Section 3.06. State and Local Laws ................................................................................................ 6 
Section 3.07. Construction Plans .................................................................................................... 6 
Section 3.08. Certificate of Substantial Completion....................................................................... 7 
Section 3.09. Corridor Development District ................................................................................. 7 

 
ARTICLE IV 

 
REIMBURSEMENT OF DEVELOPER COSTS 

 
Section 4.01. City’s Obligation to Reimburse Developer............................................................... 7 
Section 4.02. Payment of Eligible Project Costs............................................................................. 7 
Section 4.03. Business District Tax Revenues................................................................................ 8 

 
ARTICLE V 

 
FUNDS; COLLECTION AND USE OF TIF REVENUES  

AND BUSINESS DISTRICT REVENUES 
 

Section 5.01. Funds......................................................................................................................... 8 
Section 5.02. Application of Revenues........................................................................................... 9 
Section 5.03. Hotel Tax................................................................................................................... 9 

 
 

EXHIBIT A



 

-ii- 

ARTICLE VI 
 

TERMINATION AND REMEDIES 
 

Section 6.01. Developer’s Right of Termination ............................................................................ 9 
Section 6.02. City’s Right of Termination .................................................................................... 10 
Section 6.03. Rights Following Termination ................................................................................ 10 
Section 6.04. Term of Agreement ................................................................................................. 10 
Section 6.05. Remedies................................................................................................................. 10 
Section 6.06. Extensions of Time for Performance ...................................................................... 11 

 
ARTICLE VII 

 
ASSIGNMENT 

 
Section 7.01. Transfer of Property ................................................................................................ 11 

 
ARTICLE VIII 

 
COVENANTS AND REPRESENTATIONS 

 
Section 8.01. Indemnification and Release ................................................................................... 12 
Section 8.02. Notice of Challenge to Assessed Valuation ............................................................ 13 
Section 8.03. Maintenance of the Redevelopment Project Area................................................... 13 
Section 8.04. Representations of the City ..................................................................................... 13 
Section 8.05. Representations of the Developer ........................................................................... 14 
Section 8.06. Cooperation in Determining Business District Tax Revenues................................ 15 
Section 8.07. Definitions............................................................................................................... 16 
Section 8.08. Obligation to Report Business District Tax Revenues............................................ 17 

 
ARTICLE IX 

 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 
Section 9.01. Inspection................................................................................................................ 17 
Section 9.02. Notices .................................................................................................................... 17 
Section 9.03. Choice of Law......................................................................................................... 18 
Section 9.04. Entire Agreement; Amendment .............................................................................. 18 
Section 9.05. Counterparts ............................................................................................................ 18 
Section 9.06. Severability ............................................................................................................. 18 
Section 9.07. Representatives Not Personally Liable ................................................................... 18 
Section 9.08. Mutual Assistance ................................................................................................... 18 

EXHIBIT A



 

-iii- 

 
Signatures and Seal ............................................................................................................................. 19 

 
Acknowledgments............................................................................................................................... 19 

 
Exhibit A - Legal Description of the Coles Centre Hospitality Area 
Exhibit B - Certificate of Substantial Completion 
Exhibit C - Certificate of Eligible Project Costs 
Exhibit D - Concept Site Plan 
Exhibit E - Sales Tax Reporting Release For the State of Illinois 
 

EXHIBIT A



 

 

REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
 
 
 THIS REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of 
the _____ day of January, 2009, by and between the CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS (the “City”), a 
non-home rule city and political subdivision of the State of Illinois, and COLES CENTRE 
HOSPITALITY, LLC (the “Developer”), a limited liability company duly authorized and existing under 
the laws of the State of Illinois.  All capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings detailed in 

Article I of this Agreement. 

 
 1. Pursuant to the provisions of the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, 65 ILCS 
5/11-74.4-1, et seq., as amended, the City Council of the City has adopted tax increment financing for 
certain real property located in the City, including an approximately twenty-three acre site owned by the 
Developer (the “Coles Centre Hospitality Area”). 
 
 2. Pursuant to the Business District Development and Redevelopment Act, 65 ILCS 5/11-
74.3 et seq., as amended, the City Council has designated certain real property located in the City as a 
business district, including the Coles Centre Hospitality Area. 
 

3. The City distributed a Request for Development Proposals (the “Redevelopment 
Proposal”) for the redevelopment of the Coles Centre Hospitality Area. 

 
4. The Developer submitted a proposal to the City (the “Redevelopment Proposal”) for 

redevelopment of the Coles Centre Hospitality Area, as described in the Redevelopment Proposal. 
 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
 Now, therefore, in consideration of the premises and promises contained herein and other good 
and valuable consideration, the adequacy and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties 
hereto agree as follows: 
 
 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 
 Section 1.01.  Definitions.  As used in this Agreement the following words and terms shall have 
the following meanings: 
 
 “Act” means, collectively, the Illinois Municipal Code, including the TIF Act and the Business 
District Act, and the Local Government Debt Reform Act, 30 ILCS 350/1 et seq., all as supplemented and 
amended. 
 
 “Approved Site Plan” means the site plan approved by all such entities required to approve a 
site plan pursuant to the City’s municipal code, as amended from time to time in accordance with the 
City’s municipal code. 
 

“Business District” means the I-57 East Business District created by the City pursuant to the 
Business District Act. 

 

EXHIBIT A



 

-2- 

“Business District Act” means the Business District Development and Redevelopment Act, 
65 ILCS 5/11-74.3 et seq. 

 
“Business District Plan” means the plan entitled “Business District Plan – I-57 East Business 

District” approved by the City Council on September 2, 2008 pursuant to Ordinance No. 2008-5259, as 
such plan may from time to time be amended in accordance with the Business District Act. 

 
 “Business District Tax Allocation Fund – Coles Centre Hospitality Account” means the 
account to be created by the City within the Business District Tax Allocation Fund pursuant to the 
Business District Act, into which the Business District Tax Revenues are to be deposited. 

 
“Business District Tax Revenues” means all tax revenues received by the City from the one 

percent (1%) retailers’ occupation tax and service occupation tax and the one percent (1%) hotel 
operators’ occupation tax imposed by the City pursuant to 65 ILCS 5/11-74.3-6 generated from within the 
Coles Centre Hospitality Area portion of the Business District. 

 
 “Certificate of Eligible Project Costs” means a document substantially in the form of 
Exhibit C, provided by the Developer to the City certifying and evidencing Eligible Project Costs. 
 
 “Certificate of Substantial Completion” means a document substantially in the form of 
Exhibit B, provided by the Developer to the City in accordance with this Agreement which, upon the 
City’s acceptance thereof, shall evidence the Developer’s satisfaction of all obligations and covenants to 
construct Phase I, Phase II or Phase III of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project. 
 
 “City” means the City of Mattoon, Illinois. 
 
 “City Administrator” means the City Administrator of the City of Mattoon, Illinois, or his/her 
designee. 
 
 “City Council” means the City Council of the City of Mattoon, Illinois. 
 
 “Coles Centre Hospitality Area” means that portion of the Redevelopment Project Area and the 
Business District described in Exhibit A. 
 
 “Coles Centre Hospitality Project” means a redevelopment project, including the construction 
of a hotel and convention center, as described in the Redevelopment Plan, the Business District Plan, the 
Redevelopment Proposal and this Agreement and as shown on the Approved Site Plan. 
 
 “Construction Plans” means plans, drawings, specifications, and related documents, and 
construction schedules for the construction of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project, together with all 
supplements, amendments or corrections, submitted by the Developer and approved by the City in 
accordance with the City’s municipal code and this Agreement. 
 
 “Developer” means Coles Centre Hospitality, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company duly 
authorized and existing under the laws of the State of Illinois, and its successors and assigns. 
 

“Eligible Project Costs” means those costs eligible for payment or reimbursement to the 
Developer under the Redevelopment Plan and defined in the 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-3(q)(1-13) of the TIF 
Act, all in accordance with this Agreement. 

 

EXHIBIT A



 

-3- 

“Governmental Approvals” means all plat approvals, re-zoning or other zoning changes, 
planned unit development approvals, site plan approvals, conditional use permits, variances, building 
permits, architectural review or other subdivision, zoning or similar approvals required for the 
implementation of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project. 

 
“Financing Parties” means the (a) bank(s) or other financial institution(s) financing the 

Developer’s construction and/or operation activities associated with or arising out of the Coles Centre 
Hospitality Project, (b) Coles Centre, LLC, and (c) Developer’s hotel franchisor, which may include but 
is not limited to Hilton Hotels Corporation, Marriott International, Inc. or InterContinental Hotels Group, 
Inc.  

 
“Hotel Motel Tax” means the tax on gross rental receipts imposed by the City on hotels and 

motels pursuant to 65 ILCS 5/8-3-14. 
 
“Phase I” means construction of a hotel and an approximately 30,000 square foot convention 

center in the Cole Centre Hospitality Area at an approximate cost of $12,000,000. 
 
“Phase II” means construction of a second hotel in the Coles Centre Hospitality Area at an 

approximate cost of $7,000,000. 
 
“Phase III” means construction of an approximately 10,000 square foot addition to the 

convention center and a third hotel in the Cole Centre Hospitality Area at an approximate cost of 
$7,000,000. 
  

“Redevelopment Plan” means the plan entitled “Tax Increment Finance – City of Mattoon, 
Coles County, Illinois – I-57 East Redevelopment Plan and Project” approved by the City Council on 
December 5, 2006 pursuant to Ordinance No. 2006-5223, as such plan may from time to time be amended 
in accordance with the TIF Act. 
 
 “Redevelopment Project Area” means the portion of the City designated as the I-57 East 
Redevelopment Project Area, as described in the Redevelopment Plan. 

 
 “Redevelopment Proposal” means the proposal of the Developer submitted to the City on 
April 1, 2008, describing the Coles Centre Hospitality Project. 
 
 “Special Tax Allocation Fund – Coles Centre Hospitality Account” means the account to be 
created by the City within the Special Tax Allocation Fund pursuant to the TIF Act, into which TIF 
Revenues are to be deposited. 
 
 “State” means the State of Illinois. 

 
“Term” means the term of this Agreement as set forth in Section 6.04 of this Agreement. 
  

 “TIF Act” means the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-1, et 

seq. 
 
 “TIF Revenues” means the ad valorem taxes, if any, arising from the tax levies upon taxable real 
property in the Coles Centre Hospitality Area by any and all taxing districts or municipal corporations 
having the power to tax real property in the Coles Centre Hospitality Area, which taxes are attributable to 
the increase in the then-current equalized assessed valuation of each taxable lot, block, tract or parcel of 
real property in the Coles Centre Hospitality Area over and above the Total Initial Equalized Assessed 

EXHIBIT A



 

-4- 

Value of each such piece of property, excluding (i) any amount paid under protest until the protest is 
withdrawn or resolved against the taxpayer or (ii) any sum received by the City which is the subject of a 
suit or other claim communicated to the City which suit or claim challenges the collection of such sum. 
 
 “Total Initial Equalized Assessed Value” means the total initial equalized assessed value of the 
taxable real property within the Coles Centre Hospitality Area as determined by the County Clerk of the 
County of Coles, Illinois, in accordance with the provisions of Section 11-74.4-9 of the TIF Act. 
 
  

ARTICLE II 
 

ACCEPTANCE OF PROPOSAL  
 
 Section 2.01.  Developer Designation.  The City hereby selects the Developer to construct the 
Coles Centre Hospitality Project in accordance with the Redevelopment Plan, the Business District Plan, 
the Approved Site Plan, the Redevelopment Proposal, this Agreement and all Governmental Approvals.  
To the extent of any inconsistency among the foregoing, the parties agree that the Coles Centre 
Hospitality Project described in the Governmental Approvals shall govern so long as such approvals do 
not constitute a change to the Redevelopment Plan, the Business District Plan or Coles Centre Hospitality 
Project as would, in the opinion of the city attorney or special counsel retained by the City, require any 
further hearing pursuant to the TIF Act or the Business District Act. 
 
 Section 2.02.  Estimated Cost.  The Developer’s good faith estimate of the aggregate cost of 
completing the Coles Centre Hospitality Project is $26,000,000.   
 
 Section 2.03.  Developer to Advance Costs.  The Developer agrees to advance all funds 
necessary to complete the Coles Centre Hospitality Project, all subject to the Developer’s right to abandon 
the Coles Centre Hospitality Project and terminate this Agreement as set forth in Section 6.01 hereof.  
 
 

ARTICLE III 
 

PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK 
 

Section 3.01.  Ownership of Property.  The Developer represents that it has a valid and 
enforceable contract to purchase all property within the Coles Centre Hospitality Area and is responsible 
for paying all property taxes levied on such property.   

 
 Section 3.02.  Construction Schedule.   
 

(a) Subject to and conditioned upon the terms and conditions of Section 3.02(d) of this 
Agreement, the Developer shall construct Phase I in the Coles Centre Hospitality Area.  Construction of 
Phase I shall begin on or before April 30, 2010, and shall be substantially complete on or before 
August 30, 2011, as evidenced by a Certificate of Substantial Completion approved by the City in 
accordance with applicable City codes and this Agreement.  The Developer shall have the unconditional 
and unilateral, one-time right to extend its time for performance under this Section 3.02(a) for an 
additional six (6) months upon written notice to the City. 
 

(b) If determined by Developer, in its sole discretion, to be economically feasible, Developer 
may construct Phase II in the Coles Centre Hospitality Area. 

 

EXHIBIT A



 

-5- 

(c) If determined by Developer, in its sole discretion, to be economically feasible, Developer 
may construct Phase III in the Coles Centre Hospitality Area. 

 
(d) Anything contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, any and all of Developer’s 

obligations under this Agreement are subject to and conditioned upon the following conditions precedent: 
 

(1)  The Developer securing financing for the construction of Phase I; and 
 
(2) The Developer securing a valid franchise agreement with Hilton Hotels 

Corporation, Marriott International, Inc. or InterContinental Hotels Group, Inc. 
together with all necessary approvals from the franchisor for the construction and 
operation of Phase I. 

 
 (e) Following the execution of this Agreement and continuing until the completion of Phase I 
of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project, the Developer agrees to provide the City with quarterly written 
reports regarding the status of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project; provided, however, that at no time 
shall the Developer be obligated to disclose any information it, in its sole and absolute discretion, deems 
confidential or otherwise privileged.   
 
 Section 3.03. Governmental Approvals.  The City agrees to cooperate with the Developer and 
to process and timely consider all complete applications for the Governmental Approvals as received, all 
in accordance with the applicable City ordinances and laws of the State. 
 
 Section 3.04. Concept Site Plan; Approved Site Plan.  
 
 (a) Approval of Concept Site Plan.  The Concept Site Plan as set forth in Exhibit D is hereby 
approved.  The parties agree that the Concept Site Plan is preliminary, and that the Approved Site Plan as 
approved by the City pursuant to its municipal code will be deemed to define the scope of the Coles 
Centre Project for purposes of this Agreement and will govern the final design and construction thereof.  
The City and the Developer agree that the Concept Site Plan is in conformance with the Redevelopment 
Plan and the Business District Plan, and that construction of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project in 
accordance with the Concept Site Plan will not require any additional notices or hearings pursuant to the 
TIF Act or the Business District Act. 
 
 (b) Submission of Final Site Plan.  The Developer agrees that, unless otherwise approved by 
the City Council, the final site plan for Phase I that is submitted pursuant to the City’s municipal code 
shall be in substantially accordance with the Concept Site Plan, and shall include (1) a hotel with at least 
104 sleeping rooms and (2) a convention center with at least 30,000 gross square feet (the “Final Site 
Plan”).  Upon approval by the City Council, such site plan shall become the “Approved Site Plan” for 
purposes of this Agreement.   
 
 (c) Changes.  During the construction of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project, the Developer 
may make changes to the Approved Site Plan or any aspect thereof; provided that (1) the Developer shall 
obtain all necessary approvals and comply with all laws, regulations and ordinances of the City; and 
(2) the Approved Site Plan, as amended, shall be substantially in accordance with the Concept Site Plan.  
 
 Section 3.05.  Insurance. 
 

(a) The Developer will cause there to be insurance as provided herein at all times during the 
term of this Agreement and, from time to time at the request of the City, furnish the City with proof of 
payment of premiums on:  (1) comprehensive general liability insurance (including operations, contingent 

EXHIBIT A



 

-6- 

liability, operations of subcontractors, completed operations and contractual liability insurance) with 
limits against bodily injury and property damage of not less than $2,000,000 for each occurrence (to 
accomplish the above required limit, an umbrella excess liability policy may be used); (2) property 
insurance insuring the Coles Centre Hospitality Project in an amount equal to the actual replacement cost 
of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project exclusive of land, excavations, footings, foundations and parking 
lots; and (3) workers’ compensation insurance, with statutory coverage.  

 
(b) The policies of insurance required above shall be placed with insurers licensed to transact 

business in the State of Illinois,.  The policies of insurance delivered pursuant to clauses (1) and (2) above 
shall contain an agreement of the insurer to give not less than 10 days advance written notice to the City 
in the event of proposed cancellation of such policy or change affecting the coverage thereunder.  The 
Developer shall provide certificates of insurance to the City evidencing such coverage within 30 days 
after the execution of this Agreement and at least 30 days before the scheduled expiration of any such 
coverage. 
 
 (c) The Developer agrees that if any portion of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project is 
damaged or destroyed, in whole or in part, by fire or other casualty (whether or not covered by insurance), 
or by any taking in condemnation proceedings or the exercise of any right of eminent domain, the 
Developer will, on a commercially reasonable basis, apply all insurance or condemnation proceeds, or 
require each insurance company to apply all insurance proceeds, to promptly restore, replace or rebuild 
the same (or shall promptly cause the same to be restored, replaced or rebuilt) to as nearly as possible the 
value, quality and condition it was in immediately prior to such fire or other casualty or taking. The 
Developer shall give prompt written notice to the City of any damages or destruction to the Coles Centre 
Hospitality Project by fire or other casualty, irrespective of the amount of such damage or destruction. 
 
 Section 3.06.  State and Local Laws.  The Developer shall comply with all applicable State and 
local laws relating to the construction of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project. 

 
 Section 3.07.  Construction Plans. 
 
 (a) The Construction Plans shall be prepared and sealed by a professional engineer or 
architect licensed to practice in the State and the Construction Plans and all construction practices and 
procedures with respect to the Coles Centre Hospitality Project shall be in conformity with all applicable 
state and local laws, ordinances and regulations..  The Developer shall submit Construction Plans for 
approval by the City in sufficient time so as to allow for review of the plans in accordance with applicable 
City ordinances and procedures. The plans shall be in sufficient completeness and detail to show that 
construction will be in conformance with the Approved Site Plan and this Agreement.  
 
 (b) Prior to Commencement of Construction or during the construction of the Coles Centre 
Hospitality Project, the Developer may make such reasonable changes, including, without limitation, 
modification of the construction schedule, including dates of commencement and completion, 
modification of the areas in which the Coles Centre Hospitality Project is to be performed, relocation, 
expansion or deletion of items, revisions to the areas and scope of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project, 
and any and all such other changes as site conditions or orderly development may dictate or as may be 
required to meet any requirements of the Developer’s franchisor, or any reasonable requests of 
prospective tenants or purchasers of any real property located within the Coles Centre Hospitality Area or 
as may be necessary or desirable, in the sole determination of the Developer, to enhance the economic 
viability of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project and as may be in furtherance of the general objectives of 
the Redevelopment Plan and the Business District Plan; provided that (1) the Developer shall obtain all 
necessary approvals and comply with all laws, regulations and ordinances of the City; and (2) the Coles 
Centre Hospitality Project, as amended, shall be substantially in accordance with the Concept Site Plan.    

EXHIBIT A



 

-7- 

  
 Section 3.08.  Certificate of Substantial Completion.  Promptly after substantial completion of 
Phase I, and if constructed, each subsequent phase of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project in accordance 
with the provisions of this Agreement, the Developer will furnish to the City a Certificate of Substantial 
Completion.  The City shall, within 60 days following delivery of each Certificate of Substantial 
Completion, carry out such inspections as it deems necessary to verify to its reasonable satisfaction the 
accuracy of the certifications contained in the Certificate of Substantial Completion.  The Certificate of 
Substantial Completion shall be deemed accepted by the City unless, prior to the end of such 60-day 
period after delivery to the City of the Certificate of Substantial Completion, the City furnishes the 
Developer with specific written objections to the status of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project, describing 
such objections and the measures required to correct such objections in reasonable detail.  Upon 
acceptance of the Certificate of Substantial Completion by the City or upon the lapse of 60 days after 
delivery thereof to the City without any written objections thereto, the Developer may record the 
Certificate of Substantial Completion with the Coles County Recorder, and the same shall constitute 
evidence of the satisfaction of the Developer’s agreements and covenants to construct Phase I, and if 
constructed, each subsequent phase of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project, as appropriate.  The 
Certificate of Substantial Completion shall be in substantially the form attached as Exhibit B hereto and 
incorporated by reference herein. 
 
 Section 3.09. Corridor Development District.  The Developer acknowledges that the Coles 
Centre Hospitality Area is located within the Corridor Development District and that the Developer will 
comply with all standards and restrictions established by the City within the District.    
 
 

ARTICLE IV 
 

REIMBURSEMENT OF DEVELOPER COSTS 
 
 Section 4.01.  City’s Obligation to Reimburse Developer TIF Revenues.  On an annual basis 
during the Term of this Agreement, the City shall reimburse the Developer an amount equal to seventy 
two percent (72%) of the TIF Revenues actually generated from the Coles Centre Hospitality Area; 
provided, however, that in no event shall the TIF Revenues reimbursed to the Developer exceed Eligible 
Project Costs.  Notwithstanding any other term or provision of this Agreement, Eligible Project Costs 
submitted by the Developer are payable only from the TIF Revenues actually generated from the Coles 
Centre Hospitality Area and from no other source.  The Eligible Project Costs may be incurred by the 
Developer in any calendar year after the date of this Agreement, and to the extent TIF Revenues are not 
available to reimburse the Developer for such Eligible Project Costs, then such unreimbursed Eligible 
Project Costs shall be carried forward for reimbursement during the Term of this Agreement when 
sufficient TIF Revenues are generated within the Coles Centre Hospitality Area and therefore become 
available for reimbursement pursuant to this Agreement 
 
 Section 4.02.  Payment of Eligible Project Costs.   
 

(a) The Developer may submit to the City, not more frequently than once per calendar 
month, a Certificate of Eligible Project Costs in substantially the form attached as Exhibit C hereto.  
Each Certificate of Eligible Project Costs shall be accompanied by itemized invoices, receipts or other 
information that will demonstrate that such cost has been incurred and qualifies for reimbursement 
pursuant to this Agreement.  Eligible Project Costs will be payable solely from TIF Revenues as provided 
in Section 5.02 and from no other moneys of the City.   

 

EXHIBIT A



 

-8- 

(b) The City shall notify the Developer in writing within 30 days after each submission of its 
approval or disapproval of the costs identified in each Certificate of Eligible Project Costs.  If the City 
determines that any cost identified as an Eligible Project Cost is not an Eligible Project Cost under this 
Agreement, the City shall identify the ineligible cost and the basis for determining the cost to be 
ineligible.  The Developer shall then have the right to identify and substitute other costs as Eligible 
Project Costs, which shall be included with a supplemental application for payment submitted within 15 
days after the City’s notification of any ineligible costs. The City shall then review and notify the 
Developer in writing within 30 days after submission of its approval or disapproval of the costs identified 
in the supplemental application for payment. 

 
(c) The Developer shall provide such information as the City may reasonably request for the 

City to confirm that any cost qualifies for payment or reimbursement under the TIF Act, the 
Redevelopment Plan and this Agreement and has been incurred or paid by the Developer.   

 
(d) Nothing in this Agreement shall obligate the City to pay or reimburse any Eligible Project 

Cost that does not qualify as a “redevelopment project cost” defined under the TIF Act (65 ILCS 5/11-
74.4-3(q)(1-13).    The City and the Developer agree that Eligible Project Costs to the extent actually paid 
by the Developer shall include, but shall not be limited to, the following costs:   (1) property assembly 
costs including but not limited to the purchase price paid by the Developer for the Coles Centre 
Hospitality Area real estate from Coles Centre, LLC (which is not an affiliated or related party to the 
Developer and which Developer owns no interest therein); (2) the costs of construction of public water, 
sanitary sewer, storm sewer, and street infrastructure to the extent paid for by the Developer, including 
the sum to be paid by Developer to Coles Centre, LLC as reimbursement for the Developer’s allocated 
share of such public infrastructure as set forth in the Agreement for Sale of Real Estate dated January 22, 
2008 between Developer and Coles Centre, LLC; (3) all costs paid for under the Pre-Funding Agreement 
between the City and the Developer; (4) costs of surveys, studies, development of plans and 
specifications, legal, engineering, architectural, and financial fees and other similar service fees paid by 
the Developer in connection with this Agreement meeting the obligations of the Developer hereunder; (5) 
Developer’s interests costs pursuant to 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-3(q)(11); and (6) site preparation, clearing and 
grading costs. 

 
Section 4.03. Business District Tax Revenues.  The City shall, on a calendar quarter basis 

during the Term of this Agreement, pay to the Developer one hundred percent (100%) of the Business 
District Tax Revenues actually generated within the Coles Centre Hospitality Area portion of the 
Business District for the planning, execution and implementation of the Business District Plan.  The City 
and the Developer agree that payment to the Developer of one hundred percent (100%) of the Business 
District Tax Revenues for completion of Phase I of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project is in furtherance 
of the planning, execution and implementation of the Business District Plan.   

 
ARTICLE V 

 
FUNDS; 

COLLECTION AND USE OF TIF REVENUES AND  
BUSINESS DISTRICT REVENUES 

 
 Section 5.01. Funds.  The City agrees to cause its City Administrator or other financial officer 
to maintain the Special Tax Allocation Fund – Coles Centre Hospitality Account in accordance with the 
TIF Act and the Business District Tax Allocation Fund – Coles Centre Hospitality Account in accordance 
with the Business District Act. 
 

EXHIBIT A



 

-9- 

 Section 5.02. Application of Revenues.  The City hereby agrees for the Term of this 
Agreement to apply and pay to the Developer (a) the Business District Tax Revenues for the planning, 
execution and implementation of the Business District Plan, and (b) the TIF Revenues for the 
reimbursement to the Developer of Eligible Project Costs submitted by the Developer pursuant to Section 
4.02.    
 
 Section 5.03. Hotel Motel Tax.  
 
 (a) To promote tourism and conventions within the City, the City shall pay to the Developer 
an annual grant equal to 75% of the Hotel Motel Tax generated by the first and second hotels built in the 
Coles Centre Hospitality Area.  If not later than nine (9) years from the date of this Agreement the 
Developer constructs a 10,000 square foot (or greater) addition to the convention center in conjunction 
with the construction of either the second or the third hotel, then the Developer shall receive 75% of the 
Hotel Motel Tax generated from the third hotel constructed in the Coles Centre Hospitality Area.  
Payments shall begin only after the opening of the 30,000 gross square foot convention center.  The grant 
shall be paid quarterly after the City’s receipt of the payment of the Hotel Motel Tax and shall continue 
for a 20-year period after the date of opening of each hotel as constructed pursuant to this Agreement.   
  
 (b) The grant payment provided in Section 5.03(a) shall be subject to the restriction that the 
amount of the Hotel Motel Tax actually collected by the City during each year of the 20-year period after 
the date of opening of each hotel constructed pursuant to this Agreement shall not be less than the amount 
of Hotel Motel Tax actually collected by the City (excluding all Hotel Motel Tax generated by any hotel 
located in the Coles Centre Hospitality Area) during the calendar year immediately preceding the issuance 
of the Certificate of Substantial Completion for the first hotel constructed by the Developer under this 
Agreement (hereinafter referred to as the “Floor”).  The Floor shall be increased by 1% every calendar 
year (excluding all Hotel Motel Tax generated by any hotel located in the Coles Centre Hospitality Area) 
after the calendar year in which the Certificate of Substantial Completion is issued for the first hotel 
constructed by the Developer under this Agreement to allow for the natural growth in the Hotel Motel 
Tax.  If the Hotel Motel Tax Fund receives less than the Floor (excluding all Hotel Motel Tax generated 
by any hotel located in the Coles Centre Hospitality Area) in any calendar year after the calendar year in 
which the Certificate of Substantial Completion is issued for the first hotel constructed by the Developer 
under this Agreement, then the grant paid to the Developer pursuant to Section 5.03(a) shall be reduced 
in the next calendar year by such an amount that when added to the Hotel Motel Tax actually received by 
the City for that calendar year (exclusive of any Hotel Motel Tax generated by any hotel located in the 
Coles Centre Hospitality Area) equals the Floor; provided, however, that in no event shall the Developer 
be required to make any payment of funds of a nature whatsoever to the City if the Hotel Motel Tax 
actually received by the City in that calendar falls below the Floor after the reduction of the grant to be 
paid to the Developer pursuant to Section 5.03(a).   

 
 

ARTICLE VI 
 

TERMINATION AND REMEDIES 
 

 Section 6.01.  Developer’s Right of Termination.  At any time prior to the delivery of the 
Certificate of Substantial Completion relating to Phase I, the Developer may, by giving written notice to 
the City, abandon the Coles Centre Hospitality Project and terminate this Agreement and the Developer’s 
obligations hereunder with respect thereto if the Developer determines, in its sole discretion, that the 
Coles Centre Hospitality Project is no longer economically feasible. 

EXHIBIT A



 

-10- 

 
 Section 6.02.  City’s Right of Termination.  The City may terminate this Agreement at any time 
prior to the delivery of the Certificate of Substantial Completion relating to Phase I if, and only if: 
 

 (a) the Developer defaults in or breaches any material provision of this Agreement 
and fails to cure such default or breach pursuant to Section 6.05 hereof (subject to extension in 
accordance with Section 6.06), or materially breaches any representation or warranty contained 
in Section 8.05 hereof, or 
 
 (b) the Developer fails to complete the activities listed in Section 3.02(a) within the 
times specified therein (subject to extension in accordance with Section 6.06). 
 

 Section 6.03.  Rights Following Termination.  Upon termination of this Agreement, (a) the City 
shall have no obligation to reimburse the Developer for any costs incurred or paid by the Developer, and 
(b) neither the City nor the Developer shall have any further rights or responsibilities to the other 
hereunder (except to the extent any of the specific provisions hereof by their express terms survive 
termination of this Agreement or by their nature require or contemplate completion after termination).  
The provisions of this section shall survive termination of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 6.04. Term of Agreement.   
 
 (a) This Agreement and all of the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall 
terminate and become null and void upon the earlier of (1)(A) the termination of all rights and obligations 
of the parties hereunder relating to the Redevelopment Plan, the Redevelopment Project Area and the 
application of TIF Revenues as provided in subsection (b) below, (B) the termination of all rights and 
obligations of the parties hereunder relating to the Business District, the Business District Plan and the 
application of Business District Revenues as provided in subsection (c) below, and (C) the final payment 
by the City of the Hotel Motel to the Developer as required under Section 5.03 hereof, or (2)  the delivery 
of a written notice by the Developer or the City (and recordation of a copy of such notice with the Coles 
County Recorder) that this Agreement has been terminated pursuant to Section 6.01 or 6.02 hereof. 
 
 (b) All of the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder relating to the Redevelopment 
Plan, the Redevelopment Project Area and the application of TIF Revenues shall terminate and become 
null and void on December 31 of the year in which payment to the City Treasurer is to be made with 
respect to ad valorem taxes levied in the twenty-third calendar year after the year in which the ordinance 
of the City approving the Redevelopment Project Area is adopted; provided that such rights and 
obligations shall terminate sooner upon the reimbursement of all Eligible Project Costs pursuant to 
Article IV hereof. 
 
 (c) All of the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder relating to the Business District, 
the Business District Plan and the application of Business District Revenues, shall terminate and become 
null and void on that date which is 23 years after the date of adoption of the ordinance of the City 
approving the Business District Plan. 
 
 Section 6.05. Remedies. In the case of a default under Section 3.02(a), the City may 
terminate this Agreement without providing the Developer an opportunity to cure such a default.  In the 
case of any other default in or breach of any term or condition of this Agreement by either party, the 
defaulting or breaching party shall, upon written notice from the other party specifying such default or 
breach, cure or remedy such default or breach within 30 days after receipt of notice (or such longer period 
as shall be reasonably required to cure such default), provided that (1) the breaching party has 
commenced such cure within said 30-day period, and (2) the breaching party diligently prosecutes such 

EXHIBIT A



 

-11- 

cure to completion.  If such cure or remedy is not taken or not diligently pursued, or the default or breach 
is not cured or remedied as provided above, the aggrieved party may institute such proceedings as may be 
necessary or desirable in its opinion to cure and remedy such default or breach, including, but not limited 
to proceedings to compel specific performance by the defaulting or breaching party.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the Developer hereby acknowledges that its sole and exclusive remedy against the City relative 
to any default or breach by the City hereunder shall be the remedy of specific performance and in no 
event shall the City be liable to the Developer for money damages.  If either party files suit to enforce this 
Agreement against the other party, the non-prevailing party shall pay the reasonable attorney’s fees of the 
prevailing party.   
 
 Section 6.06. Extensions of Time for Performance. 
 
 (a) Upon satisfaction of the provisions of paragraph (b) of this Section, neither the City nor 
the Developer nor any successor in interest shall be considered in breach or default of their respective 
obligations under this Agreement, and times for performance of obligations hereunder shall be equitably 
adjusted in the event of any delay caused by force majeure, including, without limitation, damage or 
destruction by fire or casualty; strike; lockout; civil disorder; acts of terrorism; significant escalation of 
hostilities involving U.S. armed forces; lack of issuance of any permits and/or legal authorization by the 
governmental entity necessary for the Developer to proceed with construction of the Coles Centre 
Hospitality Project or any portion thereof, including rezoning and approval of the Final Site Plan for the 
Coles Centre Hospitality Project (but only if the Developer files all necessary documentation relating 
thereto in a timely manner); shortage or delay in shipment of material or fuel; acts of God; extraordinary 
inclement weather or wet soil conditions; sudden illness or serious injury affecting the ability to work; or 
other causes beyond the parties’ reasonable control, including, but not limited to, any litigation, court 
order or judgment resulting from any litigation affecting the validity of the Redevelopment Plan, the 
Business District Plan, the Coles Centre Hospitality Project or this Agreement, or eminent domain actions 
(other than eminent domain litigation wherein valuation of a parcel is the only issue being litigated) 
(hereinafter referred to as an “Event of Force Majeure”). 
 
 (b) No event under Section 6.06(a) shall be deemed to exist (1) as to any matter that could 
have been avoided by the exercise of due care in accordance with industry standards and (2) unless the 
Developer provides the City with a written notice of the claimed event of Event of Force Majeure within 
ninety (90) days after the Developer had actual knowledge of the claimed Event of Force Majeure. 
 
 

ARTICLE VII 
 

ASSIGNMENT 
 
 Section 7.01.  Transfer of Property.   
 
 (a) This Agreement shall be binding on and shall inure to the benefit of the parties named 
herein and their respective successors and assigns. 
 
 (b) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all or any part of the Coles Centre 
Hospitality Area or the Coles Centre Hospitality Project or any interest therein may be sold, transferred, 
encumbered, leased, or otherwise disposed of at any time, and the rights of the Developer or any 
successor in interest to the Developer under this Agreement or any part hereof may be assigned at any 
time before, during or after construction of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project, whereupon the party 
disposing of its interest in the Coles Centre Hospitality Area or the Coles Centre Hospitality Project or 
assigning its interest under this Agreement shall be thereafter released from further obligation under this 

EXHIBIT A



 

-12- 

Agreement (although the Coles Centre Hospitality Area or the Coles Centre Hospitality Project so 
disposed of, or to which such interest pertains shall remain subject to the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement; provided that prior to the City’s acceptance of the Certificate of Substantial Completion 
relating to Phase I, the Developer may not dispose of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project or any interest 
therein or assign its rights or obligations hereunder without the City’s prior written consent, which shall 
not be unreasonably withheld, and in each instance and satisfaction of subsection (c) below.   The City 
hereby consents to the granting of security interests, collateral assignments and/or mortgages of the Coles 
Centre Hospitality Area, the Coles Centre Hospitality Project, and the Developer’s interest in and to this 
Agreement and the rights created hereunder, to Developer’s Financing Parties. 
 
 (c) Upon demonstration to the City’s reasonable satisfaction that a proposed transferee of the 
Coles Centre Hospitality Project has sufficient financial worth and expertise to carry out the Coles Centre 
Hospitality Project, the Developer may sell, transfer, assign or otherwise dispose of the Coles Centre 
Hospitality Project and the rights, duties and obligations of the Developer under this Agreement with 
respect thereto (including the release and indemnification obligations contained in Section 8.01 herein).  
 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

COVENANTS AND REPRESENTATIONS 
 
 Section 8.01.  Indemnification and Release. 
 
 (a) The Developer agrees that, anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, it will (at the 
Developer’s sole cost) defend and hold the City, its employees, agents, and independent contractors and 
consultants (“City Representatives”) harmless against any and all claims, loss, damages, injury and 
liability, including attorney’s fees and court costs, however caused (except if due to the gross negligence 
or willful misconduct of the City or the City Representatives, or the failure of the City to comply with its 
legal or administrative procedures), resulting from, arising out of, or in any way connected with the 
approval or adoption of the Business District Plan, the Business District or this Agreement, including 
without limitation any legal action brought challenging all or any of the foregoing, or the exercise by the 
Developer of any authority granted by this Agreement, the construction of the Coles Centre Hospitality 
Project, the failure to comply with any laws relating to the payment of prevailing wage, the negligence or 
willful misconduct of the Developer, its employees, agents or independent contractors or consultants, or 
the condition of property within the Coles Centre Hospitality Area. 
 
 (b) The City and the Developer agree that the Developer shall assume the defense on behalf 
of the Developer and/or the City and City Representatives, and defend vigorously thereafter any litigation 
challenging the legality of the Business District Plan, the Business District, the Coles Centre Hospitality 
Project, or any ordinances connected therewith, in a timely manner with the goal of upholding all the 
aforementioned and this Agreement, and any related ordinances and agreements and in order to fulfill the 
goals of the Business District Plan, provided that the Developer shall only be required to assume such 
defense to the extent that such challenge would affect the validity of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project.  
The City may intervene in any such litigation but shall cooperate with the attorneys specified by the 
Developer to defend the respective parties.  The Developer, on behalf of itself and its affiliates and 
principals, hereby releases the City and City Representatives of any and all liability of any kind or nature 
in any right, cause of action or claim of any kind or nature, which may now or hereafter exist with respect 
to any of City’s acts or omissions in connection with considering any and all proposals for development 
respecting all or any part of the Coles Centre Hospitality Area.  The indemnifications contained in this 
Agreement shall survive termination or expiration of this Agreement.  Furthermore, neither the City nor 
the City’s Representatives shall be liable to the Developer if all or any part of the Act, the Redevelopment 

EXHIBIT A



 

-13- 

Plan, the Business District Plan, the Redevelopment Project Area, the Business District, this Agreement  
or any ordinances relating thereto is declared invalid or unconstitutional in whole or in part by the final 
(as to which all rights of appeal have expired or have been exhausted) judgment of any court of competent 
jurisdiction. 
  
 Section 8.02.  Notice of Challenge to Assessed Valuation.  The Developer shall provide (or 
cause to be provided) written notice to the City prior to taking any action contesting the assessed 
valuation of any property within the Coles Centre Hospitality Area.   
 
 Section 8.03.  Maintenance of the Coles Centre Hospitality Area. 
 
 (a) The Developer shall maintain the Coles Centre Hospitality Area in compliance with all 
provisions of the City’s municipal code relating to maintenance and appearance during the construction of 
the Coles Centre Hospitality Project or any portion thereof. 
 
 (b) Upon substantial completion of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project, the Developer or its 
successor(s) in interest, shall maintain or cause to be maintained the buildings and improvements within 
the Redevelopment Project Area which it owns or controls in a good state of repair and condition and in 
conformity with applicable state and local laws, ordinances and regulations.  If there are separately-owned 
or controlled parcels of real estate within the affected portion(s) of the Redevelopment Project Area 
during the term of this Agreement, each successor in interest to the Developer shall maintain or cause to 
be maintained the buildings and improvements on its parcel in a good state of repair and condition and in 
conformity with applicable state and local laws, ordinances and regulations, and shall maintain or cause to 
be maintained reasonable property and liability insurance with respect to the same in accordance with this 
Agreement. 
 

Section 8.04.  Representations of the City.  The City makes the following representations and 
warranties, which are true and correct on the date hereof: 
 

 (a) Due Authority.  The City has full constitutional and lawful right, power and 
authority, under current applicable law, to execute and deliver and perform the terms and 
obligations of this Agreement, and all of the foregoing have been or will be duly and validly 
authorized and approved by all necessary City proceedings, findings and actions.  Accordingly, 
this Agreement constitutes the legal valid and binding obligation of the City, enforceable in 
accordance with its terms except as enforcement may be limited by general principles of equity 
whether applied by a court of law or equity, including, without limitation: (i) principles governing 
the availability of specific performance, injunctive relief or other traditional equitable remedies; 
(ii) principles affording traditional equitable defenses (such as waiver, laches or estoppel) as 
applied to a party seeking enforcement; or (iii) the requirement of good faith and fair dealing and 
the application of reasonable commercial standards of conduct in performance and enforcement 
of agreements on the part of the party seeking enforcement. 

 
 (b) No Defaults or Violation of Law.  The execution and delivery of this Agreement, 
the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of the terms and 
conditions hereof do not and will not conflict with or result in a breach of any of the terms or 
conditions of any agreement or instrument to which it is now a party, and do not and will not 
constitute a default under any of the foregoing. 
 
 (c) No Litigation.  To the best of the City’s knowledge, no litigation, proceedings or 
investigations are pending or threatened against the City (i) with respect to the Coles Centre 
Hospitality Project or this Agreement, or (ii) seeking to restrain, enjoin or in any way limit the 

EXHIBIT A



 

-14- 

execution and delivery of this Agreement or which would in any manner challenge or adversely 
affect the existence or powers of the City to enter into and carry out the transactions described in 
or contemplated by the execution, delivery, validity or performance by the City of the terms and 
provisions of this Agreement. 
 
 (d) Governmental or Corporate Consents.  No consent or approval is required to be 
obtained from, and no action need be taken by, or document filed with, any governmental body or 
corporate entity in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by the City of this 
Agreement. 
 
 (e) No Default.  No default or event of default in any material effect has occurred 
and is continuing, and no event has occurred and is continuing which with the lapse of time or the 
giving of notice, or both, would constitute a default or an event of default in any material respect 
on the part of the City under this Agreement. 
 

 Section 8.05.  Representations of the Developer.  The Developer makes the following 
representations and warranties, which representations and warranties are true and correct on the date 
hereof: 
 

 (a) Due Authority.  The Developer has all necessary power and authority to execute 
and deliver and perform the terms and obligations of this Agreement and to execute and deliver 
the documents required of the Developer herein, and such execution and delivery has been duly 
and validly authorized and approved by all necessary proceedings.  Accordingly, this Agreement 
constitutes the legal valid and binding obligation of the Developer, enforceable in accordance 
with its terms except as enforcement may be limited by general principles of equity whether 
applied by a court of law or equity, including, without limitation: (1) principles governing the 
availability of specific performance, injunctive relief or other traditional equitable remedies; 
(2) principles affording traditional equitable defenses (such as waiver, laches or estoppel) as 
applied to a party seeking enforcement; or (3) the requirement of good faith and fair dealing and 
the application of reasonable commercial standards of conduct in performance and enforcement 
of agreements on the part of the party seeking enforcement. 
 
 (b) No Defaults or Violation of Law.  The execution and delivery of this Agreement, 
the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of the terms and 
conditions hereof do not and will not conflict with or result in a breach of any of the terms or 
conditions of any corporate or organizational restriction or of any agreement or instrument to 
which it is now a party, and do not and will not constitute a default under any of the foregoing. 
 
 (c) No Litigation.  No litigation, proceedings or investigations relating to the Coles 
Centre Hospitality Project are pending or, to the knowledge of the Developer, threatened against 
the Developer.  In addition, no litigation, proceedings or investigations are pending or, to the 
knowledge of the Developer, threatened against the Developer seeking to restrain, enjoin or in 
any way limit the execution and delivery of this Agreement or which would in any manner 
challenge or adversely affect the existence or powers of the Developer to enter into and carry out 
the transactions described in or contemplated by the execution, delivery, validity or performance 
by the Developer of the terms and provisions of this Agreement. 
 
 (d) Governmental or Corporate Consents.  Except as provided in Section 3.02(d), no 
consent or approval is required to be obtained from, and no action need be taken by, or document 
filed with, any governmental body or corporate entity in connection with the execution, delivery 

EXHIBIT A



 

-15- 

and performance by the Developer of this Agreement, except for consents that must be secured 
subsequent to the execution of this Agreement. 
 
 (e) No Default.  No default or event of default has occurred and is continuing, and no 
event has occurred and is continuing which with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, 
would constitute a default or an event of default in any material respect on the part of the 
Developer under this Agreement or any other material agreement or material instrument to which 
the Developer is a party or by which the Developer is or may be bound. 
 
 (f) Compliance with Laws.  The Developer is in material compliance with all valid 
laws, ordinances, orders, decrees, decisions, rules, regulations and requirements of every duly 
constituted governmental authority, commission and court applicable to any of its affairs, 
business, operations as contemplated by this Agreement. 
 
 (g) Accuracy of Project Data.  The Developer represents that, as of the date hereof, 
the information in the Redevelopment Proposal is, to the best of the Developer’s knowledge, true 
and accurate in all material respects, and does not omit any information which is necessary to be 
included in order to make the Redevelopment Proposal not misleading in any material respect as 
of the date hereof. 
 
Section 8.06.  Cooperation in Determining Business District Tax Revenues.  The City and the 

Developer agree to cooperate and take all reasonable actions necessary to cause the Business District Tax 
Revenues to be paid into the funds and accounts as provided herein, including the City’s enforcement and 
collection of all such payments through all reasonable and ordinary legal means of enforcement. 

 
(a) To further assist the City in calculating Business District Tax Revenues, the 

Developer (or its successor(s) in interest as owner or owner(s) of the Coles Centre Hospitality 
Area) shall use all reasonable efforts to: 

 
(i) Cause businesses operating on the Coles Centre Hospitality Area and 

required by law to file a Sales Tax Report, to file a separate Sales Tax Report for each 
separate business operation within the City in order to separately identify and declare all 
Business District Tax Revenues originating within the Coles Centre Hospitality Area. 

 
(ii) Cause any business operating in the Coles Centre Hospitality Area and 

required by law to file a Sales Tax Report, to designate sales subject to the Sales Tax 
Acts to be reported as originating from within the Coles Centre Hospitality Area to the 
fullest extent permitted by law (including, but not limited to, the inclusion of a clause so 
providing in any subleases of the Coles Centre Hospitality Area). 

 
(iii) Cause any retail business operating in the Coles Centre Hospitality Area 

and required by law to file a Sales Tax Report, at the time of each filing of an Illinois 
Department of Revenue form ST-l or any successor reporting form with the Illinois 
Department of Revenue, to provide a copy of such form to be filed with the City. 

 
(iv) Cause any retail business operating in the Coles Centre Hospitality Area 

and required by law to file a Sales Tax Report, to supply or cause to be supplied the 
appropriate authorizations to the Illinois Department of Revenue in substantially the form 
attached hereto as Exhibit E to provide such information directly to the City. 

 

EXHIBIT A



 

-16- 

 (b) The Developer and the City agree to cooperate and to take all additional 
reasonable actions necessary to ensure accurate calculation and deposits of all Sales Tax 
Revenues.  The City shall arrange with the Illinois Department of Revenue for the systematic 
receipt of sales tax information for the Coles Centre Hospitality Area.  The City acknowledges 
and agrees that information to be provided to the City pursuant to this Section 8.06 by the State 
of Illinois, the Developer, or owners and lessees hereunder is proprietary and valuable 
information and that any disclosure or unauthorized use thereof will cause irreparable harm to the 
Developer, or such owners and lessees, and that said information provided pursuant to this 
Section 8.06 is exempt from disclosure pursuant to Section 7(l)(g) of the Illinois Freedom of 
Information Act.   Except as required by a valid order issued by a court of competent jurisdiction, 
or required by applicable state or federal law, the City shall not disclose or otherwise release to 
any third party any information provided to the City pursuant to this Section 8.06 by the 
Developer, the State of Illinois, or the owners or lessees of businesses located within the Coles 
Centre Hospitality Area.   The City shall be permitted to disclose such information (i) to its agents 
or employees who are reasonably deemed by the City to have a need to know such information 
for purposes of this Agreement; provided, that such agents and employees shall likewise be 
bound by the terms and conditions of this Section 8.06 The confidentiality requirements of this 
Agreement shall survive any expiration, termination or cancellation of this Agreement and shall 
continue to bind the City, its successors, assigns and legal representatives for a period of five (5) 
years from the termination, expiration or cancellation of this Agreement.  The City shall promptly 
notify Developer and any affected owner or lessee as to any and all Freedom of Information Act 
requests and the commencement of any legal action in regard thereto such that Developer and/or 
any such owner or lessee shall have a meaningful opportunity to object to the release of any such 
confidential information and to take such action as such owner or lessee deems necessary in order 
to protect against the release of such confidential information, including but not limited to an 
action for a protective order, injunction or other equitable or legal relief. 
 
Section 8.07.  Definitions.  For the purposes of Section 8.06 the following terms shall have the 

following meanings: 
 

(a) “Sales Tax Revenues” shall mean the revenues from any and all retailers 
occupation taxes, retailers service occupation taxes, retailers use tax, retailers service use tax, 
lease taxes or taxes paid on rents (other than income taxes), the non-home rule municipal service 
occupation tax or any other “sales tax” that currently exists or any successor tax, fee or 
assessment in substitution thereof that may be enacted by the State of Illinois, the City, or any 
governmental agency or body created under the laws of the State of Illinois and located within the 
State of Illinois. 

 
(b) “Sales” shall mean all taxable transactions pursuant to the Sales Tax Acts, 

including sales of qualifying food, drugs, medical appliances, items required to be titled or 
registered and all other general merchandise from the Coles Centre Hospitality Area as required 
to be reported in the Sales Tax Reports. 

 
(c) “Sales Tax Acts” shall mean the Service Occupation Tax Act (35 ILCS 115/), the 

Retailers’ Occupation Tax Act (35 ILCS 120), , the Non-Home Rule Municipal Retailers’ 
Occupation Tax Act (65 ILCS 5/8-11-1.3), the Non-Home Rule Municipal Service Occupation 
Tax Act (65 ILCS 5/8-11-1.4), and any new or successor statutes or enabling authority 
authorizing the imposition of taxes on Sales or transactions similar to those subject taxation 
pursuant to the acts set forth in this sentence. 

 

EXHIBIT A



 

-17- 

(d) “Sales Tax Report” shall mean any of forms ST-1, ST-2 and ST-556 and any 
reports of taxable Sales required to be filed pursuant to the Sales Tax Acts, including any 
successor or comparable forms promulgated by the Illinois Department of Revenue. 

 
 Section 8.08.  Obligation to Report Business District Tax Revenues.  Any purchaser or 
transferee of real property located within the Coles Centre Hospitality Area, and any lessee or other user 
of real property located within the Coles Centre Hospitality Area, shall use all reasonable efforts to timely 
furnish to the City such documentation as is required by Section 8.06 hereof.  Such obligation shall be a 
covenant running with the land, shall be enforceable as if such purchaser, transferee, lessee or other user 
of such real property were originally a party to and bound by this Agreement and shall survive 
termination of this Agreement. 
 
 

ARTICLE IX 
 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
 Section 9.01.  Inspection.  The City may conduct such periodic inspections of the construction of 
the Coles Centre Hospitality Project as may be generally provided in the City’s municipal code.  In 
addition, the Developer shall allow other authorized representatives of the City access to the site from 
time to time upon reasonable advance notice for inspection of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project.  The 
Developer shall also allow the City and its employees, agents and representatives to inspect, upon request, 
all architectural, engineering, demolition, construction and other contracts and documents pertaining to 
the construction of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project as the City determines is reasonable and 
necessary to verify the Developer’s compliance with the terms of this Agreement.  The Developer shall 
advise each contractor for the Coles Centre Hospitality Project of the contractor’s obligations under the 
City’s municipal code regarding permits and inspections. 
 
 Section 9.02.  Notices.  Any notice, demand or other communication required by this Agreement 
to be given by one party to another party shall be in writing and shall be sufficiently given or delivered if 
dispatched by certified United States first class mail, postage prepaid, or delivered personally, 
 
 (a) In the case of the Developer, to: 
 

Coles Centre Hospitality, LLC 
1202 North Keller Drive 
Effingham, Illinois 62401 
Attention:  Charles F. Keller 
 
With a copy to: 
 
Taylor Law Offices, P.C. 
122 East Washington Avenue 
Effingham, Illinois 62401 
Attention:  Matthew R. Hortenstine 
 

 (b) In the case of the City, to: 
 

City of Mattoon 
  208 North 19th Street 

Mattoon, Illinois  61938 

EXHIBIT A



 

-18- 

Attention:  City Administrator 
 
With copies to: 
 
J. Preston Owen, C.P.A., J.D. 
208 North 19th Street 
Mattoon, Illinois  61938 
 
and 
 
Gilmore & Bell, P.C. 
211 North Broadway, Suite 2350 
St. Louis, Missouri  63102 
Attention:  Sean M. Flynn 

 
or to such other address with respect to either party as that party may, from time to time, designate in 
writing and forward to the other as provided in this paragraph. 
 

Section 9.03.  Choice of Law.  This Agreement shall be taken and deemed to have been fully 
executed, made by the parties in, and governed by the laws of the State of Illinois for all purposes and 
intents. 
 
 Section 9.04.  Entire Agreement; Amendment.  The parties agree that this Agreement 
constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and that no other agreements or representations other 
than those contained in this Agreement have been made by the parties.  This Agreement shall be amended 
only in writing and effective when signed by the authorized agents of the parties. 
 
 Section 9.05.  Counterparts.  This Agreement is executed in multiple counterparts, each of 
which shall constitute one and the same instrument. 
 
 Section 9.06.  Severability.  If any term or provision of this Agreement is held to be 
unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder shall continue in full force and effect to 
the extent the remainder can be given effect without the invalid provision, unless the unenforceable or 
invalid term or provision is such that a court reasonably would find that the parties, or either of them 
would not have entered the Agreement without such term or provision, or would not have intended the 
remainder of the Agreement to be enforced without such term or provision. 
 
 Section 9.07.  Representatives Not Personally Liable.  No official agent, employee, 
representative, shareholder, member, Financing Parties, consultant or contractor of the City or the 
Developer shall be personally liable to the other in the event of any default or breach by any party under 
this Agreement or for any amount which may become due to any party or on any obligation under the 
terms of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 9.08.  Mutual Assistance.  The parties agree to take such reasonable actions, including 
the execution and delivery of such documents, instruments, petitions and certifications supplemental 
hereto, and the obtaining of grants of access to and temporary easements over public property as may be 
necessary or appropriate to carry out the terms, provisions and intent of this Agreement and which do not 
impair the rights of the signing party as they exist under this Agreement, and to aid and assist each other 
in carrying out said terms, provisions and intent; provided that nothing herein shall be construed to 
obligate the City, acting as a party hereto, to grant municipal permits or other approvals it would not be 
obligated to grant, acting as a political subdivision absent this Agreement. 

EXHIBIT A



 

-19- 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City and Developer have caused this Agreement to be executed 
in their respective names and attested as to the date first above written. 
 
 
(SEAL)       CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 
 
 
       By:       
       Name: David W. Cline 
       Title: Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Susan J. O’Brien 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF ILLINOIS  ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF COLES  ) 
 
 On this _____ day of January, 2009, before me appeared, DAVID W. CLINE, who being, by me 
duly sworn did say that he is the Mayor of the CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS, a municipal 
corporation of the State of Illinois, and did say that the seal affixed to the foregoing instrument is the seal 
of said City, and that said instrument was signed and sealed on behalf of said City, by authority of its City 
Council; and acknowledged said instrument to be the free act and deed of said City. 
 
 IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal in the 
County and State aforesaid, the day and year first above written. 
 
 
              
       Name:       
       Notary Public - State of Illinois 
 
 
My commission expires: 
 
________________________ 
 

EXHIBIT A



 

-20- 

       COLES CENTRE HOSPITALITY, LLC 
 
 
 
       By:       
       Name:       
       Title:       
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF ILLINOIS  ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF ________ ) 
 
 
 On this _____ of January, 2009, before me appeared ___________________, to me personally 
known, who being, by me duly sworn, did say that he is the ___________________________ of  COLES 
CENTRE HOSPITALITY, LLC, a limited liability company authorized and existing under the laws of 
the State of Illinois, and that said instrument was signed on behalf of said company by authority of its 
board of directors and acknowledged said instrument to be the free act and deed of said company. 
 
 IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal in the 
County and State aforesaid, the day and year first above written. 
 
              
       Name:       
       Notary Public - State of _________________ 
 
My commission expires: 
 
 
________________________ 
 

EXHIBIT A



 

 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE COLES CENTRE HOSPITALITY AREA 

 
 

 

EXHIBIT A



 

B-1 

EXHIBIT B 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION 
 
 
 The undersigned, Coles Centre Hospitality, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company 
(“Developer”), pursuant to that certain Redevelopment Agreement dated as of _________, 2009, between 
the City of Mattoon, Illinois (the “City”), and the Developer (the “Agreement”), hereby certifies to the 
City as follows: 

 
 1. As of ____________, _____, the construction of [Phase I][Phase II][Phase III] of 
the Coles Centre Hospitality Project (as such terms are defined in the Agreement) has been 
substantially completed in accordance with the Agreement. 
 
 2. [Phase I][Phase II][Phase III] of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project has been 
substantially completed pursuant to the Agreement. 
  
 3. This Certificate of Substantial Completion is being issued by the Developer to 
the City in accordance with the Agreement to evidence Developer’s satisfaction of all material 
obligations and covenants with respect to [Phase I][Phase II][Phase III] of the Coles Centre 
Hospitality Project. 
 
 4. The acceptance (below) or the failure of the City to object in writing to this 
Certificate within sixty (60) days of the date of delivery of this Certificate to the City (which 
written objection, if any, must be delivered to the Developer prior to the end of such sixty (60) 
days) shall evidence the satisfaction of the Developer’s agreements and covenants to construct 
[Phase I][Phase II][Phase III] of the Coles Centre Hospitality Project. 

 
 Upon such acceptance by the City, the Developer may record this Certificate in the office of the 
Coles County Recorder of Deeds.  This Certificate is given without prejudice to any rights against third 
parties which exist as of the date hereof or which may subsequently come into being.  Terms not 
otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the Agreement. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has hereunto set his/her hand this _____ day of 
__________, 20__. 
 
       COLES CENTRE HOSPITALITY, LLC 
  
 
 
       By:       
       Name:       
        

EXHIBIT A



 

B-2 

 
       ACCEPTED: 
 

       CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 

 
 
       By:       
       Name:       
       Title:       
 
 
 

(Insert Notary Form(s) and Legal Description) 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A



 

C-1 

EXHIBIT C 
 

CERTIFICATE OF ELIGIBLE PROJECT COSTS 
 
 

 
TO: City of Mattoon 
 208 North 19th Street 
 Mattoon, Illinois  61938 
 Attention:  City Administrator 
 
 RE: City of Mattoon, Illinois, Coles Centre Hospitality Area 
 

Terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the 

Redevelopment Agreement dated as of _____________, 2009 (the “Agreement”) between the City and 

Coles Centre Hospitality, LLC  In connection with said Agreement, the undersigned hereby states and 

certifies that: 

 

1. Each item listed on Schedule 1 hereto is an Eligible Project Cost under the TIF Act, the 
Redevelopment Plan and the Agreement and shall be paid from the Special Tax Allocation Fund – Coles 
Centre Hospitality Account. 

 
2. Each item listed on Schedule 1 was incurred in connection with the construction of the 

Coles Centre Hospitality Project. 
 
3. Each item listed on Schedule 1 has not previously been paid or reimbursed from money 

derived from the Special Tax Allocation Fund – Coles Centre Hospitality Account and no part thereof has 
been included in any other certificate previously filed with the City. 

 
4. If any cost item to be paid or reimbursed under this Certificate is deemed not to constitute 

a “redevelopment project cost” within the meaning of the TIF Act the Developer may substitute other 
Eligible Project Costs for payment hereunder. 

 
5. The Developer is not in default or breach of any term or condition of the Agreement. 

 
 
Dated this _____ day of __________, 20___ 
 

       COLES CENTRE HOSPITALITY, LLC  

 
 
       By:       
 
       Name:       
 
       Its:       
 

 
 

EXHIBIT A



 

C-2 

 
 
Approved for payment this _____ day of __________, 20___: 
 

CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 

 
 
By:      
 
Title:      
 

EXHIBIT A



 

D-1 

EXHIBIT D 
 

CONCEPT SITE PLAN 
 
 

EXHIBIT A



 

D-2 

EXHIBIT A



 

E-1 

EXHIBIT E 
 

SALES TAX REPORTING RELEASE FOR THE STATE OF ILLINOIS 
 
 

To: ____________, Manager 
 Local Tax Allocation Division 
 Illinois Department of Revenue 
 101 West Jefferson Street 3-500 
 Springfield, IL  62702 
 217-785-6518 
 217-524-0526 (fax) 
 

AUTHORIZATION TO RELEASE SALES TAX INFORMATION 
 

The undersigned is an owner/authorized officer of _____________ (“Taxpayer”) which is doing business 
in the retail Business Location known as the I-57 East Business District (the “Business Location”) located 
at [Project Location] Mattoon, Illinois (the “City”). 
 
In order to induce the development of the Business Location, the City is utilizing certain sales tax 
revenues to provide a partial reimbursement of project costs to the developer of the Business Location. 
 
Pursuant to Section 11 of the Retailers’ Occupation Tax Act, the undersigned Taxpayer hereby authorizes 
the Illinois Department of Revenue to disclose to the City at __________________ the amount of 1% 
business district sales tax payments made by the Taxpayer beginning with sales made in the month of 
______________, and continuing until the Illinois Department of Revenue is notified to discontinue 
reporting. 
 
Taxpayer:      
 
By:       
 
Name:       
 
Title:       
 
IBT#:       
 
Phone:      
 
Date:       
 
City Address:      

 

EXHIBIT A



  

CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2009-5268 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING AN AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS AND 

THE STATE OF ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Mattoon has implemented a Tax Increment Financing District 
and a Business District near the intersection of Illinois Route 16 and Lerna Road in Mattoon, 
known as the I-57 East TIF District and the I-57 East Business District; and 
 

WHEREAS, through the I-57 East TIF District and the I-57 East Business District, the 
City intends to enter into certain redevelopment agreements with Coles Centre, L.L.C. and Coles 
Centre Hospitality L.L.C. that call for the redevelopment of over one hundred thirty (130) acres 
at the intersection of Illinois Route 16 and Lerna Road; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Mattoon has caused to be prepared and submitted to the 

Department of Transportation Intersection Design Studies for the intersection of Illinois Route 
16 and Lerna Road and the intersection of Lerna Road and Thomason Drive; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Public Works Director has been working with the Department of 

Transportation to come to an agreement on the terms and timing for the construction necessary to 
handle the increased traffic caused by the redevelopment of the 130 acres; and,    

 
WHEREAS, The State of Illinois Department of Transportation is asking the City of 

Mattoon to enter into an agreement (attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit A) 
memorializing the understandings with regard to the rights and obligations of each party 
concerning the future upgrades necessitated by the redevelopment; and,   

  
 WHEREAS, the City intends to pay for any improvements required under this agreement 
with monies from the I-57 East TIF District and the I-57 East Business District. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1. The facts and statements contained in the preamble to this Ordinance are 
found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Ordinance. 
 

Section 2. The Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to execute, on behalf of the 
City, and the City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to attest, and affix the seal of the City 
to, the Agreement (attached hereto as Exhibit A).  The Agreement, in substantially the form 
attached hereto, is hereby approved by the City Council, with such changes therein as shall be 
approved by the officers of the City executing the same. 

 
Section 3 The officers, agents and employees of the City are hereby authorized and 

directed to execute all documents and take such necessary steps as they deem necessary and 
advisable in order to carry out and perform the purpose of this Ordinance. 
 
 Section 4. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the date of 



  

its passage and approval as provided by law. 
 
Upon motion by _______________________, seconded by            , 
adopted this _________ day of January, 2009, by a roll call vote, as follows: 
 
AYES (Names):           
           
           
NAYS (Names):          
ABSENT (Names):         
      
Approved this     day of    , 2009.  
 
 
 
              
       David W. Cline, Mayor 
       City of Mattoon, Coles County, Illinois 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Susan J. O’Brien, City Clerk    J. Preston Owen, City Attorney 
 
Recorded in the Municipality’s Records on ______________________________, 2009. 



 FAP Route 91 (Illinois Route 16) 

With FAU 7705 (Lerna Road) 

(Proposed Coles Centre Drive and  

Thomason Drive) 

 Section: 1 MFT 

 Coles County 

 Agreement No. JN 709 002 

 

 

AGREEMENT 

 

This Agreement is made and entered into on this ___________day of ___________, 20   

between the CITY OF MATTOON, of the State of Illinois, hereinafter called the “CITY”, in 

cooperation with an un-named developer, hereinafter called the DEVELOPER, and the State of 

Illinois, acting by and through its Department of Transportation, hereinafter referred to as 

“STATE”.   

 

WITNESSETH: 

 

 WHEREAS, the CITY, in cooperation with the DEVELOPER, is desirous of developing a 

property on the south side of FAP 91 (IL Route 16), between FAU 7705 (Lerna Road) and FAI 

57 (I57) in Mattoon, and; 

  

WHEREAS, the CITY is desirous of gaining access to the development from IL 16 and 

has filed a request for an access permit from the STATE to construct a right turn only entrance 

and right turn only exit approximately 775 feet west of Lerna Road  at station 145+08 on IL 16  

and;     

   

WHEREAS, the CITY is desirous of gaining access to the development from FAU 7705 

(Lerna Road), a state maintained route which intersects IL 16 at approximate station 993+72, 

and has filed a request for an access permit from the STATE to construct a westerly extension 

to Thomason Drive (muni 2000), a public street and part of the existing municipal street system; 

and  

 

WHEREAS, the CITY, in order to incorporate the proposed intersections into the 

municipal street system is proposing to construct Coles Centre Drive from IL 16 southerly to an 

intersection with proposed Coles Centre Parkway which will extend in an easterly direction and 

a curvilinear fashion to intersect with the proposed westerly extension of Thomason Drive as 

shown on the DEVELOPER’S original plan; and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, the 

parties hereto agree as follows  

 

1) The CITY and STATE agree that: work for the entire project is described and shall be 

completed in phases  

 

a) Phase one includes but is not limited to: 

 

i) Acquiring all necessary rights-of-way for proposed development including the 

roadways. Fee title or dedication of the roadways must be held by the City; 

ii) Constructing  new pavements for Coles Centre Drive, Coles Center Parkway and 

Thomason Drive  conforming to the permit issued for the construction, IDOT Policy 

“Access to State Highways”, and the most current “Standard Specifications for Road 

and Bridge Construction” and in accordance with the plans and specifications as 

prepared by the Developer and approved by the State; 

EXHIBIT A



-2- 

iii) Constructing a public road and intersection at IL 16 for Coles Centre Drive from the 

south edge of pavement of IL 16 southerly to Coles Center Parkway, providing a 12 

foot and variable width right turn only lane for east bound traffic on IL 16 to turn onto 

Coles Centre Avenue, 8’ Hot mix asphalt shoulder and a 2’ type A aggregate 

shoulder; 

iv) Constructing a public road and intersection for Thomason Drive  from the west edge 

of Lerna Road to Coles Center Parkway  providing, a 13 foot through traffic lane in 

each direction, a 13’ and variable width left turn only lane and 18’ and variable width 

raised concrete median, curb and gutter, and storm sewer;  

v) Constructing Coles Center Parkway from Coles Center Drive to Thomason Drive 

vi) Adding Landscaping, and Striping;  

vii) By performing all other work necessary to complete the improvement in accordance 

with the state approved plans and specifications.  

 

b) Phase two includes but is not limited to: 

 

i) Upgrading signals at Lerna Road and IL 16 

ii) Installing signals at Lerna Road and Thomason Drive (if warranted) 

iii) Constructing for each intersection, left and right turn lanes and widening as specified 

by an approved intersection design studies for the year of construction and 

specifications in force at the time of construction. 

iv) And by performing all other work necessary to complete the improvement in 

accordance with the state approved plans and specifications.  

 

2) The City agrees to make the surveys, obtain all necessary rights of way, prepare plats, plans 

and specifications, receive bids and award the contract, furnish engineering inspection 

during construction and cause the improvement to be built in accordance with the plans, 

specifications and contract. 

 

3) The City agrees to pay for all right-of-way, construction and engineering costs for phase one 

and two without reimbursement by the STATE.   

 

4) The CITY agrees to provide for all utility adjustments, and to regulate the use of the right-of-

way of this improvement by utilities, public and private, in accordance with the current 

Accommodation of Utilities on Right of Way of the Illinois State Highway System  

 

5) The CITY agrees to apply for, execute and abide by an access permit from the Department 

of Transportation. This agreement and said permit will expire if  Phase one is not completed 

by the close of the third fiscal year following the fiscal year in which this Agreement is 

executed,  

 

6) The CITY agrees, that a permit for intersection of IL 16 and Coles Centre Drive  will be 

issued without requesting or filing an “Order to Rescind an Established Freeway” with the 

conditions that a municipal street system connector would be constructed and that Traffic 

signals and other work in phase two will be completed in its entirety coincident with, before, 

but no later than two years after the following condition is met: 

 

a) The Average Daily Traffic (ADT) Count, as determined by the STATE, on the newly 

constructed west leg of Thomason Drive reaches 3000. Current ADT is 0. 

 

7) The CITY certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief its officials: 

 

(a) are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible 

or voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or 

agency 

EXHIBIT A



-3- 

(b) have not within a three-year period preceding this Agreement been convicted of or 

had a civil judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal 

offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain or performing a public 

(Federal, State or local) transaction or contract under a public transaction; violation 

of Federal or State antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, 

bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false statements receiving 

stolen property; 

(c) are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a 

governmental entity (Federal, State, local) with commission of any of the offenses 

enumerated in item (b) of this certification; and 

(d) Have not within a three-year period preceding the Agreement had one or more public 

transactions (Federal, State, local) terminated for cause or default. 

 

8) The CITY agrees to include the certifications, listed in item 7 above and all other 

certifications required by State statutes, in every contract, including procurement of 

materials and leases of equipment. 

 

9) The CITY agrees that no Federal or State funds are being used for Phase one of this 

project.  

 

10) The CITY has adopted and will put into effect an appropriate ordinance, prior to advertising 

for the proposed work to be performed hereunder, requiring that parking be prohibited on IL 

16 and Lerna Road within the limits of this improvement, a copy of which is attached hereto 

as “Exhibit B”, and will in the future prohibit parking at such locations on or immediately 

adjacent to this improvement as may be determined necessary by the STATE from traffic 

capacity studies. 

 

11) The CITY has adopted and shall enforce an ordinance prior to advertising for the proposed 

work to be performed hereunder, prohibiting the discharge of sanitary sewage and industrial 

waste water into any storm sewers constructed as a part of this improvement, a copy of 

which is attached hereto as “Exhibit D”. 

 

12) The CITY has adopted and will put into effect an appropriate ordinance, prior to advertising 

for the proposed work to be performed hereunder, or shall continue to enforce an existing 

ordinance, relative to the disposition of encroachments and prohibiting, in the future, any 

new encroachments within the limits of the improvements, a copy of which is attached as 

“Exhibit E”.  

 

13) Prior to advertising for the work proposed hereunder, the disposition of existing 

encroachments will be cooperatively resolved with representatives from the CITY and the 

STATE. 

 

14) The CITY shall maintain, for a minimum of 5 years after the completion of the Project, 

adequate books, records, and supporting documents to verify the amounts, recipients, and 

uses of all disbursements of funds passing in conjunction with this Agreement.  All books, 

records, and supporting documents related to the Project shall be available for review and 

audit by the Auditor General and other State auditors and the CITY agrees to cooperate fully 

with an audit conducted by the Auditor General and other State Auditors and to provide full 

access to all relevant materials.  Failure to maintain the books, records, and supporting 

documents required by this paragraph shall establish a presumption in favor of the STATE 

for the recovery of any funds paid by the STATE under this Agreement for which adequate 

books, records, and supporting documentation are not available to support their purported 

disbursement. 

 

EXHIBIT A



-4- 

15) The CITY agrees not to permit driveway entrance openings to be made in the curb, as 

constructed, or the construction of additional entrances not shown on the plans, private or 

commercial, along, or within the Access Control limits of IL 16 or the right of way of Lerna 

Road without the consent of the STATE. 

 

 

16) Upon final field inspection of the improvement, the CITY  agrees to maintain or cause to be 

maintained, in a manner satisfactory to the STATE and FHWA, those portions of the 

improvement within its jurisdiction as established in this document that are not maintained 

by the STATE including the pavements, the adjacent curb and gutter, adjacent shoulders, 

sidewalks, guardrails, crosswalks and stop line markings, the storm sewer and detention 

systems and CITY owned utilities including appurtenances thereto, highway lighting 

including furnishing the electrical energy therefore and shall maintain all of the storm sewers 

and appurtenances by: performing those functions necessary to keep the sewer in a 

serviceable condition including cleaning sewer lines, inlets, manholes and catch basins 

along with the repair or replacement of inlet, manholes and catch basins’ frames, grates or 

lids, all structural failures within the city’s jurisdiction.  

 

17) Upon acceptance by the STATE of the traffic signal work included in phase two of the 

project as described herein, the financial responsibility for the maintenance and electrical 

energy charges for the operation of the traffic signal(s) shall be proportioned as follows: 

 

 

Intersection % of Maintenance 

Responsibility 

% of Energy Charges 

Responsibility 

Agency Performing 

Maintenance 

IL Route 16 State City Other State City Other  

@ Lerna Road 100 0 0 100 0 0 City of Mattoon 

 

    

Lerna Road State City Other State City Other  

@ Proposed 

Thomason Drive 

50 50 0 50 50 0 City of Mattoon 

 

 

18) Upon acceptance by the STATE of the new traffic signal installations and of the completed 

project as described herein, the responsibility for maintenance and energy outlined above 

shall become a part of the Intergovernmental agreement for Local Agency Maintenance of 

Traffic Control Devices, hereinafter called the “Master Agreement” executed by the State 

and the CITY on August 16, 2001 or current agreement in force for year of construction.  

 

19) It is further agreed that the traffic signals shall be maintained to at least the Level of 

Maintenance shown in Exhibit B of the Master Agreement. 

 

20) The CITY agrees to pay for and make arrangements for the local Power Company to furnish 

the electrical energy for the operation of the traffic signals. The CITY will pay for all 

installation costs, including but not limited to deposits, labor, poles, lines and other materials 

to provide the service.  

 

21) The CITY agrees to bill the State according to the Master Agreement. 

 

22) Upon final field inspection of the improvement and so long as IL 16 is used as a State 

Highway, the STATE agrees to maintain or cause to be maintained all through and turn 

lanes on IL 16 and the curb and gutter or stabilized shoulders and ditches adjacent to those 

traffic lanes and turn lanes to be maintained by the STATE. 

 

EXHIBIT A



-5- 

23) Upon final field inspection of the improvement and so long as Lerna Road is used as a State 

Highway, the STATE agrees to maintain or cause to be maintained all through and turning 

lanes on Lerna Road and the curb and gutter or stabilized shoulders and ditches adjacent to 

those traffic lanes and turn lanes to be maintained by the STATE. 

 

24) The CITY and STATE have mutually agreed to the jurisdiction. The CITY has agreed to 

accept jurisdiction of the completed project except the portion held by the STATE prior to 

this agreement and new improvements within State Right of Way along IL16 and Lerna 

Road.  The State has agreed to retain jurisdiction that it held prior to this agreement and the 

improvements within the Right of Way of IL 16 and Lerna Road unless otherwise stated in 

this agreement. 

 

25) It is mutually agreed that neither this agreement nor the access permit constitute a sale or 

lease of any right of way or release of access control. No compensation has been paid to 

the State for the permitted access on IL 16 as defined in this agreement. The State has not 

filed an Order to Rescind an Established Freeway. Therefore, no future compensation will 

be paid to the city or to any other party in the event that the permitted access is rescinded 

changed or otherwise denied.  

 

26) It is mutually agreed that obligations of the STATE will cease immediately without penalty or 

further payment being required if, in any fiscal year, the Illinois General Assembly or Federal 

funding source fails to appropriate or otherwise make available funds for this contract. 

 

27) It is mutually agreed that this AGREEMENT and the covenants contained herein shall be 

null and void in the event the contract covering Phase one construction work is not permitted 

and awarded within the two years.  

 

28) It is mutually agreed that this agreement shall be binding upon and to the benefit of the 

parties hereto, their successors and assigns. 

 

 

       CITY of MATTOON 

 

Attest: 

       By:  ___________________________ 

___________________________    

                  Clerk     TITLE:  ________________________ 

 

  (SEAL)     Date:  __________________________ 

 

 

 

STATE OF ILLINOIS 

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

 

 

Printed Name:  Roger J Driskell___________________________    

     

Title:    Deputy Director / Region 4 Engineer 

 

 

Signature:   _____________________________    

 

Date:    _____________________ 

  

EXHIBIT A



  

CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2009-5269 
 

AN ORDINANCE IN RELATION TO MOTOR VEHICLE PARKING 
 

WHEREAS, the CITY of MATTOON, has entered into an Agreement with the 
STATE OF ILLINOIS, acting by and through its Department of Transportation, for the 
construction of a municipal roadway system connecting to both FAP 91 (IL Route 16), and FAU 
7705 (Lerna Road), in order to aid in the development of adjacent land; and 

  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Mattoon as 
follows: 
 
Section 1: It shall be unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to park any motor vehicle 

within the area indicated below: 
  

FAP 91 (IL Route 16), for its entire length from FAI 57 to Lerna Road and  
 
FAU 7705 (Lerna Road) from IL 16 to 550 feet past Thomason Drive  

 
Section 2: Any person who violates any provision of this ordinance is guilty of a misdemeanor 

and on conviction thereof shall be punished by a fine of not less than one dollar 
($1.00) nor more than five hundred dollars ($500.00) for each offense.  

 
Section 3: This ordinance is intended to be and shall be in addition to all other ordinances, rules 

and regulations concerning parking and shall not be construed as rescinding or 
repealing any other ordinance or part of any ordinance unless it is in direct conflict 
therewith. 

 
Section 4: This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force upon its passage, approval and 

legal publication as required by law, and the City Clerk is hereby directed to cause 
this ordinance to be published immediately after its due passage and approval. 

 
Upon motion by_____________________, seconded by__________________________ adopted 
this    day of    , 2009, by a roll call vote, as follows: 
 
 
AYES (Names): ____________________________________ 
   ____________________________________ 
   ____________________________________ 
NAYS (Names): ____________________________________ 
ABSENT (Names): ____________________________________ 
 
Approved this     day of     , 2009. 
 
     
             
      ______________________________ 
      David W. Cline, Mayor 
      City of Mattoon, Coles County, Illinois 



  

 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
______________________________ ______________________________ 
Susan J. O’Brien, City Clerk   J. Preston Owen, City Attorney 
 
 
Recorded in the Municipality’s Records on      , 2009. 

   
 
 

 
STATE OF ILLINOIS              ) 
                                                   ) SS 
COUNTY OF COLES              ) 
  
I, Mrs. _____                                                             , Clerk in and for the City of Mattoon, hereby 
certify the foregoing to be a true, perfect and complete copy of the resolution adopted by the 
Mayor and City Council at a meeting on January 20, 2009. 
 
 
__________________________   

     Clerk 
 



  

CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2009-5270 
 

AN ORDINANCE IN PROHIBITING THE DISCHARGE OF SANITARY SEWAGE 
AND INDUSTRIAL WASTE WATER INTO THE STORM SEWER OR DRAINAGE 
FACILITY CONSTRUCTED WITH IMPROVEMENT FAP 91 (IL ROUTE 16), AND 

FAU 7705 (LERNA ROAD), IN THE CITY OF MATTOON, COLES COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS 

 
WHEREAS, the CITY of MATTOON, has entered into an Agreement with the 

STATE OF ILLINOIS, acting by and through its Department of Transportation, for the 
construction of a municipal roadway system connecting to both FAP 91 (IL Route 16), and FAU 
7705 (Lerna Road), in order to aid in the development of adjacent land; and 

  
WHEREAS, this improvement includes the construction of storm sewers and/ or appurtenances 
for highway drainage. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Mattoon as 
follows: 
 
Section 1: It shall be unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to connect or cause to be 

connected any drain carrying or to carry any toilet, sink, basement, septic tank, 
cesspool, industrial waste or any fixture or device discharging polluting 
substances into any storm sewer constructed as part of this improvement. 

Section 2: This ordinance is intended to be and shall be in addition to all other ordinances, 
rules and regulations concerning storm sewers and shall not be construed as 
rescinding or repealing any other ordinance or part of any ordinance unless it is in 
direct conflict therewith. 

Section 3: Any person, firm or corporation  violating this Ordinance shall be fined not less 
than one dollar ($1.00) nor more than five hundred dollars ($500.00) for each 
offense and separate offense shall be deemed committed each and every day 
during which a violation continues or exists.  

Section 4:  That this Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage, approval and 
publication as provided by law. 

 
Be it further ordained that the City of Mattoon does hereby authorize and empower the Mayor to 
execute this ordinance on behalf of the City of Mattoon; and 
 
Be it further ordained that the City Clerk is hereby directed to transmit three certified copies of 
this ordinance to the Illinois Department of Transportation through its District Engineer’s office 
at 400 W. Wabash Effingham, Illinois 62401. 
 
Upon motion by_____________________, seconded by__________________________ adopted 
this    day of    , 2009, by a roll call vote, as follows: 
 
 
AYES (Names): ____________________________________ 
   ____________________________________ 
   ____________________________________ 
NAYS (Names): ____________________________________ 



  

ABSENT (Names): ____________________________________ 
 
Approved this     day of     , 2009. 
 
     
             
      ______________________________ 
      David W. Cline, Mayor 
      City of Mattoon, Coles County, Illinois 
 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
______________________________ ______________________________ 
Susan J. O’Brien, City Clerk   J. Preston Owen, City Attorney 
 
 
Recorded in the Municipality’s Records on      , 2009. 

   
 
 

 
STATE OF ILLINOIS              ) 
                                                   ) SS 
COUNTY OF COLES              ) 
  
I, Mrs. _____                                                             , Clerk in and for the City of Mattoon, hereby 
certify the foregoing to be a true, perfect and complete copy of the resolution adopted by the 
Mayor and City Council at a meeting on January 20, 2009. 
 
 
__________________________   

     Clerk 



  

 
CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2009-5271 

 
AN ORDINANCE REGULATING ENCROACHMENT ON  

PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY IN THE CITY OF MATTOON, COLES COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
 

WHEREAS, the CITY of MATTOON, has entered into an Agreement with the 
STATE OF ILLINOIS, acting by and through its Department of Transportation, for the 
construction of a municipal roadway system connecting to both FAP 91 (IL Route 16), and FAU 
7705 (Lerna Road), in order to aid in the development of adjacent land; and 

 
WHEREAS, this improvement includes the purchase of Right of Way, in order to facilitate said 
construction it is necessary for the City of Mattoon to adopt an ordinance regulating 
encroachment on the right of way for said improvement in accordance with the following 
definitions:  
 

Roadway right of way is defined as those areas existing or acquired by dedication or by fee 
simple for highway purposes; also, the areas acquired by permanent easement and temporary 
easement during the time the easement is in effect.  
 
Project right of way is defined as those areas within the project right of way lines established 
jointly by the City of Mattoon and the State which will be free of encroachments except as 
hereinafter defined; 
 
Encroachment is defined as any building, fence, sign (excluding certain signs located over 
sidewalks) or any other structure or object of any kind (with the exception of utilities and 
public road signs), which placed, located or maintained, in, on, under or over any portion of 
the project right of way or the roadway right of way where no project right of way line has 
been established; 
 
Permissible encroachment is defined as any existing awning, marquee or sign advertising 
activity on the property, or similar overhanging structure supported from a building 
immediately adjacent to the limits of the platted street where there is no sidewalk extending 
to the building line and which does not impair the free and safe flow of pedestrian traffic or 
traffic on the highway. The permissive retention of overhanging signs is not to be construed 
as being applicable to those signs supported by poles constructed outside the project right of 
way line and mot confined by adjacent buildings; 
 
Construction easement area is defined as the area lying between the project right of way 
limits and the platted street limits within the City of Mattoon, by concurrence in the 
establishment of the project right of way lines, will permit the STATE to enter to perform all 
necessary construction operations; and 
 

WHEREAS, representatives of the city, the state and the Federal Highway Administration, will 
have, by visual inspection, cooperatively establish project right of way line and mutually 
determine the disposition of encroachments, 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Mattoon as 
follows: 



  

 
Section 1:  It shall be unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to erect or cause to be 

erected, to retain or cause to be retained, any encroachment (herein above 
defined), except as provided in Section 3, within the limits of the project right 
of way or the roadway right of way where no project right of way limits have 
been established. 

 
Section 2:  The Project right of way limits have been established and shown in the plans. 
 
Section 3:  No revocable permits have been issued by the State for the temporary 

retention of PERMISSIBLE ENCROACHMENTS.   
 
Section 4:  This ordinance is intended to be and shall be in addition to all other 

ordinances, rules and regulations concerning Encroachment and shall not be 
construed as rescinding or repealing any other ordinance or part of any 
ordinance unless it is in direct conflict therewith. 

 
Section 5:  Any person, firm or corporation violating this Ordinance shall be fined not 

less than one dollar ($1.00) nor more than five hundred dollars ($500.00) for 
each offense and separate offense shall be deemed committed each and every 
day during which a violation continues or exists.  

 
Section 6:  That this Ordinance shall be published one time within ten days after its 

passage in a newspaper having a general circulation in the City of Mattoon, 
Illinois, and shall be in full force and effect after its passage, approval and 
publication as provided by law. 

 
Upon motion by_____________________, seconded by__________________________ adopted 
this    day of    , 2009, by a roll call vote, as follows: 
 
 
AYES (Names): ____________________________________ 
   ____________________________________ 
   ____________________________________ 
NAYS (Names): ____________________________________ 
ABSENT (Names): ____________________________________ 
 
Approved this     day of     , 2009. 
 
     
             
      ______________________________ 
      David W. Cline, Mayor 
      City of Mattoon, Coles County, Illinois 
 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
______________________________ ______________________________ 
Susan J. O’Brien, City Clerk   J. Preston Owen, City Attorney 



  

 
 
Recorded in the Municipality’s Records on      , 2009. 

   
 
 

 
STATE OF ILLINOIS              ) 
                                                   ) SS 
COUNTY OF COLES              ) 
  
I, Mrs. _____                                                             , Clerk in and for the City of Mattoon, hereby 
certify the foregoing to be a true, perfect and complete copy of the resolution adopted by the 
Mayor and City Council at a meeting on January 20, 2009. 
 
 
__________________________   

     Clerk 



  

 
CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2009-5272 

 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS AND COLES CENTRE 
L.L.C. AND AUTHORIZING CERTAIN ACTIONS BY CITY OFFICIALS. 

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment 
Act, 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-1, et seq., as amended (the “TIF Act”), the City Council on December 5, 
2006 (1) approved a plan entitled “Tax Increment Financing Redevelopment Project and Plan – 
I-57 East Redevelopment Project Area” (the “Redevelopment Plan”), (2) designated certain real 
property located in the City as the I-57 East Redevelopment Project Area, which includes land 
owned by Coles Centre L.L.C., and (3) adopted tax increment financing for the I-57 East 
Redevelopment Project Area; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Business District Development and Redevelopment Act, 65 
ILCS 5/11-74.3 et seq., as amended (the “Business District Act”), the City Council on September 
2, 2008 (1) approved a plan entitled “I-57 East Business District Plan” (the “Business District 
Plan”), (2) designated certain real property located in the City as a business district (the 
“Business District”), which includes land owned by Coles Centre L.L.C.,, and (3) authorized the 
imposition of certain additional sales taxes within the Business District; and 

 
WHEREAS, in response to a solicitation of proposals by the City for redevelopment of 

certain property that includes the owned by Coles Centre L.L.C., (the “Redevelopment Area”), 
Coles Centre L.L.C. (the “Developer”) submitted a proposal (the “Redevelopment Proposal”) for 
redevelopment of the Redevelopment Area; and 

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the TIF Act and the Business District Act the City is authorized 
to enter into a redevelopment agreement (the “Redevelopment Agreement”) with the Developer 
setting forth the respective rights and obligations of the City and the Developer with regard to the 
redevelopment of the Redevelopment Area. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. The City Council hereby ratifies and confirms its approval of the 
Redevelopment Plan, the Business District Plan and the redevelopment project described in the 
Redevelopment Proposal (the “Redevelopment Project”) and its findings in connection 
therewith.  The City Council finds and determines that it is necessary and desirable to enter into 
an agreement with the Developer to implement the Redevelopment Plan, the Business District 
Plan and the Redevelopment Project and to enable the Developer to carry out the Redevelopment 
Proposal. 
 

Section 2. The Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to execute, on behalf of the 
City, and the City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to attest, and affix the seal of the City 
to, the Redevelopment Agreement (attached hereto as Exhibit A).  The Redevelopment 
Agreement, in substantially the form attached hereto, is hereby approved by the City Council, 
with such changes therein as shall be approved by the officers of the City executing the same. 



  

 
Section 3. The officers, agents and employees of the City are hereby authorized and 

directed to execute all documents and take such necessary steps as they deem necessary and 
advisable in order to carry out and perform the purpose of this Ordinance. 
 
 Section 4. The sections of this Ordinance shall be severable.  If any section of this 
Ordinance is found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the remaining sections 
shall remain valid, unless the court finds that: (a) the valid sections are so essential to and 
inseparably connected with and dependent upon the void section that it cannot be presumed that 
the City Council has or would have enacted the valid sections without the void ones; and (b) the 
valid sections, standing alone, are incomplete and are incapable of being executed in accordance 
with the legislative intent. 
 

Section 5. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the date of 
its passage and approval as provided by law. 
 
Upon motion by _______________________, seconded by             , 
adopted this _________ day of January, 2009, by a roll call vote, as follows: 
 
AYES (Names): ______________________________________________________ 
NATYS (Names): ______________________________________________________ 
ABSENT (Names): ______________________________________________________ 
 
Approved this _________ day of ________________, 2009. 
 
 
              
       David W. Cline, Mayor 
       City of Mattoon, Coles County, Illinois 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Susan J. O’Brien, City Clerk    J. Preston Owen, City Attorney 
 
Recorded in the Municipality’s Records on ______________________________, 2009. 
 



EXHIBIT A 
 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
 
 
 THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into 
as of the _____ day of January, 2009, by and between the CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 
(the “City”), a non-home rule city and political subdivision of the State of Illinois, and COLES 
CENTRE, L.L.C. (the “Developer”), a limited liability company duly authorized and existing 
under the laws of the State of Illinois.   
 
 1. Pursuant to the provisions of the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, 
65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-1, et seq., as amended (the “Act”), the City Council of the City has adopted 
tax increment financing for a “redevelopment project area” known as the I-57 East 
Redevelopment Project Area, which includes an approximately 109.12 acre site owned by the 
Developer and described on Appendix A hereto (the “Developer Area”). 
 
 2. The Developer desires to undertake the infrastructure improvements in the 
Developer Area as described in this Agreement (the “Project”) and shown on the Plan attached 
hereto as Appendix B (the “Plan”). 
 
 3. The City desires to induce development in the Developer Area by entering into 
this Agreement and assisting in the development of the Developer Area as described herein. 
 

Section 1.  Obligations of the Developer. 
 
 (a) Road, Sidewalk and Lights.  The Developer will acquire, construct and install, at 
its own expense, all roadways, sidewalks and street lighting in the Developer Area, as shown on 
the attached Plan.  In addition, the Developer will construct, at its own expense, all connecting 
roads from the interior park road to Illinois Route 16 and Lerna Road as shown on the attached 
Plan. 
 
 (b) Sewer.  The Developer will acquire, construct and install, at its own expense, 
sanitary sewer and storm drainage improvements in the Developer Area, as shown on the 
attached Plan.  No upgrades are currently required by the City to the existing sanitary sewer and 
storm drainage system to complete the proposed project of Coles Centre Hospitality, LLC, 
consisting of a 30,000 square foot convention center along with two hotels (the “Coles Centre 
Hospitality Project”). 
 
 (c) Water.  The Developer will acquire, construct and install, at its own expense, the 
water lines in the Developer Area, as shown on the attached Plan.   
 
 (d) Signage.  The Developer agrees to grant the City easements in a location mutually 
acceptable to the City and the Developer in the Developer Area in order for the City to construct 
and maintain no more than 3 signs directing vehicles to I-57. 
 



 

 Section 2. Representations of the Developer.  The Developer makes the following 
representations and warranties, which representations and warranties are true and correct on the 
date hereof: 
 

 (a) Due Authority.  The Developer has all necessary power and authority to 
execute and deliver and perform the terms and obligations of this Agreement and to 
execute and deliver the documents required of the Developer herein, and such execution 
and delivery has been duly and validly authorized and approved by all necessary 
proceedings.  Accordingly, this Agreement constitutes the legal valid and binding 
obligation of the Developer, enforceable in accordance with its terms except as 
enforcement may be limited by general principles of equity whether applied by a court of 
law or equity, including, without limitation: (1) principles governing the availability of 
specific performance, injunctive relief or other traditional equitable remedies; 
(2) principles affording traditional equitable defenses (such as waiver, laches or estoppel) 
as applied to a party seeking enforcement; or (3) the requirement of good faith and fair 
dealing and the application of reasonable commercial standards of conduct in 
performance and enforcement of agreements on the part of the party seeking 
enforcement. 
 
 (b) No Defaults or Violation of Law.  The execution and delivery of this 
Agreement, the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, and the 
fulfillment of the terms and conditions hereof do not and will not conflict with or result in 
a breach of any of the terms or conditions of any corporate or organizational restriction or 
of any agreement or instrument to which it is now a party, and do not and will not 
constitute a default under any of the foregoing. 
 
 (c) No Litigation.  No litigation, proceedings or investigations relating to the 
Project are pending or, to the knowledge of the Developer, threatened against the 
Developer.  In addition, no litigation, proceedings or investigations are pending or, to the 
knowledge of the Developer, threatened against the Developer seeking to restrain, enjoin 
or in any way limit the execution and delivery of this Agreement or which would in any 
manner challenge or adversely affect the existence or powers of the Developer to enter 
into and carry out the transactions described in or contemplated by the execution, 
delivery, validity or performance by the Developer of the terms and provisions of this 
Agreement. 
 
 (d) No Default.  No default or event of default has occurred and is continuing, 
and no event has occurred and is continuing which with the lapse of time or the giving of 
notice, or both, would constitute a default or an event of default in any material respect 
on the part of the Developer under this Agreement or any other material agreement or 
material instrument to which the Developer is a party or by which the Developer is or 
may be bound. 
 



 

 (e) Compliance with Laws.  The Developer is in material compliance with all 
valid laws, ordinances, orders, decrees, decisions, rules, regulations and requirements of 
every duly constituted governmental authority, commission and court applicable to any of 
its affairs, business, operations as contemplated by this Agreement. 
 

  (f)  Corridor Development District.  The Developer acknowledges that the 
Developer Area is located within the Corridor Development District and that the 
Developer will comply with all standards and restrictions established by the City within 
the District.    

 
 Section 3.  Obligations of the City. 
 
 (a) TIF Funds.  The City agrees to use not less than 80% of all incremental property 
taxes generated in the Developer Area (“TIF Revenues”) to pay (1) costs relating to 
improvements benefiting the Developer Area, including the improvements described in (b) and 
(c) below, and (2) annual administrative costs of the City incurred in connection with the I-57 
East Redevelopment Project Area, provided that all costs to be paid from TIF Revenues are 
eligible costs under the Act.   
 
 (b) Access to Developer Area.  The City agrees to provide reasonable assistance to 
the Developer in securing access from Route 16 to the Developer Area.  If future upgrades are 
required to Lerna Road by the Illinois Department of Transportation, as a result of increase 
development within the Developer Area, the City will construct such upgrades. 
 
 (c) Water Lines.  If necessary to allow sufficient water flow and pressure to the 
Developer Area, the City will construct an additional 14” water line from the Standpipe under I-
57 to the western edge of the water loop inside the Developer Area.  
 

Section 4.  Representations of the City.  The City makes the following representations 
and warranties, which are true and correct on the date hereof: 
 

 (a) Due Authority.  The City has full constitutional and lawful right, power 
and authority, under current applicable law, to execute and deliver and perform the terms 
and obligations of this Agreement, and all of the foregoing have been or will be duly and 
validly authorized and approved by all necessary City proceedings, findings and actions.  
Accordingly, this Agreement constitutes the legal valid and binding obligation of the 
City, enforceable in accordance with its terms except as enforcement may be limited by 
general principles of equity whether applied by a court of law or equity, including, 
without limitation: (i) principles governing the availability of specific performance, 
injunctive relief or other traditional equitable remedies; (ii) principles affording 
traditional equitable defenses (such as waiver, laches or estoppel) as applied to a party 
seeking enforcement; or (iii) the requirement of good faith and fair dealing and the 
application of reasonable commercial standards of conduct in performance and 
enforcement of agreements on the part of the party seeking enforcement. 

 
 (b) No Defaults or Violation of Law.  The execution and delivery of this 



 

Agreement, the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, and the 
fulfillment of the terms and conditions hereof do not and will not conflict with or result in 
a breach of any of the terms or conditions of any agreement or instrument to which it is 
now a party, and do not and will not constitute a default under any of the foregoing. 
 
 (c) No Litigation.  To the best of the City’s knowledge, no litigation, 
proceedings or investigations are pending or threatened against the City (i) with respect 
to the Project or this Agreement, or (ii) seeking to restrain, enjoin or in any way limit the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement or which would in any manner challenge or 
adversely affect the existence or powers of the City to enter into and carry out the 
transactions described in or contemplated by the execution, delivery, validity or 
performance by the City of the terms and provisions of this Agreement. 
 
 (d) Governmental or Corporate Consents.  No consent or approval is required 
to be obtained from, and no action need be taken by, or document filed with, any 
governmental body or corporate entity in connection with the execution, delivery or 
performance by the City of this Agreement. 
 
 (e) No Default.  No default or event of default in any material effect has 
occurred and is continuing, and no event has occurred and is continuing which with the 
lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute a default or an event of 
default in any material respect on the part of the City under this Agreement. 

 
 Section 5.  Construction Schedule.  The Developer shall commence the Project within 
60 days after Coles Centre Hospitality LLC begins construction of the Coles Centre Hospitality 
Project, which is defined by conducting civil earthwork and site work.  Completion of the Project 
shall be no later than 8 months after Coles Centre Hospitality LLC begins construction.  If Coles 
Centre Hospitality LLC fails to begin construction, then the letter of credit provided by the 
Developer for purposes of approval of the subdivision plat for the Developer Area shall be 
released and returned by the City to the Developer within ten (10) days after written notice by 
the Developer to the City notwithstanding the provisions of Ordinance 88-4582 or any other 
ordinance of the City. 
 
 Section 6.  Developer’s Right of Termination.  The Developer may, by giving written 
notice to the City, abandon the Project and terminate this Agreement and the Developer’s 
obligations hereunder with respect thereto if the Developer determines, in its sole discretion, that 
the Project is no longer economically feasible.  The City shall release and return to the Developer 
the letter of credit identified in Section 5 of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 7.  City’s Right of Termination.  The City may terminate this Agreement at any 
time if the Developer fails to complete the Project within the time specified in Section 5 (subject 
to extension in accordance with Section 11). 

 
 Section 8.  Rights Following Termination.  Upon termination of this Agreement, (a) the 
City shall have no obligation to reimburse the Developer for any costs incurred or paid by the 
Developer, and (b) neither the City nor the Developer shall have any further rights or 



 

responsibilities to the other hereunder (except to the extent any of the specific provisions hereof 
by their express terms survive termination of this Agreement or by their nature require or 
contemplate completion after termination).  The provisions of this section shall survive 
termination of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 9. Term of Agreement.  This Agreement, and all of the rights and 
obligations of the parties hereunder, shall terminate and shall become null and void on that date 
which is 23 years from the date of adoption of the ordinance approving tax increment financing 
for the I-57 East Redevelopment Project Area. 
 
 Section 10. Remedies. In the case of a default under Section 5, the City may 
terminate this Agreement without providing the Developer an opportunity to cure such a default.  
In the case of any other default in or breach of any term or condition of this Agreement by either 
party, the defaulting or breaching party shall, upon written notice from the other party specifying 
such default or breach, cure or remedy such default or breach within 30 days after receipt of 
notice (or such longer period as shall be reasonably required to cure such default), provided that 
(1) the breaching party has commenced such cure within said 30-day period, and (2) the 
breaching party diligently prosecutes such cure to completion.  If such cure or remedy is not 
taken or not diligently pursued, or the default or breach is not cured or remedied as provided 
above, the aggrieved party may institute such proceedings as may be necessary or desirable in its 
opinion to cure and remedy such default or breach, including, but not limited to proceedings to 
compel specific performance by the defaulting or breaching party.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the Developer hereby acknowledges that its sole and exclusive remedy against the 
City relative to any default or breach by the City hereunder shall be the remedy of specific 
performance and in no event shall the City be liable to the Developer for money damages.  If 
either party files suit to enforce this Agreement against the other party, the non-prevailing party 
shall pay the reasonable attorney’s fees of the prevailing party.   
 
 Section 11. Extensions of Time for Performance. 
 
 (a) Upon satisfaction of the provisions of paragraph (b) of this Section, neither the 
City nor the Developer nor any successor in interest shall be considered in breach or default of 
their respective obligations under this Agreement, and times for performance of obligations 
hereunder shall be extended in the event of any delay caused by force majeure, including, 
without limitation, damage or destruction by fire or casualty; strike; lockout; civil disorder; acts 
of terrorism; significant escalation of hostilities involving U.S. armed forces; lack of issuance of 
any permits and/or legal authorization by the governmental entity necessary for the Developer to 
proceed with construction of the Project or any portion thereof; shortage or delay in shipment of 
material or fuel; acts of God; unusually adverse weather or wet soil conditions; sudden illness or 
serious injury affecting the ability to work; or other causes beyond the parties’ reasonable 
control, including, but not limited to, any litigation, court order or judgment resulting from any 
litigation affecting the validity of the adoption of tax increment financing for the Developer 
Area, the Project or this Agreement, or eminent domain actions (other than eminent domain 
litigation wherein valuation of a parcel is the only issue being litigated). 
 
 (b) No event under (a) shall be deemed to exist (1) as to any matter that could have 



 

been avoided by the exercise of due care in accordance with industry standards, (2) as to any 
matter unreasonably sustained by the Developer, and (3) unless the Developer (i) uses good faith 
efforts to provide the City with a written notice within 20 days of the commencement of such 
claimed event specifying the event of force majeure, or (ii) demonstrates to the City’s 
satisfaction that the Developer has diligently pursued its obligations under this Agreement, but 
for reasons beyond the Developer’s control, has been unable to complete such obligations within 
the time specified in this Agreement. 
 
 Section 12.  Indemnification and Release. 
 
 (a) The Developer agrees that, anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, it will 
(at the Developer’s sole cost) defend and hold the City, its employees, agents, and independent 
contractors and consultants (“City Representatives”) harmless against any and all claims, loss, 
damages, injury and liability, including attorney’s fees and court costs, however caused (except 
if due to the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the City or the City Representatives, or 
the failure of the City to comply with its legal or administrative procedures), resulting from, 
arising out of, or in any way connected with the approval or adoption of this Agreement, 
including without limitation any legal action brought challenging all or any of the foregoing, or 
the exercise by the Developer of any authority granted by this Agreement, the construction of the 
Project, the negligence or willful misconduct of the Developer, its employees, agents or 
independent contractors or consultants, or the condition of property within the Developer Area. 
 
 (b) The City and the Developer agree that the Developer shall assume the defense on 
behalf of the Developer and/or the City and the City Representatives, and defend vigorously 
thereafter any litigation challenging the legality of the Project or this Agreement, or any 
ordinances connected therewith, in a timely manner, provided that the Developer shall only be 
required to assume such defense to the extent that such challenge would affect the validity of the 
Project.  The City may intervene in any such litigation but shall cooperate with the attorneys 
specified by the Developer to defend the respective parties.  The Developer, on behalf of itself 
and its affiliates and principals, hereby releases the City and the City Representatives of any and 
all liability of any kind or nature in any right, cause of action or claim of any kind or nature, 
which may now or hereafter exist with respect to any of City’s acts or omissions in connection 
with considering any and all proposals for development respecting all or any part of the 
Developer Area.  The indemnifications contained in this Agreement shall survive termination or 
expiration of this Agreement.  Furthermore, neither the City nor the City Representatives shall be 
liable to the Developer if all or any part of the Act or the above-referenced ordinances is declared 
invalid or unconstitutional in whole or in part by the final (as to which all rights of appeal have 
expired or have been exhausted) judgment of any court of competent jurisdiction. 
 
 Section 13.  Miscellaneous. 
 

(a) Choice of Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
Illinois for all purposes and intents. 
 
 (b) Entire Agreement; Amendment.  The parties agree that this Agreement constitutes 
the entire agreement between the parties and that no other agreements or representations other 



 

than those contained in this Agreement have been made by the parties.  This Agreement shall be 
amended only in writing and effective when signed by the authorized agents of the parties. 
 
 (c) Counterparts.  This Agreement is executed in multiple counterparts, each of 
which shall constitute one and the same instrument. 
 
 (d) Severability.  If any term or provision of this Agreement is held to be 
unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder shall continue in full force and 
effect to the extent the remainder can be given effect without the invalid provision, unless the 
unenforceable or invalid term or provision is such that a court reasonably would find that the 
parties, or either of them would not have entered this Agreement without such term or provision, 
or would not have intended the remainder of this Agreement to be enforced without such term or 
provision. 
 
 (e) Representatives Not Personally Liable.  No official agent, employee, 
representative or consultant of the City or the Developer shall be personally liable to the other in 
the event of any default or breach by any party under this Agreement or for any amount which 
may become due to any party or on any obligation under the terms of this Agreement. 
 
 (f) Mutual Assistance.  The parties agree to take such reasonable actions, including 
the execution and delivery of such documents, instruments, petitions and certifications 
supplemental hereto, and the obtaining of grants of access to and temporary easements over 
public property as may be necessary or appropriate to carry out the terms, provisions and intent 
of this Agreement and which do not impair the rights of the signing party as they exist under this 
Agreement, and to aid and assist each other in carrying out said terms, provisions and intent; 
provided that nothing herein shall be construed to obligate the City, acting as a party hereto, to 
grant municipal permits or other approvals it would not be obligated to grant, acting as a political 
subdivision absent this Agreement. 
 
 
 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.] 
 
 
 
  
 



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City and Developer have caused this Agreement to be executed 
in their respective names and attested as to the date first above written. 
 
 
(SEAL)       CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 
 
 
       By:       
       Name: David W. Cline 
       Title: Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Susan J. O’Brien 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF ILLINOIS  ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF COLES  ) 
 
 On this _____ day of ______________, 2009, before me appeared, DAVID W. CLINE, 
who being, by me duly sworn did say that he is the Mayor of the CITY OF MATTOON, 
ILLINOIS, a municipal corporation of the State of Illinois, and did say that the seal affixed to 
the foregoing instrument is the seal of said City, and that said instrument was signed and sealed 
on behalf of said City, by authority of its City Council; and acknowledged said instrument to be 
the free act and deed of said City. 
 
 IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal 
in the County and State aforesaid, the day and year first above written. 
 
 
              
       Name:       
       Notary Public - State of Illinois 
 
 
My commission expires: 
 
________________________ 
 



 

 
       COLES CENTRE, L.L.C. 
 
 
 
       By:       
       Name:       
       Title:       
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF ILLINOIS  ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF ________ ) 
 
 
 On this _____ of ____________, 2009, before me appeared ___________________, to 
me personally known, who being, by me duly sworn, did say that he is the 
___________________________ of  COLES CENTRE, L.L.C., a limited liability company 
organized under the laws of the State of Illinois, and that said instrument was signed on behalf of 
said company by authority of its board of directors and acknowledged said instrument to be the 
free act and deed of said company. 
 
 IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal 
in the County and State aforesaid, the day and year first above written. 
 
              
       Name:       
       Notary Public - State of ________________ 
 
My commission expires: 
 
 
________________________ 
 



EXHIBIT A

Ordinance 2009-5272



EXHIBIT B

Ordinance 2009-5272 



EXHIBIT B

Ordinance 2009-5272 



EXHIBIT B

Ordinance 2009-5272 



 

 
CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 

 
SPECIAL ORDINANCE NO. 2009-1315 

 
AN ORDINANCE VACATING THE DEED OF DEDICATION AND THE FINAL PLAT 
OF SUBDIVISION FOR LAND OWNED BY COLES CENTRE, L.L.C. AND MANAGED 

BY AGRACEL, INC., COMMONLY KNOW AS COLES CENTRE 
 
WHEREAS, Coles Centre L.L.C. as owner and Agracel Inc. as acting managing partner has 
surveyed and subdivided into a blocks and street right-of-ways as shown on the final plat Coles 
Centre provided to the City Council in accordance with the Statute of the State of Illinois in 
such made and provided; and 

 

WHEREAS, said plat of the subdivision known as Coles Centre, City of Mattoon, Coles 
County, Illinois has been submitted to the City Council of the City of Mattoon and approval on 
December 16th 2003, in the manner as by law required; and 

 
WHEREAS, said plat of the subdivision known as Coles Centre, City of Mattoon, Coles 
County,  Illinois has been filed and recorded with the Coles County Recorder’s Office on 
October 6th 2004, in the manner as by law required; and  
  
WHEREAS, construction of street right-of ways and other portions of Coles Centre has not 
been implemented and there has been a desire to redesign said subdivision;  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF 
MATTOON, COLES COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows: 
 
Section 1. Pursuant to enabling authority, that the plat, of Coles Centre and the Deed of 
Dedication, to the City of Mattoon, Coles County, Illinois, be hereby vacated by the City 
Council in the manner as provided by law. 
 
Section 2. This ordinance shall be deemed published as of the day of its adoption and approval 
by the City Council.  
 
Section 3. This ordinance shall be effective upon its approval as provided by law. 
 
Section 4. The City Clerk shall make and file a duly certified copy of this ordinance with the 
Clerk and Recorder’s Office of Coles County, Illinois.  
 
Upon motion by ______________________, seconded by ________________________, 
adopted this ______ day of ___________________, 2009, by a roll call vote, as follows: 
 
AYES (Names):   __________________________________________ 
   __________________________________________ 
   __________________________________________ 
NAYS (Names):  __________________________________________ 



 

ABSENT (Names): __________________________________________ 
 
Approved this       day of    , 2009.  
 
 
 

___________________________________ 
       David W. Cline, Mayor 
       City of Mattoon, Coles County, Illinois  
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
__________________________   _______________________________ 
Susan J. O’Brien, City Clerk               J. Preston Owen, City Attorney 
 
 
Recorded in the Municipality’s Records on _________________________, 2009.  



 

CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 
 

SPECIAL ORDINANCE NO. 2009-1316 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING THE FINAL SUBDIVISION PLAT OF 
 COLES CENTRE SUBDIVISION  

 
WHEREAS, Coles Centre L.L.C. as owner and Agracel Inc. as acting managing partner of the 
following described property: 
 

A part of Section 16, Township 12 North, Range 8 East, of the Third Principal 
Meridian, Coles County, Illinois, being more particularly described as follows: 

 
COMMENCING at the Northeast corner of the Southeast Quarter of said Section 
16, being an iron pin; Thence, S 00° 46' 14" W, all bearings are referenced to the 
Illinois State Plane Coordinate System, East Zone Datum 1983, along the East 
line of the Southeast Quarter of said Section 16, to the Northeast corner of the 
Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of said Section 16, a distance of 
1331.09, to a point; Thence, S 88° 45' 56" W, along the North line of the 
Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of said Section 16, to the West Right-
of-Way line of Lerna Road, a distance of 1339.95 feet, to the POINT OF 
BEGINNING, being a point; Thence, S 00° 00' 24" W, along the West Right-of-
Way line of Lerna Road, to the South line of said Section 16, a distance of 
1332.88 feet, to an iron pin; Thence, S 88° 39' 33" W, along the South line of said 
Section16, a distance of 1855.50 feet, to an iron pin; 
Thence, N 00° 17' 37" E, to the South line of the North Half of the Southwest 
Quarter of said Section 16, a distance of 1336.49 feet, to an iron pin; Thence, S 
88° 45' 56" W, along the South line of the North Half of the Southwest Quarter of 
said Section 16, to the East Right-of-Way line of F.A.I. Route 04, a distance of 
1720.98 feet, to an iron pin; Thence, N 04° 55' 25" E, along the East Right-of-
Way line of F.A.I. Route 04, a distance of 234.86 feet, to an iron pin; Thence, N 
17° 41' 38" E, continuing along the East Right-of-Way line of F.A.I. Route 04, a 
distance of 317.84 feet, to an iron pin; Thence, N 48° 25' 01" E, continuing along 
the East Right-of-Way line of F.A.I. Route 04, a distance of 404.60 feet, to an 
iron pin; Thence, N 23° 47' 19" E, continuing along the East Right-of-Way line of 
F.A.I. Route 04, a distance of 352.33 feet, to an iron pin; Thence, N 73° 32' 46" E, 
continuing along the East Right-of-Way line of F.A.I. Route 04, a distance of 
286.40 feet, to an iron pin; Thence, N 86° 54' 14" E, continuing along the East 
Right-of-Way line of F.A.I. Route 04, a distance of 500.62 feet, to an iron pin; 
Thence, N 86° 19' 58" E, continuing along the East Right-of-Way line of F.A.I. 
Route 04, to the South Right-of-Way line of F.A.I. Route 17, a distance of 250.45 
feet, to an iron pin; Thence, N 89° 45' 57" E, along the South Right-of-Way line 
of F.A.I. Route 17, to the West Right-of-Way line of Lerna Road, a distance of 
1923.02 feet, to an iron pin; Thence, S 31° 40' 02" E, along the West Right-of-
Way line of Lerna Road, a distance of 114.27 feet, to an iron pin; Thence, S 00° 
00' 24" W, along the West Right-of-Way line of Lerna Road, a distance of 



 

1085.61 feet, to the POINT OF BEGINNING and containing 147.94 acres, more 
or less. 

 
has caused said premises to be surveyed and subdivided into a lots and street right-of-ways as 
shown on the plat submitted to the City Council for approval in accordance with the Statute of 
the State of Illinois in such made and provided; and 

 
WHEREAS, said plat of the subdivision to be known as Coles Centre Subdivision, City of 
Mattoon, Coles County , Illinois has been submitted to the City Council of the City of Mattoon 
for approval in the manner as by law required, which plat is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and 
made a part hereof by reference thereto; and 
 
WHEREAS, it appears from an examination of said plat that the same is in due form as required 
by law and complies with all rules, regulations, and requirements relative to subdivisions and 
zoning in the City of Mattoon, Illinois, and that by said plat should be approved; and 
  
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission of the City of Mattoon, Coles County, Illinois, has 
recommended that said plat be approved. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF 
MATTOON, COLES COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows: 
 
Section 1. Pursuant to enabling authority, that the plat, of Coles Centre Subdivision, to the City 
of Mattoon, Coles County, Illinois, be hereby approved and that a certificate of such approval be 
endorsed upon said plat signed by the Mayor and the City Clerk in the manner as provided by 
law. 
 
Section 2. This ordinance shall be deemed published as of the day of its adoption and approval 
by the City Council.  
 
Section 3. This ordinance shall be effective upon its approval as provided by law. 
 
Section 4. The City Clerk shall make and file a duly certified copy of this ordinance with the 
Clerk and Recorder’s Office of Coles County, Illinois.  
 
Upon motion by ______________________, seconded by ________________________, 
adopted this ______ day of ___________________, 2009, by a roll call vote, as follows: 
 
AYES (Names):   __________________________________________ 
   __________________________________________ 
   __________________________________________ 
NAYS (Names):  __________________________________________ 
ABSENT (Names): __________________________________________ 
 
Approved this       day of     , 2009.  
 



 

___________________________________ 
       David W. Cline, Mayor 
       City of Mattoon, Coles County, Illinois  
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
__________________________   _______________________________ 
Susan J. O’Brien, City Clerk               J. Preston Owen, City Attorney 
 
 
Recorded in the Municipality’s Records on _________________________, 2009.  



EXHIBIT A

Special Ordinance 2009-1316



EXHIBIT A

Special Ordinance 2009-1316



 

 

CITY OF MATTOON, ILLINOIS 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2009-5273 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE MATTOON CODE OF ORDINANCES TO 
UPDATE RULES AND REGULATIONS FOR THE OPERATION OF THE MATTOON 

ARTS COUNCIL 

 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Mattoon currently has ordinances that establish the rules and 
regulations for the Mattoon Arts Council; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City wishes to update those rules and regulations for the Mattoon Arts Council. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Mattoon as 
follows: 
 
Section 1.  Recitals.  The facts and statements contained in the preamble to this Ordinance are 
found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Ordinance. 
 
Section 2.  Amendments.  Section 33.065 of Chapter 33 of the Code of Ordinances of the City 
of Mattoon are hereby repealed. Section 33.065 of Chapter 33 is reenacted as follows: 

 

§ 33.065 MATTOON ARTS COUNCIL REGULATIONS. 
 
(A) Purpose. 
 

(1) Vision.  The Mattoon Arts Council envisions a vibrant, creative community where arts 
activities are frequent and evident, where members of the community have opportunities to 
experience and engage in the arts directly and where arts activities are appreciated as an asset for 
the community and economic development. 
 

(2) Mission. The Mattoon Arts Council supports, develops, facilitates and promotes high-
quality, affordable arts programs and activities for people of all ages. 
 

(3) Values. 
(a) Our work must be done in collaboration with others to make the most of our assets as 

a small community. 
(b) We define Art to include the widest possible interpretation of the language, visual and 

performing arts. 
(c) The presence of Arts intrinsically enhances a community’s quality of life 
(d) We especially value, seek out and support events that offer opportunities to educate. 



 

(e) Engagement in artistic activities stimulates community creativity and attracts people 
to a community in ways that have long term social and economic benefits. 

 
(B) Council Board of Directors. 
 

(1) General Powers. The affairs of the Mattoon Arts Council shall be managed by its Board 
of Directors 

 
(2) Membership. Directors of the Mattoon Arts Council are appointed by the Mayor of 

Mattoon with confirmation by the City Council, from the nominations of the Mattoon 
Arts Council Board of Directors. The Board will consist of 11 voting members, at least 6 
of whom shall be residents of the City of Mattoon. The City Administrator, the City 
Council member overseeing the Arts Council and the Tourism Director will serve as ex 
officio (non voting) members of the board. 

 
(3) Terms. Length of term is two (2) yrs. The terms of the board membership is staggered. 

Annual appointments by the Mattoon City Council take place in September. Directors are 
limited to three (3) terms. Past board directors may be re-appointed after one (1) yr. to 
new terms. Term limit can be waived one time in special circumstances by a 2/3 vote of 
the remaining board directors. 

 
(4) Compensation. No director of the Mattoon Arts Council shall be compensated for the 

performance of services for the Council, but may, by resolution of the Council, be 
reimbursed for expenses incurred on behalf of the Council. No part of net earnings or 
other assets of the Council shall inure to the benefit of, or be distributable to its members, 
directors or any private persons. 

 
(5) Responsibilities. Council Board directors are expected to be active in the management 

and activities of the Mattoon Arts Council. Council directors are expected to attend a 
minimum of 2/3 of all meetings, be actively involved on at least one committee and 
publicly support the arts and the Arts Council. 

 
(6) Resignation. Any Council Board director may resign by submitting a letter of resignation 

to the Chairman. 
 
(7) Removal. A Director who misses fifty percent (50%) of the meetings or three (3) 

consecutive meetings during a one (1) yr. period may be removed from the Board by the 
Chairman.  

 
(8) Vacancies. For any vacancy on the Council Board, the Board Chairman will make the 

appointment, with approval by the board and the Mattoon City Council. A Director 
appointed to fill a vacancy shall serve for the unexpired term of his/her predecessor. 

 
(9) Council Advisors. The Chairman may invite members of the community, to sit as 

council advisors, with the approval of the Council Board, to such terms as determined by 
the Council Board. Advisors will be welcomed to share knowledge and expertise that 



 

may assist Council Board in attaining the Mattoon Arts Council’s objectives. There shall 
be no fixed term or maximum number of council advisors. Council advisors shall not 
have voting privileges at Board meetings but may make recommendations to the Council 
Board. 

 
(C) Officers. 
 

(1) Officers. The officers of the Mattoon Arts Council shall be Chairman, Vice-Chairman, 
Secretary and Treasurer and other such officers as the board may direct. No two (2) 
offices may be held by the same person 

 
(2) Elections and Terms of Office. The officers shall be elected annually in October. The 

Governance Committee will be responsible for submitting a nomination list one month 
prior to the election. The officers shall hold an office for a one (1) year term. An officer 
may hold an office for two (2) terms. A director may return to an office after one (1) yr. 

 
(3) Removal. An officer elected or appointed by the Board of Directors may be removed by 

a 2/3 vote of the members of the Board of Directors. 
 
(4) Vacancies. A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation, removal, 

disqualification or otherwise, may be filled by the Board of Directors for the unexpired 
portion of the term. 

 
(5) Chairman. Shall preside at all meetings of the Mattoon Arts Council and shall have 

general supervision over all business, affairs and activities of the Mattoon Arts Council. 
The Chairman shall appoint all standing committees. 

 
(6) Vice Chairman. Shall preside in the absence of the Chairman. 
 
(7) Secretary. Shall be responsible for the usual duties including keeping minutes of all 

meetings, and other duties, from time to time, assigned by the Chairman. 
 
(8) Treasurer. Shall be responsible for the usual duties including maintaining all financial 

accounts and records and presenting a financial report at each Board Meeting, and other 
duties, from time to time, assigned by the Chairman. The Treasurer shall also be charged 
with working with the Mattoon City Treasurer to insure compliance with all fiscal rules 
of the City of Mattoon. 

 
(D) Meetings. 
 

(1) Regular meetings. Meetings shall be held monthly. Time and location will be 
determined by the Council Board.  

 
(2) Quorum. A quorum shall consist of a simple majority of voting Arts Council directors 

being in attendance at the meeting for the transaction of business. Routine business shall 
be transacted by a simple majority vote. If a quorum is present, the affirmative vote of a 



 

majority of those present at the meeting shall be the act of the Mattoon Arts Council. 
Each director of the Mattoon Arts Council is entitled to cast one vote. There shall be no 
proxy voting. Where possible, a Director may attend by telephone or web connection.  

 
(3) Notice. Notice of Board meetings shall be given at least five (5) days notice prior to the 

meeting. Each director shall receive notice by regular mail, phone or email. The notice 
shall include date, time and place of the meeting 

 
(4) Special Meeting. Special meetings of the directors may be called at any time by the 

Chairman, or by any three (3) directors. Notice of a special meeting of the Council Board 
shall be given five (5) days notice prior to the meeting.  

 
(5) Action Without a Meeting. When business requires, action may be taken without a 

meeting. All directors of the Council must be polled, either by e-mail, telephone or mail. 
A deadline for response must be conveyed. The nature of the action must be in writing. 
The action will have the same effect as a vote of the board at a regular meeting and will 
be included in the records of minutes of the Council 

 
(6) Rules of Order. Current Robert’s Rules of Order shall govern the Mattoon Arts Council 

when not inconsistent with the By-laws of the Mattoon Arts Council or any other special 
rules of order the Council may adopt. 

 
(7) Fiscal Year. The fiscal year shall begin on the first day of May and end on the last day of 

April. 
 
(E) Committees. The Mattoon Arts Council shall have the following Committees and such 
other committees as the council deems appropriate: 
 

(1) Governance / Nomination Committee. Create and oversee structured mechanisms and 
tools that ensure competent management and high quality operations, guided by the 
objectives of our strategic plan. Annually accept nominations and prepare a slate of 
officers for the Board of Directors. 

 
(2) Program / Event Committee. Provide compelling and coherent programming, 

competently offered, that provides value to our community and makes optimal use of our 
resources, guided by the objectives of our strategic plan. 

 
(3) Development Committee. Provide direction and action in the areas of promotion and 

advertising of the Mattoon Arts Council. Provide or create increased fundraising efforts, 
for both the short term and long term financial operations of the Arts Council, guided by 
the objectives of our strategic plan. 

 
(4) Venue Committee. Seek opportunities for various venue locations in the community to 

provide greater variety of programming. Build relationships with individuals and 
organizations for support and promotion of Arts opportunities in our community, guided 
by the objectives of our strategic plan. 



 

  
(F) Records and Reports. 
 

(1) Records. The Mattoon Arts Council shall maintain adequate and correct books, records 
and accounts on its operations. All such books, records and accounts shall be kept by the 
Secretary and/or Treasurer, and surrendered upon completion of their term of office. 
Accurate minutes shall be kept of the proceedings of the Board of Directors. A record of 
the names and addresses of each member of the Council shall be kept on file, and updated 
annually. Past records shall be kept permanently in files for future reference.  

 
(2) Reports. All books and accounts of the Mattoon Arts Council shall be open to inspection 

by the members of the Board of Directors and subject ot public inspection under the 
Illinois Freedom of Information Act. All committees are expected to give monthly reports 
of their activities or non active time. Any event needs to provide a written report to the 
secretary of details including income, expenses and attendance. The calendar year shall 
be used for annual reporting to The Mattoon City Council during the month of January. 

 
(G) Other. 
 

(1) Conflict of Interest. No director of the Mattoon Arts Council shall use their position, or 
knowledge gained there from, in such a manner that a conflict between the organization 
and their personal interests arise. Each Council director has a duty to place the interest of 
the Mattoon Arts Council foremost in dealings with the organization. If any Council 
director has a personal interest in business or activity proposed, they are expected to fully 
disclose such interest. Any director aware of a potential conflict should not be present for 
any discussion or vote in connection with the matter. Official minutes will reflect any 
abstaining votes. 

 
(2) Political Activism. The Mattoon Arts Council shall use neither its monies nor its name in 

furtherance of, nor engage in, in political activity in support of any candidate for public 
office or issue for referendum. This shall not be construed to limit the exercising of the 
constitutional rights of any individual director. 

 
(3) Non-Discrimination. The Mattoon Arts Council will not discriminate against people on 

the basis of race, color, sex, religion, income, national origin, age, disability, sexual 
orientation, political affiliation or any other legally protected characteristic in any of its 
policies, recommendations or actions. 

 
(4) Endowment. The Board of Directors shall have the power to accept gifts of money or 

securities from donors and to designate the gifts as an “Endowment Fund.” The Mattoon 
Arts Council shall spend only the income from the interest generated by said endowment 
fund. The Board of Directors shall designate the institution for the deposit of funds. 

 
Section 3. This ordinance shall be deemed published as of the day of its adoption and approval 
by the City Council.  
 



 

Section 4. This ordinance shall be effective upon its approval as provided by law. 
 
 
Upon motion by ______________________, seconded by ________________________, 
adopted this    day of    , 2009, by a roll call vote, as follows: 
 
 
AYES (Names):    __________________________________________ 
    __________________________________________ 
    __________________________________________ 
NAYS (Names):   __________________________________________ 
ABSENT (Names):  __________________________________________ 
 
Approved this    day of    , 2009. 
 
 

       
       David W. Cline, Mayor 
       City of Mattoon, Coles County, Illinois  
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
__________________________   _______________________________ 
Susan J. O’Brien, City Clerk                J. Preston Owen, City Attorney 
 
Recorded in the Municipality’s Records on _________________________, 2009. 



 

City of Mattoon 
Council Decision Report 

MEETING DATE:      01/20/2009    CDR NO: 2009-934    SUBJECT: 
Exec. Session Minutes & 
Verbatim Recordings 

SUBMITTAL DATE:  01/14/2009 
 
SUBMITTED BY: Susan J. O’Brien, City Clerk 
 
EXHIBITS (If applicable): To be distributed in Exec Session. 
            

EXPENDITURE   AMOUNT   CONTINGENCY FUNDING 
ESTIMATE:  N/A  BUDGETED:     N/A  REQUIRED:     N/A 

 
IF IT IS THE WISH OF THE COUNCIL TO SUPPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 
CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT, THE FOLLOWING MOTION IS SUGGESTED: 

 
 “I move to approve release of all Executive Session minutes from May 3, 1991 through December 31, 
2008, except for May 3, 16, 23, 1991; September 5, 2006; November 7, 2006; December 5, 19, 2006; 
January 15, 2008; February 19, 2008;; and to approve the destruction of Executive Session verbatim 
records that have been approved for release in written form as follows:  January 16, 2007; February 
20, 2007; May 15, 2007; June 5, 19, 2007.”  
 

SUMMARY OF THE TOPIC FOR WHICH A COUNCIL DECISION IS REQUESTED: 
 
Per 5 ILCS 120/2.06 (d) “Each public body shall periodically, but no less than semi-annually, meet to 
review minutes of all closed meetings.  At such meetings, a determination shall be made, and reported in 
an open session that (1) the need for confidentiality still exists as to all or part of those minutes or (2) that 
the minutes or portions thereof no longer require confidential treatment and are available for public 
inspection.” 
 
“(c) The verbatim record may be destroyed without notification to or the approval of a records 
commission or the State Archivist under the Local Records Act or the State Records Act no less than 18 
months after the completion of the meeting recorded but only after: (1) the public body approves the 
destruction of a particular recording; and (2) the public body approves minutes of the closed meeting that 
meet the written minutes requirements of subsection (a) of this Section.” 
 
The City Clerk has reviewed the confidential copies of minutes of closed meetings from the period May 
1, 1991 through December 31, 2008 with City Attorney & Treasurer Owen, who deemed that the 
abovementioned minutes could be considered available for public inspection.  
 
At its regular meeting of January 20, 2009, the Council will be asked to acknowledge the review of the 
minutes and exceptions, due to the opinion of the City Attorney that the executive session minutes of 
these closed meetings are determined to require confidential treatment, and to approve the destruction of 
verbatim records for applicable Executive Session meetings. 

 




